# Transcendental Thurston Theory and Dynamical Approximations

by

Malavika Mukundan

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Mathematics) in The University of Michigan 2024

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Sarah Koch, Chair Professor John Hamal Hubbard Professor Vilma Mesa Associate Professor Giulio Tiozzo Assistant Professor Jennifer Wilson Malavika Mukundan malavim@umich.edu ORCID iD: 0000-0003-4783-0231

© Malavika Mukundan 2024 All Rights Reserved To my Amma and Appa

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was partially supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. DMS-1928930.

I would like to thank my advisor Sarah Koch for her constant support and guidance throughout the years of my Ph.D., and for teaching me to be independent as a mathematician. She encouraged me to apply to the MSRI semester in complex dynamics in Spring 2022, which is where I met my future collaborators and began most of the work outlined in this thesis. It was a phenomenal experience which exposed me to a great deal of new math and made me excited to work in complex dynamics. I thank John Hubbard for his guidance, and his constant enthusiasm and interest in my work. He gave my very first problem to work on. I am grateful to Dierk Schleicher for his constructive feedback throughout the process of working on the projects outlined in this thesis, and for expanding my research horizon. My special thanks to Lasse Rempe and Giulio Tiozzo for all their insights and encouragement, and for their efforts in including me in their local mathematics communities. Moon Duchin has been an inspiration from whom I have learnt so much about navigating academia. Working in her MGGG Redistricting lab has been one of the best experiences of my life.

It has been a pleasure working with my collaborators Nikolai Prochorov and Bernhard Reinke, and I look forward to all our future interactions. I have greatly benefitted from mathematical and professional conversations with Kevin Pilgrim, Dylan Thurston, Núria Fagella, Eriko Hironaka, Dzmitry Dudko, Rohini Ramadas, David Martí-Pete, Rebecca Winarski, Caroline Davis, Alex Kapiamba, Schinella D'Souza, Daniel Stoll and several others, who created a warm and welcoming community. I have also received a lot of support from Richard Canary, Paul Kessenich, Vilma Mesa and Jennifer Wilson here in the math department at Michigan. I thank Vijay Ravikumar for kindling my interest in mathematics research during my undergraduate years. He gave me the support and encouragement I needed to apply to grad school and pursue a Ph.D.

I am grateful to my friends Anna Brosowsky, Shelby Cox, Karthik Ganapathy, Andy

Gordon, Sayantan Khan, Michael Mueller, Han Le, Swaraj Pande, Kashvi Srivastava, Sridhar Venkatesh, Chris Stith, Urshita Pal, Teresa Stokes and Srinivasan Arunachalam for all the happy memories through the last six years. This journey would not have been possible without them. I am fortunate in my two oldest friends, Srinivasan Govindan and Nithyasri Sridhar, for always being on my side and lending their shoulder. They have been my rocks throughout my life.

I am blessed in belonging to a large family. I want to thank my uncle and aunt, Sashi Desikan and Padma Sonti for all their help, especially integrating into life in the United States, my cousin H. E. Kavya for being my connection to my home-life in India, and my grandparents for being my constant sources of affection. Finally, I dedicate this thesis to my parents Sujatha Mukundan and P. S. Mukundan for the sacrifices they made for my growth and happiness, and for standing by me through everything, always.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ABSTRACT	xi
CHAPTER I: Introduction	1
I.1: Classical Thurston Theory	2
I.2: Thurston Theory on the plane	3
I.3: Main Results	4
I.3.1: Approximating Thurston pullback maps	4
I.3.2: Dynamical approximations of postsingularly finite entire functions	6
I.3.3: Case study: unicritical polynomials to exponential functions	8
I.4: Notations and Conventions	11
CHAPTER II: Background	12
II.1: Thurston maps	12
II.1.1: Topological holomorphicity	12
II.1.2: The type problem	12
II.1.3: The Speiser class $\mathcal{S}$	14
II.1.4: Properties of topologically holomorphic maps on $\mathbb{R}^2$	15
II.1.5: Postsingular finiteness	16
II.1.6: Combinatorial equivalence of Thurston maps	16

II.2: Conditions for holomorphic realizability	18
II.2.1: Teichmüller spaces modelled on a punctured sphere	19
II.2.2: Thurston pullback	21
II.3: Postsingularly finite maps in complex dynamics	23
II.3.1: The dynamics of unicritical PCF polynomials	23
II.3.2: Parameter spaces of unicritical polynomials	25
II.3.3: Dynamics of postsingularly finite exponential maps	27
II.4: Combinatorial theory	31
II.4.1: Combinatorics of unicritical PCF polynomials	31
II.4.2: Combinatorics of postsingularly finite exponentials	38
CHAPTER III: Convergence of Thurston Maps	42
III.1: Combinatorial convergence	42
III.2: Independence from isotopy	43
III.3: Topological convergence	46
III.4: Convergence of Thurston pullback maps	50
CHAPTER IV: Admissible Quadruples	55
IV.1: Rose graphs and quadruples	55
IV.2: Functions on $\mathbb{R}^2$ from quadruples	56
IV.3: Construction of combinatorial approximations of polynomial type	63
CHAPTER V: Dynamical Approximations	68
V.1: Properties of holomorphic covering maps	68
V.2: Convergence properties of entire maps in class $\mathcal{S}$	71
V.3: Dynamical approximations	74
CHAPTER VI: Persistence of Spiders	78
VI.1: Construction of $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$	78
VI.2: Monotonicity of $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$	81
VI.3: Jump <sub><math>n,j</math></sub> preserves spiders	84

CHAPTER VII: Combinatorial Embeddings in the Unicritic	al Family 87
VII.1: Image of $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$	87
VII.2: Definition for critically periodic parameters	
VII.3: Definition for critically pre-periodic parameters	
VII.4: Properties of $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}$	
CHAPTER VIII: Dynamical Approximations for Postsingula	arly Finite Ex-
ponentials by Unicriticals	
VIII.1: Construction of the maps $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$	
VIII.2: Construction of the angles $(\theta_n)$	
VIII.3: Proof of Theorem I.5	
CHAPTER IX: Future Scope	
IX.1: Obstructed Thurston maps	
IX.2: Approximating tree lifting operators	
APPENDIX A: Basic Topology	
A.1: Loops, paths and homeomorphisms	
A.2: Planar embedded graphs	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

### LIST OF FIGURES

1.1 Rose graph $\mathcal{R}$ (top) and its pre-image $\Gamma$ (bottom) for the PSF function $f(z) =$	
$\pi \cos(z)/2$ , where $P_f = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\pi/2, 0, \pi/2\}$	5
1.2 Example of a sequence graphs $\Gamma_n$ approximating $\Gamma$ in Figure 1.1 for the function	
$f(z) = \pi \cos(z)/2$ . Here the subgraph $K_n \subset \Gamma$ is the union of all directed	
paths in $\Gamma$ with $\leq 2n + 1$ edges starting and ending at the point $b$	6
1.3 $\mathcal{P}_{f,P_f}$ for $f(z) = \frac{\pi}{2} \cos z$ . Here, $-\frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\frac{\pi}{2}$ are the singular values	7
2.1 Examples of postsingular portraits	18
2.2 Some PCF parameters in $\mathcal{M}_2$ marked by a ' $\star$ ' symbol, along with their portraits	25
2.3 The non-escaping locus $\Lambda$ of the exponential family $\{p_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*\}$ ; here the white	
region represents $\mathbb{C}\backslash\Lambda$	28
2.4 Spiders in degree 2	37
2.5 The standard spider $\hat{S}_{\infty}(s)$ and the quotient $S_{\infty}(s)$ corresponding to the external	
address $\underline{s} = 000(-1)\overline{0010}$	39
3.1 Top: the co-domain of $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(\exp(z^2) - 1)$ along with its postsingular	
set $\{a_1, a_2, a_3\}$ ; Bottom: an illustration of D', where D is the shaded region	
bounded by the dotted loop	47
4.1 Admissible quadruple realized by $g_1(z) = \cos(z)$	59
4.2 Admissible quadruple realized by $g_2(z) = 2\exp(z^2) - 1$ .	60
4.3 Dynamically admissible quadruple realized by the PSF entire map $G_1(z) =$	
$\pi \cos(z)/2$ , where $P_{C_1} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\pi/2, 0, \pi/2\}, \dots, \dots, \dots, \dots$	62
4.4 Dynamically admissible quadruple realized by the PSF entire map $G_2(z) =$	
$\sqrt{\ln 2} (1 - \exp(z^2))$ where $P_C = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\sqrt{\ln 2}, 0, \sqrt{\ln 2}\}$	62
$\mathbf{v} = (1  \text{orp}(\mathbf{v} \ )), \text{ more } \mathbf{G}_2  (\mathbf{w}_1, \mathbf{w}_2, \mathbf{w}_3)  (\mathbf{v} = 1, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v} = 1).$	54

4.5 Constructing the directed edge $e_F$ . The diagram on the left represents the face	
F and the graph $K_n$ , and the diagram on the right demonstrates the newly	
added edge $e_F$ . Black dots and colored (solid and dashed) arcs represent the	
vertices and directed edges of $\Gamma$ , respectively. The solid blue arcs are edges of	
$K_n$ , while the dashed ones are in $\Gamma \setminus K_n$ .	64
4.6 Sequence of graphs that define polynomial Thurston maps converging combi-	
natorially to $G_2$ : ( $\mathbb{C}, P_G$ ) ( $\Sigma$ ) where $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(1 - \exp(z^2))$ and $P_G =$	
$\begin{cases} a_1, a_2, a_3 \\ -\sqrt{\ln 2}, 0, \sqrt{\ln 2} \end{cases}$ where $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(1 - \exp(z^2))$ and $T_{G_2} = \frac{1}{2}$	65
$\{u_1, u_2, u_3\} = \{v_1 \dots v_1, v_2, v_1, v_1, \dots, v_n\}$	00
4.7 Sequence of graphs that define transcendental function maps converging combinatorially to $C : (\mathbb{C}, \mathbb{P}) \to \mathbb{C}$ where $C(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2} (1 - \exp(z^2))$ and	
combinatorially to $G_2$ . $(\mathbb{C}, I_{G_2}) \odot$ , where $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(1 - \exp(z))$ and $D_2 = \sqrt{\ln 2}(1 - \exp(z))$	66
$P_{G_2} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\sqrt{\ln 2}, 0, \sqrt{\ln 2}\}, \dots, \dots, \dots, \dots, \dots, \dots, \dots, \dots, \dots$	00
4.8 Sequence of graphs that define polynomial Thurston maps converging combina-	
torially to $G_1: (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_1}) \mathfrak{S}$ , where $G_1(z) = \pi \cos(z)/2$ and $P_{G_1} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} =$	
$\{0, -\pi/2, \pi/2\}$	66
6.1 For $n = 2$ and $\theta \equiv \frac{1}{2} \pmod{1}$ , the two figures above illustrate the corresponding	
symbol shift functions. The bold solid lines correspond to angles in $O_2(\theta)$ .	
and the regular solid lines correspond to angles in $\mu^{-1}(\theta)$ . The dotted lines	
represent the angles $0^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Also note that $\theta$ is smaller than its companion angle	
<sup>2</sup> This comes into play in the definition of $u = at \frac{\theta+1}{2}$	70
$\overline{7}$ . This comes into play in the definition of $u_{2,1,\theta}$ at $\underline{-2}$	19
6.2 Symbol shift functions for $n = 2$ and $\theta \equiv \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)}$ (find 1)	80
6.3 The standard degree 3 spiders of $\text{Jump}_{n,0}(\theta)$ and $\text{Jump}_{n,1}(\theta)$ , for $n = 2$ and	
$\theta \equiv \frac{1}{2^3-1} \pmod{1}$ . The dotted rays indicate the position of the angles $0, \frac{1}{3}$ and	
$\frac{2}{3}$ . Compare with Figure 6.1	81
6.4 For $n = 2$ and $\theta \equiv \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$ , an illustration of the standard degree 3	
spiders of $\operatorname{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta)$ and $\operatorname{Jump}_{1,0}(\theta)$ . The dotted rays indicate the position	
of the angles $0, \frac{1}{3}$ and $\frac{2}{3}$ . Compare with Figure 6.2	82
7.1 Jump ( $\theta$ ) and Jump. ( $\theta'$ ) for the companion pair ( $\theta, \theta'$ ) – ( $\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{2}$ ) that land at	
the hyperbolic component containing the "rabbit" parameter $c \simeq -0.122561$	
the hyperbolic component containing the Tabbit parameter $c \approx -0.122501 + 0.744962$ ;	01
$7.2 \operatorname{Imp} \operatorname{grag} \operatorname{under} \operatorname{Iump}  \text{for the angles } 0 = \frac{17}{17} \pmod{1}  0 = \frac{19}{19} \pmod{1}$	91
7.2 Images under $\operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}$ for the angles $\theta_1 = \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}, \theta_2 = \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}, \theta_3 = \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}, \theta_4 = \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)} + 1$	
$\theta_3 \equiv \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$ and $\theta_4 \equiv \frac{1}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$ which land at $c \approx 0.36638 + 0.564525$	~~
$0.59152i \in \mathcal{P}_2. \dots \dots$	95
7.3 Images of a few parameters in $\mathcal{P}_2$ under $\mathcal{E}_{2,0}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{2,1}$ . Parameters in the top	
picture are mapped to those in the bottom row pictures with matching number	
labels	100

8.1 The standard spiders $\hat{S}_n(\theta_n(\underline{s}))$ for $n = 5, 6, 7, 8, 9$ , when $\underline{s}$ is set to $000(-1)\overline{0010}$ .	
The dotted lines indicate the additional legs in $S_n^{ext}(\theta_n(\underline{s}))$ . The leg labelled	
<i>m</i> corresponds to $\mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta_n(\underline{s}))$ . Compare with Figure 2.5	106
8.2 The star marks the position of $\lambda \approx 1.16302 + 0.71056i$ , the landing point of the	
parameter ray at address $000(-1)\overline{0010}$ in the exponential parameter plane,	
indicated in blue	110
8.3 Approximating parameters $(\lambda_n)$ for $\lambda \approx 1.16302 + 0.71056i$ , angular coordinates	
given by $000(n-1)\overline{0010}$ in base n. Compare with Figure 8.2	111

### ABSTRACT

A holomorphic map is said to be postsingularly finite (PSF) if it has finitely many singular values and every singular orbit is finite. If every singular value is a critical value, a postsingularly finite map is also called postcritically finite (PCF). As shown by Douady and Hubbard in their study of the Mandelbrot set, these maps are crucial in understanding the structure of parameter spaces, and can often be determined by a finite amount of combinatorial data. Thurston's theory considers a certain class of continuous maps with a finite postsingular set and asks when such a map is equivalent to a holomorphic PSF map. While this theory was initially introduced by William Thurston for topological analogs of rational maps on the sphere, the last few decades have seen a push to generalize this theory to topological analogs of entire maps on the plane, starting with the work of Hubbard, Schleicher and Shishikura on topological versions of exponential functions. In this thesis, we explore the relationship between finite and infinite degree Thurston theory, and use this relationship to establish dynamically meaningful approximations for PSF entire functions by PCF polynomials.

### CHAPTER I Introduction

For an entire function  $g : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ , a *critical* value of g is a point  $y \in \mathbb{C}$  for which exists a point  $x \in g^{-1}(y)$  such that g'(x) = 0; an *asymptotic* value is a point  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  for which there exists an arc  $\gamma : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{C}$  with the property that  $\gamma(t) \to \infty$  and  $g(\gamma(t)) \to a$  as  $t \to \infty$ . The critical values and asymptotic values of g are collectively called its *singular* values; they can be equivalently characterized as the points in  $\mathbb{C}$  where some branch of  $g^{-1}$  does not exist locally.

The structures of the Fatou, Julia and escaping sets of an entire function g are known to be highly dependent on the iterative behavior of the set of singular values  $S_g$  (see [Mil06], [Fat26], [EL89], [BKL91] and [Er9]). Generally, the dynamical behavior of entire functions is markedly different from that of polynomials. However, certain classes of entire maps show many similarities with polynomials in their dynamical behavior. One such class is the family of entire maps g with  $|S_g| < \infty$ , for which Sullivan's theorem on non-wandering domains holds. For general entire functions g, the relationship between the dynamical system  $g|S_g: S_g \longrightarrow S_g$ and the existence of Fatou components such as Baker and wandering domains, which are unique to the transcendental setting, has been studied in [BHK<sup>+</sup>93], [Bak63], [Bak76] and [Bak84].

Singular values also come into play in the study of parameter spaces. The complicated structure of the Mandelbrot set, for instance, can be explained using special maps that satisfy the property of *postsingular finiteness* (see [DH84], [Sch04]); an entire map g is said to be postsingularly finite (or PSF) if its postsingular set, defined as  $P_g = \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge 0} g^{\circ n}(S_g)}$ , is finite. If, as in the case of polynomials, there are no asymptotic values, a postsingularly finite map is also said to be *postcritically finite* (or PCF in short).

While it is hard to overstate the importance of PSF functions, a huge challenge in utilizing these is that they are hard to find: it is difficult to answer questions such as "what is a transcendental entire map g with a hundred singular values, with each singular value fixed under g?"

#### I.1: Classical Thurston Theory

One of the major breakthroughs in complex dynamics is William Thurston's program to construct postcritically finite rational maps on  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  with prescribed iterative behavior on their set of critical values, by starting with orientation-preserving branched covers of the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . For such a map f, we let  $S_f$  denote the set of critical values (which may now include the point at infinity), and define  $P_f$  as the closure of the union of singular orbits, as above. The function f is called a *Thurston map* if the set  $P_f$  is finite. Two Thurston maps f and g on  $\mathbb{S}^2$ are said to be *combinatorially equivalent* if there exist homeomorphisms  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{S}^2)$ which are isotopic rel.  $P_f$  such that the following diagram commutes:

$$(\mathbb{S}^{2}, P_{f}) \xrightarrow{\varphi_{1}} (\mathbb{S}^{2}, P_{g})$$
$$\downarrow^{f} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{g}$$
$$(\mathbb{S}^{2}, P_{f}) \xrightarrow{\varphi_{0}} (\mathbb{S}^{2}, P_{g})$$

If a Thurston map is combinatorially equivalent to a PCF rational map, then it is said to be *realized*. Otherwise, it is said to be *obstructed*. It is useful to think of realizability of a Thurston map as the existence of a holomorphic model for that map. The core of Thurston theory is a pathway to determine whether a given Thurston map is realized. However, it is known that the case  $|P_f| = 1$  does not occur, and if  $|P_f| = 2$ , then f is Thurston equivalent to  $z \mapsto z^{\deg f}$  (see [Hub16, Corollary 10.6.6]). Associated with every Thurston map f with  $|P_f| \ge 3$  is an operator called its *Thurston pullback map*, denoted  $\sigma_f$ , which acts on the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, P_f)$ . The realizability of f is equivalent to a condition on the dynamics of  $\sigma_f$ :

**Theorem I.1** (Thurston's theorem; [Hub16, Theorem 10.6.4]). A Thurston map f on  $\mathbb{S}^2$ with  $|P_f| \ge 3$  is combinatorially equivalent to a postcritically finite rational function if and only if the Thurston pullback map  $\sigma_f$  has a fixed point in  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, P_f)$ .

For a rational Thurston map f on the sphere with hyperbolic orbifold (see [Hub16, Definition 10.1.9]), Douady and Hubbard also proved Thurston's criterion, which gives an equivalent condition for f being obstructed. Somewhat surprisingly, this condition is purely topological: f is obstructed if and only if it does not have a certain invariant multicurve with special properties under iteration. In [HS94], Hubbard and Schleicher further studied the special case of unicritical polynomials, and provided an answer for the realizability problem in terms of an operator called the *spider* operator, which emulates the behavior of Thurston pullback but is distinct from the latter.

#### I.2: Thurston Theory on the plane

Thurston's program was first extended by Hubbard, Schleicher and Shishikura ([HSS09]) to a class of maps on the plane which were topological analogs of PSF exponentials. Following their work, there has been a drive to generalize Thurston's work even further, to topological analogs of general PSF entire maps.

Formally, a Thurston map on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is a continuous function  $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  which satisfies three properties: (1) at each point x in the domain, f locally "looks" like  $z \mapsto z^d$  for some  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  that depends only on x; (2) f is postsingularly finite; (3) f has *stable parabolic type*. Condition (3) is equivalent to the statement that for any complex structure (i.e., maximal holomorphic atlas)  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  such that  $(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathcal{A})$  has the conformal type of  $\mathbb{C}$ , the Riemann surface  $(\mathbb{R}^2, f^*\mathcal{A})$  obtained by pulling back  $\mathcal{A}$  also has the conformal type of  $\mathbb{C}$ . Under this formulation, for every orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\varphi: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$ , there exists an orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\psi: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  unique up to post-composition with an affine map, such that the function  $\varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1}: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  is entire. Thurston maps on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  can have finite or infinite degree: those of the former type are said to be *polynomial*, and the latter are referred to as *transcendental*. Note that polynomial Thurston maps can be thought of as Thurston maps on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  in the classical sense, which additionally satisfy the condition  $f^{-1}(\infty) = \{\infty\}$ .

As in classical Thurston theory, two Thurston maps f and g on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  are said to be combinatorially equivalent if there exist homeomorphisms  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  which are isotopic rel.  $P_f$ , such that  $\varphi_0(P_f) = \varphi_1(P_f) = P_g$ , and  $g = \varphi_0 \circ f \circ \varphi_1^{-1}$ . We say f is realized if it is combinatorially equivalent to a postsingularly finite entire function, and obstructed otherwise. For a Thurston map f on the plane, the Thurston pullbak operator  $\sigma_f$  is similarly defined, but in this setting it acts on the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, P_f \cup \{\infty\})$ . This operator  $\sigma_f$  has a fixed point if and only if f is Thurston equivalent to a PSF entire map.

By a theorem due to Berstein, Lei, Levy and Rees ([Hub16, Theorem 10.3.8]), a polynomial Thurston map is known to be realized if and only if it doesn't have a topological multicurve called a *Levy cycle*. Conditions for being obstructed are not fully understood for transcendental Thurston maps, outside of the case  $|S_f| = 1$  handled by Hubbard, Schleicher and Shishikura, where it was shown that f is realized if and only if it does not have a Levy cycle. Since then, it is conjectured that the Levy cycle criterion holds for larger spaces of transcendental Thurston maps. Presently, understanding equivalent conditions for being obstructed remains one of the most important open questions in complex dynamics. However, the striking similarities between the topological exponentials studied in [HSS09] and unicritical polynomial Thurston maps motivates the question of whether there is a more direct link between Thurston theory in the polynomial and transcendental regimes.

This thesis explores the relationship between Thurston theory in the polynomial and transcendental settings. Our driving force is the philosophy of *approximation*: we are interested in approximating transcendental Thurston maps and their pullback operators by corresponding polynomial objects. We will also present results that utilize this link between polynomial and transcendental Thurston theory to construct dynamically meaningful approximations for transcendental entire functions. Furthermore, in **Chapter IX**, we provide detail on possible future applications of our results in tackling the question of realizability for transcendental Thurston maps.

We summarize our results in the remainder of this chapter.

#### I.3: Main Results

#### I.3.1: Approximating Thurston pullback maps

This thesis studies ways to approximate a transcendental Thurston map by polynomial Thurston maps. Through Chapters III, IV and V, we present joint work with Nikolai Prochorov and Bernhard Reinke.

In Chapter III, we introduce two notions of convergence for a sequence of Thurston maps  $(f_n)$ .

Given a sequence of Thurston maps  $f_n : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and a Thurston map  $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ such that  $P_{f_n} = P_f = A$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the maps  $f_n$  are said to converge to f topologically if for every compact subset K of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $f_n | K$  coincides with f | K for all n sufficiently large. While this is seemingly a strict notion of convergence, it is equivalent in a certain sense to combinatorial convergence, which, loosely, only requires that loop-lifting under  $f_n$  eventually resemble loop-lifting under f.

More formally, for f and  $f_n$  as above, we say that  $f_n \to f$  combinatorially if there exists a point  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  and points  $b, b_n$  with  $f(b) = f_n(b_n) = t$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that the following condition is satisfied: for every loop  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  based at t, there exists  $N(\gamma) \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $n \ge N(\gamma)$ ,

- the lift of  $\gamma$  under f based at b, denoted  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$  (also see Definition A.3 ) is a loop if and only if  $\gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n)$  is a loop;
- if  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$  is a loop, then it is path-homotopic in  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  to  $\gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n)$ .

It is straightforward that topological convergence implies combinatorial convergence; we also show that if  $f_n \to f$  combinatorially, then there exists a sequence  $(\tilde{f}_n)$  of Thurston maps converging topologically to f such that  $\tilde{f}_n$  and  $f_n$  are *isotopic* rel. A (i.e.,  $\tilde{f}_n = f_n \circ \varphi_n$  for some  $\varphi_n \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$ ).

Combinatorial convergence of the sequence  $(f_n)$  implies controlled behavior of the sequence of pullback operators  $(\sigma_{f_n})$ .

**Theorem I.2** (Mukundan, Prochorov and Reinke; [MPR24, Main Theorem B]). Let  $f_n \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  be Thurston maps with  $P_f = P_{f_n} = A$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . If  $f_n \to f$  combinatorially, then  $\sigma_{f_n} \to \sigma_f$  locally uniformly on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ .

In **Chapter IV**, we describe a technique of constructing topological holomorphic maps using covering maps between regular planar graphs, and use it in Proposition IV.15 to construct, for a given Thurston map  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ , a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps converging combinatorially to f.



Figure 1.1: Rose graph  $\mathcal{R}$  (top) and its pre-image  $\Gamma$  (bottom) for the PSF function  $f(z) = \pi \cos(z)/2$ , where  $P_f = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\pi/2, 0, \pi/2\}$ .

We give a rough sketch of this construction here: we draw a rose graph  $\mathcal{R}$  based at a vertex  $t \notin \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  (see Figure 1.1 above), whose edges form a generating set for  $\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A, t)$ . The graphs  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\Gamma := f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  are both 2|A|-regular, and the restriction  $f|\Gamma : \Gamma \to \mathcal{R}$  is a covering map. For any exhaustion  $(K_n)$  of  $\Gamma$  by finite graphs, we construct a sequence of  $f_n : \Gamma_n \to \mathcal{R}$ , where  $\Gamma_n$  is a finite planar 2|A|-regular graph (see Figure 1.2) containing  $K_n$ . The covering  $f_n$  also coincides with f on  $K_n$ . To end, we show how to extend each  $f_n$  to a polynomial Thurston map with postsingular set A, so that the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges to f combinatorially. This discussion leads to the following result:

**Theorem I.3** (Mukundan, Prochorov and Reinke; Proposition IV.15, together with Theorem I.4). For any Thurston map  $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$  with  $P_f = A$ , there exists a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps  $f_n : \mathbb{R}^2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$  with  $P_{f_n} = A$  such that  $\sigma_{f_n} \to \sigma_f$  locally uniformly on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ .



Figure 1.2: Example of a sequence graphs  $\Gamma_n$  approximating  $\Gamma$  in Figure 1.1 for the function  $f(z) = \pi \cos(z)/2$ . Here the subgraph  $K_n \subset \Gamma$  is the union of all directed paths in  $\Gamma$  with  $\leq 2n + 1$  edges starting and ending at the point b.

The contraction properties of pullback maps and the local uniform convergence of  $\sigma_{f_n} \to \sigma_f$ imply that if f is realized, then  $f_n$  is realized for all n sufficiently large, and the fixed points of the  $\sigma_{f_n}$  converge to the fixed points of  $\sigma_f$  in Teichmüller space.

#### I.3.2: Dynamical approximations of postsingularly finite entire functions

Say f is an entire map that is realized as the local uniform limit on  $\mathbb{C}$  of a sequence of entire maps  $(f_n)$ . In a broad sense, the approximation  $f_n \to f$  is considered to be dynamically meaningful if there is some dynamical property of f that every map  $f_n$  also satisfies.

Several major results in transcendental dynamics have been derived using techniques generalized from polynomial dynamics, as well as by developing dynamically meaningful approximations by polynomials that preserve a prescribed property. Devaney, Goldberg and Hubbard illustrated a dynamical approximation for *escaping exponentials* (see [MSRIBDGH86]), and Kisaka ([Kis95]) provided sufficient conditions for the convergence of Julia sets of sequences of entire maps.

The question of whether any dynamical approximation by polynomials exists for a given entire map also has a meaningful formulation at the parameter level. Mihaljević-Brandt ([MB12]) studied the convergence of *non-escaping hyperbolic components* within spaces of entire functions, and the authors of [BDH<sup>+</sup>00] showed that hyperbolic components (and certain parameter rays) in the space of unicritical polynomials of the form  $z \mapsto \lambda(1 + \frac{z}{n})^n$ converge to hyperbolic components (resp. parameter *hairs*) of exponential functions of the form  $z \mapsto \lambda \exp(z)$ .

In this thesis, **Chapter V** is focussed on dynamically approximating postsingularly finite



Figure 1.3:  $\mathcal{P}_{f,P_f}$  for  $f(z) = \frac{\pi}{2} \cos z$ . Here,  $-\frac{\pi}{2}$  and  $\frac{\pi}{2}$  are the singular values.

entire maps by polynomials. Generally, for a Thurston map f, we define its postsingular portrait  $\mathcal{P}_{f,P_f}$  as a weighted graph with vertex set  $P_f$ , with an oriented edge from v to f(v)with weight  $\deg_f(v)$  for each  $v \in P_f$ . This graph is a visual representation of the dynamical system  $f|P_f : P_f \to P_f$  (see Figure 1.3). We say that two postsingular portraits  $\mathcal{P}_{f,P_f}$ and  $\mathcal{P}_{g,P_g}$  are dynamically isomorphic if there exists an isomorphism  $\varphi$  of weighted graphs from  $\mathcal{P}_{f,P_f}$  to  $\mathcal{P}_{g,P_g}$  such that  $\varphi$  maps  $S_f$  bijectively to  $S_g$ . Clearly, the existence of such an isomorphism implies that  $f|P_f$  is conjugate to  $g|P_g$ . It is also worthwhile noting that two Thurston maps that are combinatorial equivalent have dynamically isomorphic postsingular portraits.

We state our main result below.

**Theorem I.4** (Mukundan, Prochorov, Reinke; [MPR24, Main Theorem A]). Let g be a postsingularly finite entire map. Then there exists a sequence of postcritically finite polynomials  $(g_n)$  converging locally uniformly to g such that g and  $g_n$  have dynamically isomorphic postsingular portraits for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

For entire maps with finitely many singular values, the iterative behavior of the singular values controls the global dynamics ([Sch10]). In a broad sense, in the setting of Theorem I.4, the "dynamical cores" of the polynomials  $g_n$  look more and more like the "dynamical core" of the limiting map g as n tends to infinity. This supplies a contrast with Taylor approximations  $(h_n)$  for g, where it is possible that the number of critical values of  $h_n$  tends to infinity, resulting in the sets  $P_{h_n}$  having a structure very different from that of  $P_g$ .

The combinatorics of the PCF polynomials  $g_n$  from Main Theorem I.4 also approach the combinatorics of g in the following sense: let  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{C} \setminus P_g$  be a simple closed curve and  $\tilde{\gamma}$  be a connected component of  $g^{-1}(\gamma)$ . If  $\tilde{\gamma}$  is also a simple closed curve, then, as shown in Corollary V.6, for any sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$  and sufficiently large  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a unique simple closed curve  $\tilde{\gamma}_n \subset g_n^{-1}(\gamma)$  that lies in the  $\varepsilon$ -neighbourhood of  $\tilde{\gamma}$ . In particular, for all sufficiently large n, the curves  $\tilde{\gamma}_n$  and  $\tilde{\gamma}$  are free-homotopic relative to  $P_{g_n} \cup P_g$ and, moreover,  $\deg(g|\tilde{\gamma}) = \deg(g_n|\tilde{\gamma}_n)$ . If  $\tilde{\gamma}$  is not a simple closed curve, or in other words,  $\deg(g|\tilde{\gamma})$  is infinite, then for all sufficiently large n, there exists a unique simple closed curve  $\widetilde{\gamma}_n \subset g_n^{-1}(\gamma)$  such that  $d(z, \widetilde{\gamma}_n) \to 0$  for every  $z \in \widetilde{\gamma}$  and  $\deg(g_n | \widetilde{\gamma}_n) \to \infty$ . For a more detailed version see Corollary V.6.

Our strategy for proving Theorem I.4 is to first solve an approximation problem for  $\sigma_g$  on the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, P_g \cup \{\infty\})$ . Setting  $A = P_g$ , from Theorem I.3, we get a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps  $g_n : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  such that  $\sigma_{g_n} \to \sigma_g$ . Since g is realized, the maps  $g_n$  are eventually realized, and the fixed points  $\tau_n$  of  $\sigma_{g_n}$  converge to the fixed point  $\tau$ of  $\sigma_g$ . We then show that there exist representatives  $\psi_n, \varphi_n \in \tau_n$  such that the polynomials  $\varphi_n \circ g_n \circ \psi_n^{-1}$  are postcritically finite and converge to g locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C}$ .

#### I.3.3: Case study: unicritical polynomials to exponential functions

In Chapters VI, VII and VIII, we explore Thurston theory specifically for exponential maps and unicritical polynomials. We are mainly motivated by the classical approximation  $\lambda(1 + \frac{z}{n})^n \to \lambda \exp(z)$  for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  that has, in the past, helped us decode the dynamics of exponentials. We exhibit approximations for exponential PSF maps and their Thurston pullback operators by unicritical PCF polynomials and their corresponding Thurston pullback operators; these approximations, moreover, are meaningful at a parameter level.

We first describe in brief the parameter spaces of unicritical polynomials and exponential maps. This background material is also recalled in more detail in Chapter II. Fix a degree  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$ . Every unicritical polynomial is conjugate by affine maps to a polynomial of the form  $f_{n,c}(z) = z^n + c$ . For  $\lambda \in \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ , let  $p_{n,\lambda}(z) = \lambda(1 + \frac{z}{n})^n$ . For a unicritical polynomial  $f_{n,c}$  which is not critically fixed, there exists a unique  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  so that  $f_{n,c}$  is affine conjugate to  $p_{n,\lambda}$ . On the other hand, for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ , there are exactly (n-1) complex numbers c such that  $p_{n,\lambda}$ is affine conjugate to  $f_{n,c}(z) = z^n + c$ ; we call these values c the monic representatives for  $\lambda$ .

We note that  $S_{p_{n,\lambda}} = \{0\}$ , and that  $p_{n,\lambda}(0) = \lambda$ . If  $p_{n,\lambda}$  is postcritically finite, there are exactly two possibilities:

- 1. 0 is periodic under  $p_{n,\lambda}$  with period k (i.e., the postsingular portrait is a cyclic graph of length k)
- 2. 0 is pre-periodic under  $p_{n,\lambda}$ , with pre-period  $\ell \ge 1$  and eventual period  $k \ge 1$  (in this case, the cyclic graph is chain of length  $\ell$  attached to a cycle of length k).

Let  $\mathcal{P}_n$  denote the set of  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  such that the unicritical polynomial  $p_{n,\lambda}$  is postcritically finite. Every  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$  is associated with a finite set of angles  $\Theta_n(\lambda) \subset \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , such that the parameter ray at each angle in this set, which lives in the space  $\{f_{n,c} : c \in \mathbb{C}\}$ , lands at some monic representative c for  $\lambda$  if  $\lambda$  is critically pre-periodic, or on a hyperbolic component containing a monic representative c if  $\lambda$  is periodic. We call this set  $\Theta_n(\lambda)$  the set of angular coordinates for  $\lambda$ . Similarly, for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ , we let  $p_{\lambda}(z) = \lambda \exp(z)$  and denote by  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{C}^*$  the set of  $\lambda$  values for which the orbit under  $p_{\lambda}$  of the set  $S_{p_{\lambda}} = \{0\}$  is bounded. Let  $\mathcal{P} \subset \Lambda$  be the subset of postsingularly finite parameters. We observe that for any  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}$ , the singular value 0 is strictly pre-periodic under  $p_{\lambda}$ , and thus the postsingular portrait of  $p_{\lambda}$  looks like that in case (2) above.

As for the unicriticals, every  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}$  is associated with a finite set of sequences  $\Theta_{\infty}(\lambda) \subset \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$ called *external addresses*. In broader generality, an external address  $\underline{s}$  is an element of  $\mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$ , and for a subset of  $\mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$  consisting of *exponentially bounded* addresses, each address corresponds to a simple arc, called a *parameter hair*, contained in the complement of  $\Lambda$ . For any  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}$ , the set  $\Theta_{\infty}(\lambda)$  consists of all external addresses whose corresponding hairs have  $\lambda$  as a limiting value; in other words, these are exactly the hairs that land at  $\lambda$ .

To summarize, angles and external addresses are combinatorial representations of the location of postsingularly finite parameters in the spaces  $\mathcal{P}_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$  and the space  $\mathcal{P}$ . There is a further analogy between them: for fixed degree n, we can think of angles in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  in terms of their n-adic expansions, which are sequences in  $\{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$ 

Our main result is the following theorem, proved in Chapter VIII:

**Theorem I.5** ([Muk23, Theorem A]). Given  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}$ , there exists an  $N = N(\lambda) \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$  and a sequence of complex numbers  $\lambda_n \in \mathcal{P}_n$ ,  $n \geq N$  such that

- 1. the sequence  $(p_{n,\lambda_n})$  converges to  $p_{\lambda}$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C}$ , and for all  $n \ge N$ , the postsingular portrait of  $p_{n,\lambda_n}$  is dynamically isomorphic to the postsingular portrait of  $p_{\lambda_i}$ ;
- 2. there exists a polynomial  $Q \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$  and integers  $\ell, k \ge 1$  with  $\deg Q \le \ell + k 2$ depending only on  $\lambda$ , and a sequence of angles  $\theta_n \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}, n \ge N$ , such that  $\theta_n \in \Theta_n(\lambda_n)$ and  $(n-1)\theta_n \equiv \frac{(n-1)Q(n)}{n^{\ell}(n^{k}-1)} \pmod{1}$ , for all  $n \ge N$ .

The second condition above essentially shows that the *n*-adic expansions of  $\lambda$  exhibit a stability condition as  $n \to \infty$ . We show in Proposition VIII.4 that the *n*-adic expansions of the  $\theta_n$  above converge in a combinatorial sense to an external address of  $\lambda$ .

Theorem I.5 is a refinement of Theorem I.4 for the special case of exponentials.

Our approach will rely on building a combinatorial relationship between the sets  $\mathcal{P}_n$  and the set  $\mathcal{P}$ . The polynomials in  $\mathcal{P}_n$  can be completely classified by the combinatorial data contained in their *spiders* (see for example [DH84], [HS94], [BFH92]). We recall that a spider for a unicritical polynomial is the finite forward orbit of some dynamical ray landing at its critical value. Hubbard and Schleicher introduced the approach of using spiders to build topological models for unicritical polynomials (see [HS94]). They constructed, for each angle  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , an abstract graph  $S_2(\theta) \subset \mathbb{S}^2$  called the *degree n spider* of  $\theta$ , and a polynomial Thurston map  $\mathcal{F}_{2,\theta} : \mathbb{S}^2 \to \mathbb{S}^2$  which leaves  $S_2(\theta)$  invariant. The map  $\mathcal{F}_{2,\theta}$  is shown to be combinatorially equivalent to  $p_{n,\lambda}$ , where  $\lambda$  is the unique parameter in  $\mathcal{P}_n$  such that  $\theta \in \Theta_2(\lambda)$ . Their theory generalises to all degrees  $n \ge 2$ .

The authors of [LSV08] developed a similar approach for exponentials: for every preperiodic external address  $\underline{s}$ , there exists a finite graph  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  and a Thurston map  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ such that  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  is invariant under  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$ , and  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$  is Thurston equivalent to  $p_{\lambda}$  where  $\lambda$  is the landing point of the parameter ray at address  $\underline{s}$ .

We show in **Chapter VI** that spiders in one degree are realized in the next:

**Theorem I.6** ([Muk23, Lemma 1.1]). For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$ , there exist distinct maps  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$ :  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $j = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, n-1$  such that for each j,

- 1. considering  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  as a subset of [0, 1),  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  is strictly increasing;
- 2. for every  $\theta \in \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta)$ , the spiders  $S_n(\theta)$  and  $S_{n+1}(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta))$  are congruent.

The congruency condition above means that the spiders have the same circular order of edges, or 'legs', at infinity. The maps  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  additionally preserve *landing relations* between angles in  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ : if two angles  $\theta_1, \theta_2$  correspond to parameter rays to  $\mathcal{M}_n$  that land at the same point, then  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta_1)$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta_2)$  land at the same point in  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}$ .

In **Chapter VII**, we promote this realization of spiders from one degree to the next, into an embedding of  $\mathcal{P}_n$  into  $\mathcal{P}_{n+1}$ . First we define a poset structure on  $\mathcal{P}_n$ , defining  $\lambda \triangleleft \hat{\lambda}$  if there exist  $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in \Theta_n(\lambda)$  and  $\theta \in \Theta_n(\hat{\lambda})$  such that the parameter rays  $R_n(\theta_1)$  and  $R_n(\theta_2)$ land together, and  $\theta_1 < \theta < \theta_2$ . We call a map from  $X \subset \mathcal{P}_n$  to  $Y \subset \mathcal{P}_{n'}$  a combinatorial embedding if it preserves the poset order defined above, and preserves postsingular portraits.

**Theorem I.7** ([Muk23, Lemma 1.2]). For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$ , there exist distinct combinatorial embeddings  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j} : \mathcal{P}_n \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_{n+1}$ , for  $j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$ .

For a fixed  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}$ , using Theorems I.6 and I.7, we show that for any external address  $\underline{s}$  of  $\lambda$ , there exist a sequence of angles  $(\theta_n)$  whose degree n spiders are congruent to the spider corresponding to  $\underline{s}$ , and which satisfy the growth condition (3) of Theorem I.5. We then construct a topological approximation of  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$  by polynomial Thurston maps  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  such that for n large enough,  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$  is combinatorially equivalent to  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta_n}$ . We realize the  $\lambda_n$  required in Theorem I.5 as landing points in degree n of the angle  $\theta_n$ .

#### **I.4:** Notations and Conventions

- The cardinality of a set X is denoted by |X| and the identity map on X by  $id_X$ . We denote by  $(x_n)$  a sequence of elements  $x_n \in X$ . If  $f: X \to Y$  is a map and  $U \subset X$ , then f|U stands for the restriction of f to U.
- We denote by  $\mathbb{N}$ ,  $\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\mathbb{C}$ , respectively the sets of positive integers, integers, real and complex numbers. When  $X = \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\mathbb{Z}$  or  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $k \in X$ , the notation  $X_{\geq k}$  will be used for the set of elements  $\{x : x \in X \text{ and } x \geq k\}$ . We can similarly define  $X_{\leq k}$ . We also let  $\mathbb{I} = [0, 1]$ . By  $(x_n)$ , we denote a sequence  $x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n, \dots$  indexed by the set  $\mathbb{N}$ .
- If X is a topological space and  $U \subset X$ , then  $\overline{U}$  denotes the closure, int(U) the interior, and  $\partial U$  the boundary of U in X.
- We denote the 2-dimensional plane by R<sup>2</sup>. We identify the 2-sphere S<sup>2</sup> with the one-point compactification R<sup>2</sup> ∪ {∞} of the plane. The complex plane C is then the sphere S<sup>2</sup> endowed with the standard complex structure. When we are working with C purely as a topological surface, we will often conflate it with the topological plane R<sup>2</sup>. In the complex plane, we let D := {z ∈ C : |z| < 1}, D\* := D \{0}, H := {z ∈ C : Re(z) < 0}. The open disk of radius r > 0 centered at z<sub>0</sub> ∈ C is denoted by D(z<sub>0</sub>, r) := {z ∈ C : |z z<sub>0</sub>| < r}, and, for simplicity, D<sub>r</sub> is the disk of radius r centered at 0. We denote by Ĉ the Riemann sphere C ∪ {∞}.
- When we refer to a map between  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\mathbb{C}$ , we think of  $\mathbb{C}$  as a Riemann surface and  $\mathbb{R}^2$ as a topological surface. When working with holomorphic maps, we will rarely refer to them as maps on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ ; these will be notated as maps on  $\mathbb{C}$ . For a sequence of entire maps  $f_n$  that converge to the identity, we say  $f_n \to \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . If these maps are not holomorphic, we write  $f_n \to \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  instead.

# CHAPTER II Background

#### II.1: Thurston maps

Thurston maps are topological analogs of postsingularly finite entire functions. In this section we introduce the background required to define these maps and explore their basic properties. For the notation used for various topological objects in this thesis, refer to Appendix A.

#### **II.1.1:** Topological holomorphicity

Let X, Y be oriented topological surfaces and  $f: X \to Y$  be continuous.

**Definition II.1.** The map f is said to be *topologically holomorphic* if it is open, has discrete fibers, and satisfies the property that for every point  $x \in X$  where f is locally injective, it is locally an orientation-preserving homeomorphism. We denote by  $\mathcal{C}_{hol}(X,Y)$  the set of holomorphic maps from X to Y.

An equivalent set of conditions for topological holomorphicity of f is that for every  $x \in X$ , there exists a neighborhood U of x, orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbb{D}$  and  $\psi \colon f(U) \to \mathbb{D}$ , and  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\varphi(x) = \psi(f(x)) = 0$  and  $\psi \circ (f|U) \circ \varphi^{-1}(z) = z^d$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ ; for a proof, see [Sto28] or [Sto56].

If  $X = Y = \mathbb{R}^2$ , the map f is called a *topological polynomial* if it has finite degree, and *transcendental* otherwise.

#### II.1.2: The type problem

Let X and Y be oriented topological surfaces. We refer to a maximal holomorphic atlas on X as a *complex structure*, and denote by  $\mathcal{A}(X)$  the set of all complex structures on X.

If  $X = \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}(X)$ , then the Riemann surface  $(X, \mathcal{A})$  is conformally equivalent to either  $\mathbb{C}$  or  $\mathbb{D}$ . In the former case, we say  $\mathcal{A}$  is a *flat* structure; in the latter, we call it a *hyperbolic* structure. The partition  $\mathcal{A}(X) = \mathcal{A}_{flat}(X) \cup \mathcal{A}_{hyp}(X)$  decomposes  $\mathcal{A}(X)$  into flat and hyperbolic complex structures. It is known that we can pull back complex structures under topologically holomorphic maps (see [LP20, Stoïlow's factorisation theorem] and [BM17, Lemma A.12]) as the following proposition states.

**Proposition II.2.** Let  $f \in C_{hol}(X, Y)$ . For every  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}(Y)$ , there exists a unique structure  $f^*\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}(X)$ , such that the map  $f : (X, f^*\mathcal{A}) \to (Y, \mathcal{A})$  is holomorphic.

This implies that for any orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\varphi : Y \longrightarrow S_Y$ , where  $S_Y$  is a Riemann surface, there exists a Riemann surface  $S_X$  and an orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\psi : X \longrightarrow S_X$  such that the function  $\varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1} \colon S_X \to S_Y$  is holomorphic.

Now assume  $X = Y = \mathbb{R}^2$ , and let  $f \in \mathcal{C}_{hol}(X, Y)$ . It is clear that if  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}_{hyp}(Y)$  and f is non-constant, then  $f^*\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}_{hyp}(X)$ . However, if  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}_{flat}(Y)$ , it is possible for  $f^*\mathcal{A}$  to be either flat or hyperbolic. This ambiguity in the comformal type of  $f^*\mathcal{A}$  is called the *type problem*, and was first posed by Speiser in [Spe29]. This problem is hard to solve and a general solution is still unknown; however, special cases have been resolved in [Ahl35], [PeiwsS26] and [Rob39].

The map f is said to have stable conformal type if the conformal equivalence class of  $(f^*\mathcal{A}, X)$  is constant over all  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}_{flat}(Y)$ . In this case, the conformal type of f is said to be *parabolic* if  $(f^*\mathcal{A}, X) \cong \mathbb{C}$  for every  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}_{flat}(Y)$ , and hyperbolic otherwise. Later on in this section we will explore a class of maps for which the conformal type is stable.

#### Quasiconformality

Let  $U \subset \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  be a simply connected domain. An orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\varphi \colon U \to f(U) \subset \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  is *K*-quasiconformal for  $K \ge 1$  if for every annulus  $V \subset U$  of finite modulus, we have

 $\operatorname{mod}(V)/K \leq \operatorname{mod}(\varphi(V)) \leq K \operatorname{mod}(V),$ 

where  $\operatorname{mod}(V)$  and  $\operatorname{mod}(\varphi(V))$  are the moduli of the annuli V and  $\varphi(V)$  respectively. The infimum of all values K such that  $\varphi$  is K-quasiconformal is called the *dilatation* of  $\varphi$ , and is denoted by  $K(\varphi)$  (in particular,  $\varphi$  is  $K(\varphi)$ -quasiconformal). For further properties and equivalent definitions of quasiconformal maps, see [Ahl06], [Hub06], or [BF14].

Here we list some properties of quasiconformal maps used in this thesis.

**Theorem II.3** (Weyl's Lemma; [BF14, Theorem 1.14]). If  $\varphi : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  is 1-quasiconformal, then  $\varphi$  is conformal.

**Theorem II.4** ([BF14, Theorem 1.26]). The set of K-quasiconformal homeomorphisms  $\varphi : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  fixing three points  $\{a, b, c\}$  is compact in the topology of uniform convergence on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{a, b, c\}$ .

**Proposition II.5.** Let  $\varphi_n : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}, n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of  $K_n$ -quasiconformal maps fixing three distinct points  $a, b, c \in \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ . Suppose that  $K_n \to 1$  as  $n \to \infty$ , then the sequence  $(\varphi_n)$  converges to  $\mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$  uniformly on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{a, b, c\}$ .

Proof. Let us consider an arbitrary subsequence  $(\varphi_{n_k})$  of  $(\varphi_n)$ . Theorem II.4 implies that from  $(\varphi_{n_k})$ , we can extract a further subsequence converging to a quasiconformal limit  $\varphi \colon \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  uniformly on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{a, b, c\}$ . Moreover, from the same theorem, it is evident that  $K(\varphi)$  equals 1. Theorem II.3 implies that  $\varphi$  is holomorphic. Since it also fixes three distinct points of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ , it coincides with  $\mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$ .

As the above argument applies to any arbitrary subsequence of  $(\varphi_n)$ , we conclude that  $(\varphi_n)$  converges uniformly on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{a, b, c\}$  to  $\mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$ .

#### II.1.3: The Speiser class S

Fix oriented surfaces X and Y, and let  $f \in \mathcal{C}_{hol}(X, Y)$ . Given a point  $y \in Y$ ,

- y is a regular value for f if there exists a neighborhood V of y such that for every connected component U of  $f^{-1}(V)$ , f|U is a homeomorphism onto V;
- y is a singular value for f otherwise.

we denote by  $S_f$  the set of singular values of f. It is important to observe that every  $y \in S_f$ , the map f is branched at y. By definition of regular values, it is clear that the map  $f|X \setminus f^{-1}(S_f) \colon X \setminus f^{-1}(S_f) \to Y \setminus S_f$  is a covering.

Let  $X = Y = \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $f \in \mathcal{C}_{hol}(X, Y)$ . If  $S_f$  is finite, the map f is said to be of *finite type*. The set of topologically holomorphic maps on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  that are of finite type is called the *Speiser class*, and denoted  $\mathcal{S}$ . It is known that maps in class  $\mathcal{S}$  have stable conformal type (see [Tei20a], [Tei20b], [Ere04, pp3-4]). In other words, for all  $f \in \mathcal{S}$ , the set  $f^*(\mathcal{A}_{flat}(\mathbb{R}^2)) \subset \mathcal{A}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  is fully contained in either  $\mathcal{A}_{flat}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  or  $\mathcal{A}_{hyp}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . Also note that if f is of finite degree, then f belongs to class  $\mathcal{S}$  and also has stable parabolic type.

For the rest of Section II.1, we assume  $X = Y = \mathbb{R}^2$  and that  $f \in S$ . In this case we have a classification of singular values; for every  $y \in S_f$ , at least one the following is true:

- y is a *critical* value for f; in other words, there exists a point  $x \in f^{-1}(y)$  where f is not locally injective;
- y is an asymptotic value; or equivalently, there exists an arc  $\gamma: [0, \infty) \to X$  that leaves every compact set of X as  $t \to \infty$ , and satisfies  $\lim_{t\to\infty} f(\gamma(t)) = y$ .

Analogous to [ERG15, Proposition 2.3] and proven in a similar way, we have the following isotopy lifting property applicable to maps in S.

**Proposition II.6.** Let  $\hat{f} \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  be a topologically holomorphic map in class S, with  $\varphi_0 \circ f = \hat{f} \circ \psi_0$  for some  $\varphi_0, \psi_0 \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$ .

Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a finite set containing  $S_f$ , and  $\varphi_1 \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  be isotopic rel. A to  $\varphi_0$ . Then  $\varphi_1 \circ f = \hat{f} \circ \psi_1$  for some  $\psi_1 \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  isotopic to  $\psi_0$  rel.  $f^{-1}(A)$ .

#### II.1.4: Properties of topologically holomorphic maps on $\mathbb{R}^2$

For the next two propositions, assume that f has stable parabolic type.

**Proposition II.7.** Let  $V \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded simply connected domain, and U be a connected component of  $f^{-1}(V)$ .

- 1. If  $V \cap S_f = \{y\}$ , then U is simply connected, and exactly one of the following statements is true:
  - (a) there exist orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbb{D}$  and  $\psi \colon V \to \mathbb{D}$  and an integer  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\psi(y) = 0$  and  $\psi \circ (f|U) \circ \varphi^{-1}(z) = z^d$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ . In particular,  $U \setminus f^{-1}(y)$  is an annulus and  $f|(U \setminus f^{-1}(y)) \colon U \setminus f^{-1}(y) \to V \setminus \{y\}$  is a covering map of degree d. Additionally, if  $\partial V \cap S_f = \emptyset$ , then U is bounded;
  - (b) there exist orientation-preserving homeomorphisms φ: U → D and ψ: V → H such that ψ(y) = 0 and ψ ∘ (f|U) ∘ φ<sup>-1</sup>(z) = exp(z) for all z ∈ H. In particular, U is unbounded, and the map f|U: U → V\{y} is a universal covering.
- 2. Else if  $V \cap S_f = \emptyset$ , then U is simply connected and  $f|U: U \to V$  is an orientationpreserving homeomorphism. Additionally, if  $\partial V \cap S_f = \emptyset$ , then U is bounded.

*Proof.* When f is an entire function, the same statement can be found, for example, in [For91, Theorem 5.10, 5.11].

For the general case, let  $h : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  be an orientation-preserving homeomorphism, and  $\mathcal{A}_0$  be the standard complex structure on  $\mathbb{C}$ . Then  $f^*h^*\mathcal{A}_0$  is a flat structure. Let  $\hat{h} : (\mathbb{R}^2, \mathcal{A}_0) \to \mathbb{C}$  be a biholomorphism. Then the map  $g = h \circ f \circ \hat{h}^{-1}$  is entire, and the proposition follows easily.

**Proposition II.8.** Let V be an unbounded simply connected domain, and U be a connected component of  $f^{-1}(V)$ . If  $V \cap S_f = \emptyset$ , then U is an unbounded simply connected domain, and  $f|U: U \to V$  is an orientation-preserving homeomorphism. If  $V = \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus W$ , where W is a compact simply connected set containing  $S_f$ , then U is unbounded, and exactly one of the following is true:

- 1. if f is a topological polynomial of degree d, then there exist orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbb{D}^*$  and  $\psi \colon V \to \mathbb{D}^*$  such that  $\psi \circ (f|U) \circ \varphi^{-1}(z) = z^d$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}^*$ . In particular, U is an annulus,  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus U$  is compact, and  $f|U \colon U \to V$  is a covering map of degree d;
- 2. if f is transcendental, then there exist orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbb{D}^*$  and  $\psi \colon V \to \mathbb{H}$  such that  $\psi \circ (f|V) \circ \varphi^{-1}(z) = \exp(z)$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{H}$ . In particular,  $f|U \colon U \to V$  is a universal covering map.

*Proof.* The proof is similar to that of Proposition II.7.

#### **II.1.5:** Postsingular finiteness

Fix a map  $f \in \mathcal{C}_{hol}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ .

**Definition II.9.** The map f is said to be *postsingularly finite* (PSF) if its postsingular set, defined as

$$P_f = \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge 0} f^{\circ n}(S_f)} \; ,$$

is finite. If all singular values are critical values, then a PSF map is also said to be postcritically finite (PCF).

It is immediate from this definition that postsingularly finite maps are contained in class S.

**Definition II.10.** The map f is said to be a *Thurston map* if it is postsingularly finite and has stable parabolic type.

We use the notation  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  for a Thurston map f with a marked finite set A, with  $f(A) \subset A$  and  $P_f \subseteq A$ . If no information about A is given, or no marked set is specified, we assume that  $A = P_f$ . Some natural examples of Thurston maps are PCF polynomials and PSF entire functions.

#### **II.1.6:** Combinatorial equivalence of Thurston maps

**Definition II.11.** We say that two Thurston maps  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $\hat{f}: (\mathbb{R}^2, B) \mathfrak{S}$  are combinatorially equivalent, and write  $f \simeq_{\text{comb}} \hat{f}$ , if there exist homeomorphisms  $\varphi, \psi \in$  Homeo<sup>+</sup>( $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) such that  $\varphi(A) = \psi(A) = B$ ,  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  are isotopic rel. A, and  $\varphi \circ f = \hat{f} \circ \psi$ .

**Definition II.12.** A Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{t}$  is said to be *realized* if it is combinatorially equivalent to a PSF entire map g. If f is not realized, we say that it is *obstructed*.

**Definition II.13.** Two Thurston maps  $f_1: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $f_2: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  are called *isotopic* (rel. A) if there exists  $\varphi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  such that  $f_1 = f_2 \circ \varphi$ .

We recall from Appendix A that for an oriented topological surface X, we take Homeo<sup>+</sup>(X, A) to be the set of orientation-preserving homeomorphisms that fix the set A pointwise (this is different from the usual notation in the literature), and Homeo<sup>+</sup><sub>0</sub>(X, A) is the subset of maps in Homeo<sup>+</sup>(X, A) that are isotopic to  $id_X$  rel. A. The following proposition classifies topologically holomorphic maps with a unique singular value, as well as Thurston maps with a unique postsingular value.

**Proposition II.14.** Suppose that  $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  is a topologically holomorphic map such that  $|S_f| = 1$ . Then  $f = \varphi^{-1} \circ g \circ \psi$ , for some orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi, \psi: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  and a unique  $g \in \{z \mapsto z^d | d \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}\} \cup \{z \mapsto \exp(z)\}.$ 

If  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  is a Thurston map with |A| = 1, then f is combinatorially equivalent to  $z \mapsto z^d$  for some degree  $d \ge 2$ . In particular, A consists of a unique fixed critical point of f.

*Proof.* The first part essentially follows from Proposition II.8.

Suppose now that  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  is a Thurston map with |A| = 1. Thus, f has a fixed singular value, so it cannot be of the form  $\varphi^{-1} \circ \exp \circ \psi$  for any orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $\psi: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$ . Therefore,  $\varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1}(z) = z^d$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and  $d = \deg(f)$ , where  $A = \{\varphi(0)\} = \{\psi(0)\}$ . In particular,  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  are isotopic rel. A, and f is combinatorially equivalent to  $z \mapsto z^d$ .

The dynamics of a Thurston map on its marked set can also be represented visually.

**Definition II.15.** Let  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a Thurston map with some marked set A. The marked portrait (rel. A) of f is a weighted directed abstract graph  $\mathcal{P}_{f,A}$  such that the vertex set of  $\mathcal{P}_{f,A}$  equals A, and for each vertex  $v \in A$  there exists a unique directed edge from v to f(v) with weight deg(f, v). Additionally, among all vertices of  $\mathcal{P}_{f,A}$ , we label the ones that are singular values of f.

If  $A = P_f$ , then, for simplicity, we denote by  $\mathcal{P}_f$  the marked portrait rel.  $P_f$  of f and call it the *postsingular portrait* of f.

Let  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $\hat{f}: (\mathbb{R}^2, B) \mathfrak{S}$  be Thurston maps. We say that the postsingular portraits  $\mathcal{P}_f$  and  $\mathcal{P}_{\hat{f}}$  are *dynamically isomorphic* if there exists a bijective map  $\varphi: A \to B$ such that

•  $\varphi(S_f) = S_{\widehat{f}},$ 



Figure 2.1: Examples of postsingular portraits

•  $\varphi$  is an *isomorphism* between the weighted directed abstract graphs  $\mathcal{P}_f$  and  $\mathcal{P}_{\hat{f}}$ . In other words, there exists an edge  $e_{u,v}$  of  $\mathcal{P}_f$  joining u with v if and only if there exists an edge  $\hat{e}_{\varphi(u),\varphi(v)}$  of  $\mathcal{P}_{\hat{f}}$  joining  $\varphi(u)$  with  $\varphi(v)$ . The weights of  $e_{u,v}$  and  $\hat{e}_{\varphi(u),\varphi(v)}$  coincide.

If two Thurston maps  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $\hat{f}: (\mathbb{R}^2, B) \mathfrak{S}$  have dynamically isomorphic postsingular portraits, then it is clear that f|A and  $\hat{f}|B$  are conjugate dynamical systems. Combinatorial equivalence of f and  $\hat{f}$  is a sufficient condition for them to have dynamically isomorphic portraits.

**Example II.16.** Given below are two postsingularly finite entire maps that we will use as prototypical examples throughout this thesis.

- 1. The map  $G_1(z) = \pi \cos(z)/2$  has no asymptotic values and two critical values  $\pm \pi/2$ , with  $P_{G_1} = \{0, -\pi/2, \pi/2\};$
- 2. The map  $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(1 \exp(z^2))$  has a unique critical value 0 and a unique asymptotic value  $\sqrt{\ln 2}$ , with  $P_{G_2} = \{0, -\sqrt{\ln 2}, \sqrt{\ln 2}\}$ .

Figure 2.1 illustrates  $\mathcal{P}_{G_1}$  and  $\mathcal{P}_{G_2}$ . Singular and non-singular vertices of the corresponding graphs are labeled by solid and hollow squares, respectively.

#### **II.2:** Conditions for holomorphic realizability

Proposition II.14 tells us that every Thurston map with  $|P_f| = 1$  is realized. The core tenet of Thurston's theory is that a Thurston map f with  $|P_f| \ge 2$  is realized if and only if its Thurston pullback operator  $\sigma_f$  which acts on the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, P_f \cup \{\infty\})$  has a fixed point. We describe this operator and its properties in this section.

#### II.2.1: Teichmüller spaces modelled on a punctured sphere

Let  $B \subset \mathbb{S}^2$  be a finite set with  $|B| \ge 3$ .

**Definition II.17.** The Teichmüller space of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  with the marked set B (or Teichmüller space modelled on  $\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus B$ ) is defined as

 $T(\mathbb{S}^2, B) := \{\varphi | \varphi : \mathbb{S}^2 \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \text{ is an orientation-preserving homeomorphism}\}/\sim$ 

where  $\varphi \sim \psi$  if there exists a Möbius transformation M such that  $\varphi$  is isotopic rel. B to  $M \circ \psi$ . Given  $\tau \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ , for any  $\varphi \in \tau$ , we will write  $\tau = [\varphi]$ .

If  $B = A \cup \{\infty\}$  for some finite set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , we note that for every  $\tau \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ , there exists  $\varphi \in \tau$  so that  $\varphi(\infty) = \infty$ , and if  $\psi \in \tau$  also satisfies  $\psi(\infty) = \infty$ , then there exists an affine transformation M such that  $M \circ \varphi$  and  $\psi$  are isotopic rel. A.

The space  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  is known to have a natural structure of a complex (|B|-3)-dimensional manifold ([Hub06, Theorem 6.5.1]) that is contractible. The *Teichmüller metric* on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  is defined as

$$d(\tau_1, \tau_2) := \inf_{\psi} \log K(\psi)$$

where the infimum is taken over all quasiconformal homeomorphisms  $\psi : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  such that for some  $\psi_1 \in \tau_1$  and  $\psi_2 \in \tau_2$ ,  $\varphi_1$  is isotopic to  $\psi \circ \varphi_2$  rel. *B*.

It is known that the Teichmüller metric is complete, and  $T(S^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  with this metric is a *path metric space* in the sense of [Gro07, Definition 1.7], (for a proof, see [FM12a, Section 11.8] and [Gro07, Sections 1.8bis and 1.8bis+]). By the metric version of Hopf-Rinow theorem ([Gro07, page 8]), every bounded closed set of  $T(S^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  is compact. For more details about  $T(S^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ , see [Hub06] and [Ahl06].

We also describe a group action on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ .

**Definition II.18.** The mapping class group  $MCG(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  is the group of orientation preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi : (\mathbb{S}^2, B) \longrightarrow (\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  where  $\varphi(B) = B$ , with  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  equivalent if  $\varphi$  is isotopic to  $\psi$  rel. B. The group law is given by function composition. We let  $\langle h \rangle$  denote the equivalence class of h in  $MCG(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ . The subgroup of homeomorphisms that fix Bpointwise is called the *pure* mapping class group, denoted  $PMCG(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ .

The topology of uniform convergence on compact subsets sets of  $\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus B$  on the space of homeomorphisms in Homeo<sup>+</sup>( $\mathbb{S}^2$ ) that fix the set *B* also induces a topology on MCG( $\mathbb{S}^2, B$ ). With this topology, MCG( $\mathbb{S}^2, B$ ) is known to be a discrete group.

We can also look at the group  $MCG^{\pm}(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  of all homeomorphisms  $\varphi \in Homeo^+(\mathbb{S}^2) \cup Homeo^-(\mathbb{S}^2)$  such that  $\varphi(B) = B$ , modulo isotopy rel. B. Here,  $Homeo^-(\mathbb{S}^2)$  represents

the group of orientation-resversing homeomorphisms of  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . Note that if  $\langle \psi \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$  in  $MCG^{\pm}(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ , then  $\psi$  and  $\varphi$  are either both orientation-preserving, or both orientation-reversing. From this we get the following sequence of maps which is short exact:

$$1 \longrightarrow \mathrm{MCG}(\mathbb{S}^2, B) \longrightarrow \mathrm{MCG}^{\pm}(\mathbb{S}^2, B) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow 1$$

Here the map  $MCG^{\pm}(\mathbb{S}^2, B) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  sends each class of homeomorphisms to 0 if they are orientation-preserving, and to 1 if they are orientation-reversing.

Given a group G and an element  $g \in G$ , the group of inner automorphisms  $\operatorname{Inn}(G)$  of G is the collection  $\{T_g \in \operatorname{Aut}(G) : g \in G\}$ , where  $T_g$  is the automorphism  $h \mapsto ghg^{-1}$ . It is easy to see that for any  $T_g$  as above and  $H \in \operatorname{Aut}(G)$ ,  $H \circ T_g \circ H^{-1} = H_{H(g)}$ . In other words,  $\operatorname{Inn}(G)$ is a normal subgroup of  $\operatorname{Aut}(G)$ .

**Definition II.19.** Given a group G, the outer automorphism group of G, denoted Out(G), is defined as the quotient Aut(G)/Inn(G).

Given  $\varphi \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{S}^2) \cup \text{Homeo}^-(\mathbb{S}^2)$  with  $\varphi(B) = B$ , let p be a path from t to  $\varphi(t)$ . Consider the map  $\varphi_{*,p} : \pi_1(\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus B, t) \to \pi_1(\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus B, t)$  given by  $[\gamma] \mapsto [p \cdot \varphi(\gamma) \cdot \overline{p}]$ . For a different choice q of path from t to  $\varphi(t)$ , we see that  $\varphi_{*,q} = T_{q \cdot \overline{p}} \circ \varphi_{*,p}$ . Furthermore, if we choose a different representative  $\psi$  isotopic to  $\varphi$  rel. A, then for some choice of path q from t to  $\psi(t)$ , we have  $\psi_{*,q} = \varphi_{*,p}$ . So we can define  $\varphi_*$  as the equivalence class of  $\varphi_{*,p}$  in  $\text{Out}(\pi_1(\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus B, t))$ , and we get a homomorphism  $\Phi : \text{MCG}^{\pm}(\mathbb{S}^2, B) \longrightarrow \text{Out}(\pi_1(\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus B, t))$  defined as  $\langle \varphi \rangle \mapsto \varphi_*$ . The following result, known as the Dehn-Neilson-Baer theorem, is proved in [FM12b]:

**Theorem II.20** ([FM12b, Theorem 8.8]).  $\Phi$  is a homeomorphism.

The group  $PMCG(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  acts on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  as  $\langle h \rangle \cdot [\varphi] = [\varphi \circ h^{-1}]$ . Fricke's Theorem states that this action is properly discontinuous (see [FM12b, Chapter 12] for a proof). The quotient  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, B) / PMCG(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  is a complex manifold of dimension |B| - 3, and is called the *moduli space* of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  with the marked set B. It can be alternatively described as follows:

**Definition II.21.** The moduli space

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{S}^2, B) = \{\varphi | \varphi : B \hookrightarrow \widehat{\mathbb{C}}\} / \sim$$

where  $\varphi \sim \psi$  if  $\varphi = M \circ \psi$  for some Möbius map  $M \in \operatorname{Aut}(\widehat{\mathbb{C}})$ .

We denote by  $[[\varphi]]$  the equivalence class of  $\varphi$  in  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ .

The map  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, B) \longrightarrow M(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  defined as  $[\varphi] \mapsto [[\varphi]]$  is a universal covering, and the fiber over  $[[\varphi]]$  is  $PMCG(\mathbb{S}^2, B) \cdot [\varphi]$ . For more details and a proof sketch, see [FM12b, Chapter 12].

#### II.2.2: Thurston pullback

The notion of the Thurston pullback map is classical for rational Thurston maps (e.g., [Hub06, Definition 10.6.1]), but is less well-known in the transcendental setting (see for example [HSS09] for the case of *exponential Thurston maps*).

Any orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  can be extended to a homeomorphism from  $\mathbb{S}^2$  to  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  by setting  $\varphi(\infty) = \infty$ . With this in mind, for any finite set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ with  $|A| \ge 2$ , the element  $[\varphi] \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  is well-defined.

**Proposition II.22.** Let  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a Thurston map such that  $|A| \ge 2$  and  $\varphi: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  be an orientation-preserving homeomorphism. Then there exists an orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\psi: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $g_{\varphi} := \varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1}: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  is an entire holomorphic map. In other words, the following diagram commutes



The map  $\psi$  is unique up to post-composition with an affine map. Different choices of  $\varphi$  that represent the same point in  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  yield maps  $\psi$  that represent the same point in  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ .

In other words, we have a well-defined map  $\sigma_f$ :  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\}) \to T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  such that  $\sigma_f([\varphi]) = [\psi]$ , called the Thurston pullback map associated with f. As  $\varphi$  ranges across all maps representing a single point in  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ , the function  $g_{\varphi}$  is uniquely defined up to pre- and post-composition with affine maps.

*Proof.* The existence of a homeomorphism  $\psi$  follows from Proposition II.2, the Uniformization Theorem and the fact that f has stable parabolic type. It is also clear that  $\psi$  is unique up to post-composition with an affine map and that post-composing  $\varphi$  with an affine map does not affect  $\psi$ .

Due to Proposition II.6, changing  $\varphi$  by isotopy rel. A does not change  $[\psi]$ . Thus, changing  $\varphi$  within its equivalence class in  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  does not affect  $[\psi]$ , showing that  $\sigma_f$  introduced as above is well-defined. These arguments also show that  $g_{\varphi}$  is uniquely defined up to pread post-composition with affine maps.

The operator  $\sigma_f$  is a holomorphic map with respect to the natural complex structure on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  (for a proof, see, for instance, [BCT14, Section 1.3]). Moreover, it is well-behaved with respect to the Teichmüller metric, as the next two propositions suggest.

**Proposition II.23.** Let  $B \subset \mathbb{S}^2$  be a finite set with  $|B| \ge 3$ . Every holomorphic map  $H : T(\mathbb{S}^2, B) \to T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$  is 1-Lipschitz in the Teichmüller metric; in other words, for all  $\tau, \hat{\tau} \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, B)$ , we have  $d_T(H(\tau), H(\hat{\tau})) \le d_T(\tau, \hat{\tau})$ .

*Proof.* This result follows directly from [Hub06, Corollary 6.10.7].  $\Box$ 

**Proposition II.24.** Let  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a Thurston map. Then,

- 1.  $\sigma_f$  is 1-Lipschitz with respect to the Teichmüller metric;
- 2. if f is transcendental, then  $\sigma_f$  is locally uniformly contracting; in other words, for any compact set  $K \subset T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  there exists  $\varepsilon_K > 0$  such that

$$d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_f(\tau), \sigma_f(\hat{\tau})) \leq (1 - \varepsilon_K) d_{\mathrm{T}}(\tau, \hat{\tau})$$

for every  $\tau, \hat{\tau} \in K$ ;

3. if f is polynomial, then  $\sigma_f^{\circ 2}$  is locally uniformly contracting.

*Proof.* The first item is clear by Proposition II.23. The second item follows from [HSS09, Section 3.2]. The last item is proved in [Hub16, Corollary 10.7.8].  $\Box$ 

Remark II.25. If Thurston maps  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $\hat{f}: (\mathbb{R}^2, B) \mathfrak{S}$  are combinatorially equivalent, then  $\sigma_f: \operatorname{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\}) \to \operatorname{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  and  $\sigma_{\hat{f}}: \operatorname{T}(\mathbb{R}^2, B \cup \{\infty\}) \to \operatorname{T}(\mathbb{R}^2, B \cup \{\infty\})$  are conjugate by a biholomorphism. In the special case where A = B and f is isotopic rel. A to  $\hat{f}$ , we have  $\sigma_f = \sigma_{\hat{f}}$ .

We now state the main theorem of Thurston theory. This result follows from Definition II.11 and Proposition II.22 (also cf. [Hub16, Theorem 10.6.4] and [HSS09, Theorem 3.1]).

**Theorem II.26.** A Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  is realized if and only if the Thurston pullback map  $\sigma_f: T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\}) \to T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  has a fixed point  $\tau \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ .

Proof. Suppose that f is realized by a postsingularly finite entire map  $g: (\mathbb{C}, B) \mathfrak{S}$ . Then by Definition II.11, there exist orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi, \psi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\varphi(A) = \psi(A) = B$ ,  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  are isotopic rel. A, and  $\varphi \circ f = g \circ \psi$ . Clearly,  $\tau = [\varphi] =$  $[\psi] \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  is a fixed point of  $\sigma_f$ .

Now suppose that  $\tau = [\varphi] \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  is a fixed point of  $\sigma_f$ . Let  $\psi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  be an orientation-preserving homeomorphism so that  $g_{\varphi} = \varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1}$  is entire. Since  $[\varphi] = [\psi]$ , by post-composing  $\psi$  with an affine map we can assume that  $\varphi|A = \psi|A$ , which in turn implies that  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  are isotopic rel. A. Thus,  $g_{\varphi} \colon (\mathbb{C}, \varphi(A)) \circlearrowright$  is a postsingularly finite entire map Thurston equivalent to f.

Remark II.27. Let  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a Thurston map. If |A| = 1,  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  is not well-defined; however, recall from Proposition II.14 that f is realized by  $z \mapsto z^d$  for some degree  $d \ge 2$ .

If |A| = 2, since  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  consists of one point, Theorem II.26 immediately implies that f is realized.

Finally, Proposition II.24 and Theorem II.26 lead to the following result called *Thurston's* rigidity (this result is similar to [Hub06, Corollary 10.7.8] in classical Thurston theory).

**Proposition II.28.** Let  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a Thurston map. Then

- 1.  $\sigma_f$  can have at most one fixed point;
- 2. if  $g_1: (\mathbb{C}, A_1) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $g_2: (\mathbb{C}, A_2) \mathfrak{S}$  are postsingularly finite entire maps Thurston equivalent to f, then  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  are conjugate by an affine map.

**Proposition II.29.** If  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $g : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  are Thurston maps that are isotopic rel. A, then the operators  $\sigma_f$  and  $\sigma_g$  coincide.

Proof. There exists a map  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  such that  $g = f \circ \varphi$ . Then for any  $\tau = [\psi] \in \operatorname{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ , if  $\sigma_g(\tau) = \hat{\tau}$ , then there exists a representative  $\hat{\psi} \in \hat{\tau}$  such that  $\hat{\psi}(\infty) = \infty$ , and  $g_{\psi} := \psi \circ g \circ \hat{\psi}^{-1} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  is entire. Also note that  $\psi^{-1} \circ g_{\psi} = g \circ \hat{\psi}^{-1} = f \circ (\varphi \circ \hat{\psi}^{-1})$ . By Proposition II.6, since  $\varphi \circ \hat{\psi}^{-1}$  is isotopic to  $\hat{\psi}^{-1}$  rel. A, there exists a map  $\psi_1 \in \operatorname{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  isotopic to  $\psi$  rel. A such that  $\psi_1^{-1} \circ g_{\psi} = f \circ \hat{\psi}^{-1}$ . In other words,  $\sigma_f(\tau) = [\psi_1] = [\psi] = \hat{\tau}$ .

This finishes the summary of basic properties of Thurston maps visited by this thesis. We will now move on to known results concerning our special case study described in Section I.3.3.

#### **II.3:** Postsingularly finite maps in complex dynamics

This section reviews the properties of two prominent families of PSF maps: unicritical polynomials and exponentials. For the foundational theory of holomorphic dynamics, see [Mil06] and [Hub16].

#### **II.3.1:** The dynamics of unicritical PCF polynomials

**Definition II.30.** Given a polynomial  $f : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ , the filled Julia set  $K_f$  of f is the set of points  $z \in \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  such that the orbit  $z, f(z), f^{\circ 2}(z), \cdots$  is bounded.

For any monic polynomial f with deg  $f \ge 2$ , it is known that there exists a neighborhood  $U_{\infty}$  of  $\infty$  contained in  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus K_f$  and a conformal map  $\varphi_f \colon U_{\infty} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$  such that  $(\varphi_f(z))^{\deg f} = \varphi_f \circ f(z)$ . This conformal map is called the Böttcher chart, and it is unique up to postmultiplication by an (n-1)th root of unity. If  $K_f$  is connected (or equivalently, all the critical points of f are in  $K_f$ ), then we can take  $U_{\infty} = \widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus K_f$ . In this case, we may define dynamical rays in the plane of f by setting  $R_f(\theta) = \varphi_f^{-1}(\{r \exp(2\pi i\theta) : r > 1\})$ , for every  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ . If  $\lim_{r\to 1^+} \varphi_f^{-1}(r \exp(2\pi i\theta) = \varphi_f^{-1}(r \exp(2\pi i\theta) + R_f(\theta) = \varphi_f^{-1}(\{r \exp(2\pi i\theta) : r > 1\})$ .

A polynomial is said to be unicritical if it has exactly one critical point on the plane. By [Mil06], it is known that any unicritical polynomial is affine conjugate to a polynomial of the form  $f_{n,c}(z) = z^n + c$  for some  $c \in \mathbb{C}$ . It is known that  $K_{f_{n,c}}$  is connected if and only if  $0 \in K_{f_{n,c}}$ .

#### **Operations on angles**

All angles in this thesis are taken to be elements of  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ . Given distinct angles  $\alpha, \beta$ , the complement of these angles in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  consists of two connected components or *arcs*. The length of the shorter arc is denoted  $d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\alpha, \beta)$ . We take the linear order on  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  induced by that on [0, 1). The map  $\mu_n : \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \odot$  is defined as  $\mu_n(x) = nx$ , and we let  $\mathcal{O}_n(\theta) = \{n^{j-1}\theta : j \ge 1\}$ .

Every rational angle is pre-periodic under  $\mu_n$  with pre-period  $\ell \ge 0$  and eventual period  $k \ge 1$  (we will often drop the word 'eventual').

#### Itineraries and kneading data

Given  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , for j = 0, 1, ..., n - 1, we define the *j*th static sector with respect to  $\theta$  as the interval  $\left(\frac{\theta+j}{n}, \frac{\theta+j+1}{n}\right) \subset \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , and denote it  $T_{n,j}^{stat}(\theta)$ . Note that  $\bigcup_{j=0}^{n-1} T_{n,j}^{stat}(\theta)$  is the complement of the set  $\mu_n^{-1}(\theta)$  in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ .

Now suppose  $\theta \in T_{n,i}^{stat}(\theta)$ . For j = 0, 1, ..., n-1, we define the *j*th dynamic sector with respect to  $\theta$  to be  $T_{n,j+i}^{stat}(\theta)$ , and denote it  $T_{n,j}^{dyn}(\theta)$ . Dynamic sectors are well-defined if and only if  $\theta \notin \mu_n^{-1}(\theta)$ .

For any angle  $t \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , the itinerary of t with respect to  $\theta$ , denoted  $\Sigma_{n,\theta}(t)$ , is the sequence  $\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3... \in \{0, 1, ..., n, *\}^{\mathbb{N}}$  where

$$\nu_m = \begin{cases} j & n^{m-1}t \in T^{dyn}_{n,j}(\theta) \\ * & n^{m-1}t \in \bigcup_{j=0}^{n-1} \partial T^{dyn}_{n,j}(\theta) \end{cases}$$

An itinerary is called \*-periodic if it is periodic under the shift map  $\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3\nu_4... \mapsto \nu_2\nu_3\nu_4...$ with period k, and the \*'s occur exactly at indices k, 2k, 3k, etc. For an angle  $\theta$ , the itinerary


Figure 2.2: Some PCF parameters in  $\mathcal{M}_2$  marked by a ' $\star$ ' symbol, along with their portraits

 $\Sigma_{n,\theta}(\theta)$  is called the kneading sequence of  $\theta$ . We note that kneading sequences of rational angles are always periodic or \*-periodic.

**Example II.31.** When n = 2, the angle  $\frac{1}{7}$  has kneading sequence  $\overline{00*}$ , while the angle  $\frac{17}{240} = \frac{17}{2^4(2^4-1)}$  has kneading sequence  $0001\overline{0}$ .

#### **II.3.2:** Parameter spaces of unicritical polynomials

#### Unicritical non-escaping loci

The set of  $c \in \mathbb{C}$  for which the orbit of 0 under  $f_{n,c}$  is bounded is called the *non-escaping* locus of the polynomials  $\{f_{n,c}, c \in \mathbb{C}\}$ , and is commonly known as the Multibrot set of degree n. We denote this set by  $\mathcal{M}_n$ . We recall some known facts about  $\mathcal{M}_n$  here. Proofs can be found in [Hub16, Chapters 9, 10], and [EMS16].

•  $\mathcal{M}_n$  is connected and compact, and the map  $\Phi_n : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \mathcal{M}_n \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$  given by  $\Phi_n(c) = \varphi_{n,c}(c)$ , where  $\varphi_{n,c}$  is the Böttcher chart of  $f_{n,c}$ , is a conformal isomorphism. This was proven first for n = 2 by Douady and Hubbard in [DH82], and their proof generalizes to higher degrees.

Given  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , the parameter ray at angle  $\theta$ , denoted  $R_n(\theta)$ , is the preimage under  $\Phi_n$ of the set  $\{re^{2\pi i\theta} : 1 < r \leq \infty\}$ . Landing of parameter rays is defined analogously. If  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , then it is known that  $R_n(\theta)$  lands. • Given any hyperbolic component  $U \subset \mathcal{M}_n$  (for a definition, see [DH84, Chapter 3] or [Hub16, Chapter 9]), the multiplier map  $\rho_U : U \longrightarrow \mathbb{D}$  is a ramified covering of degree (n-1) branched over 0. The unique critical point  $c_0$  of  $\rho_U$  is called the center of U, and  $f_{d,c_0}$  has a super-attracting cycle of exact period k. For  $c \in U$ ,  $f_{n,c}$  has a unique attracting cycle of exact period k.  $\rho_U$  extends to a continuous map  $\partial U \longrightarrow \partial \mathbb{D}$ , and the fiber  $\rho_U^{-1}(1)$  consists of (n-1) parabolic parameters  $c_1, c_2, ..., c_{n-1}$  on  $\partial U$ .

Of these, there exists a unique parameter, say  $c_1$ , which is the landing point of exactly two rays:  $R_n(\theta)$  and  $R_n(\theta')$ , where  $\theta, \theta'$  are periodic under  $\mu_n$  with exact period k. This point is called the root of U, and the angles  $\theta, \theta'$  are said to form a companion pair. The points  $c_2, \dots, c_{n-1}$  are called the co-roots of U and each  $c_i$  is the landing point of exactly one ray  $R_n(\theta_i)$ , where  $\theta_i$  has exact period k under  $\mu_n$ . In the dynamical plane of  $f_{n,c_0}$ , the dynamic rays at angles  $\theta', \theta, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_{n-1}$  all land on the Fatou component  $U_0$  containing  $c_0$ , and  $\theta, \theta'$  land at a unique point  $z_0 \in \partial U_0$ , called its root. The dynamic rays at angles  $\theta, \theta'$  separate  $c_0$  from the other points in the postcritical set.

- Let U be a hyperbolic component of  $\mathcal{M}_n$ , with center  $c_0$ . Suppose the parameter rays  $R_n(\theta), R_n(\theta')$  with  $\theta < \theta'$  land at the root of U. Then  $R_n(\theta) \cup R_n(\theta')$  split  $\mathcal{M}_n \setminus U$  into two components. The component not containing 0 is called the wake of U, and denoted  $\mathcal{W}(U)$  (we will also refer to this as the wake  $c_0$ ). Furthermore, suppose  $\theta_1 < \theta_2 < \cdots < \theta_{n-2}$  are the angles that land at the co-roots of U. Then the subsets of  $\mathcal{W}(U)$  bound by a pair of rays of the form  $(R_n(\theta)_j, R_n(\theta_{j+1})), (R_n(\theta), R_n(\theta_1))$  or  $(R_n(\theta_{n-2}), R_n(\theta'))$  are called sub-wakes of U.
- If  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  is k-periodic under  $\mu_n$ ,  $R_n(\theta)$  lands on the root or co-root of a hyperbolic component of period k. If  $\theta$  is pre-periodic under  $\mu_n$  with pre-period  $\ell \ge 1$  and eventual period k, then  $R_n(\theta)$  lands at a Misiurewicz parameter c whose critical value has pre-period  $\ell$  and period dividing k.
- We call  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  an angular coordinate for  $c \in \mathcal{M}_n$  if
  - 1. c is Misiurewicz, and  $R_n(\theta)$  lands on c, or
  - 2. c is critically periodic, and  $R_n(\theta)$  lands on the root or a co-root of the hyperbolic component containing c.

Given a PCF parameter c, we let  $\Omega_n(c)$  denote its set of angular coordinates. Letting

 $\omega$  denote the complex number  $\exp(\frac{2\pi i}{n-1})$ , it can be shown that

$$\omega \mathcal{M}_n = \mathcal{M}_n,$$
$$\forall c \in \mathcal{M}_n, \ , \Omega_n(\omega c) = \Omega_n(c) + \frac{1}{n-1}.$$

• If  $f_{n,c}$  is postsingularly finite, its filled Julia set is locally connected, so the inverse Böttcher chart  $\varphi_{n,c}^{-1} : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$  extends to a continuous surjective map from  $\mathbb{S}^1 = \partial \mathbb{D}$  to  $\partial K_{f_{n,c}}$ . Let  $\gamma$  denote this boundary map; it is called the Carathéodory loop of  $f_{n,c}$ . Choose any  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$ . For all angles  $t, t' \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , it is known that  $\gamma(t) = \gamma(t')$  if and only if  $\Sigma_{n,\theta}(t) = \Sigma_{n,\theta}(t')$ .

#### The quotients $\Lambda_n$

For all  $c \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $f_{n,c}$  is affine conjugate to  $f_{n,\omega c}$ , where  $\omega = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{n-1})$ . Moreover, for  $c \neq 0$ ,  $f_{n,c}$  is affine conjugate to  $p_{n,\lambda}(z) = \lambda(1 + \frac{z}{n})^n$ , where  $\lambda = nc^{n-1}$ , and  $p_{n,\lambda}$  is affine conjugate to  $p_{n,\mu}$  if and only if  $\lambda = \mu$ .

We define  $\Lambda_n$  as the image of  $\mathcal{M}_n \setminus \{0\}$  under the map  $c \mapsto nc^{n-1}$ . Equivalently,  $\Lambda_n$  is the set of  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  such that  $p_{n,\lambda}$  has connected filled Julia set.

Given  $\lambda = nc^{n-1}$ , we refer to the parameters  $c, \omega c, \omega^2 c, ..., \omega^{n-2} c$  as the monic representatives for  $\lambda$ , and denote this set  $M_n(\lambda)$ . We call  $\theta$  an *angular coordinate* for  $\lambda$  if  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$  for some  $c \in M_n(\lambda)$ . The set of angular coordinates is denoted  $\Theta_n(\lambda)$ .

$$\Theta_n(\lambda) = \bigcup_{n=0}^{n-2} \Omega_n(\omega^n c)$$

We shall denote by  $\mathcal{P}_n$  the set of PCF parameters  $\lambda$  for which  $p_{n,\lambda}$  is postsingularly finite. This consists of all Misiurewicz parameters, and all critically periodic parameters with period  $\geq 2$ .

#### **II.3.3:** Dynamics of postsingularly finite exponential maps

The exponential family is simplest among all families of transcendental maps, since for any exponential function f, the set  $S_f$  contains only one point. This section covers some basic properties of exponential maps, with a focus on postsingularly finite maps.

For  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ , let  $p_{\lambda}(z) = \lambda \exp(z)$ . We note that  $S_{p_{\lambda}} = \{0\}$ , and that  $p_{\lambda}(0) = \lambda$ . The set of  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  for which the  $p_{\lambda}$ -orbit of 0 is bounded is called the *non-escaping locus* of the exponential family  $\{p_{\lambda} | \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*\}$ , denoted  $\Lambda$ . Any  $\lambda \notin \Lambda$  is called an *escaping parameter*.



Figure 2.3: The non-escaping locus  $\Lambda$  of the exponential family  $\{p_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*\}$ ; here the white region represents  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \Lambda$ 

We note that for each  $\lambda$ , the map  $p_{\lambda}$  is affine conjugate to an exponential map of the form  $z \mapsto \exp(z) + c$ , with c unique up to translation by  $2\pi i n$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We could also look at the non-escaping locus in the family  $\{z \mapsto \exp(z) + c | c \in \mathbb{C}\}$ , which forms a natural analog to  $\mathcal{M}_n$ ; however, it is preferable to work in the  $p_{\lambda}$  normalization since we can then use the fact that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \lambda(1+\frac{z}{n})^n = \lambda \exp(z)$ .

Similar to unicritical polynomials, for  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , the structure of the set of points  $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : \lim_{n \to \infty} p_{\lambda}^{\circ n}(z) = \infty\}$ , called the *escaping set* of  $p_{\lambda}$ , is well-understood on a topological level. We list some of its properties in this section. For a more complete description, see [SZ03a], [SZ03b], [Rem06], and [Rem10].

The escaping set also helps play a vital role in classifying postsingularly finite exponential maps; in fact, the authors of [LSV08] carry out this classification and develop a theory of spiders akin to that of polynomials.

#### Dynamic and parameter hairs

Just as angles in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  correspond to dynamical rays, which are subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus K_f$  for a polynomial f, in the exponential regime, certain subsets of the escaping set, called *hairs*, can be labelled by sequences of integers called *external addresses*. We formalize this theory below

(for more details, see [Rem06]).

Given  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ , choose  $c = \ln \lambda$  such that  $\operatorname{Im} c \in [-\pi, \pi)$ . For  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , define

$$U_{\infty,j}^{stat}(\lambda) = \{ z : (2j-1)\pi - \operatorname{Im} c < \operatorname{Im} z < (2j+1)\pi + \operatorname{Im} c \}$$

Note that every connected component of  $p_{\lambda}^{-1}(\mathbb{C}\backslash\mathbb{R}_{\leq 0})$  is of the form  $U_{\infty,j}^{stat}(\lambda)$  for some j, and that the map  $p_{\lambda}|U_{\infty,j}^{stat}(\lambda) : U_{\infty,j}^{stat}(\lambda) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}\backslash\mathbb{R}_{\leq 0}$  is a conformal isomorphism for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The collection  $\{U_{\infty,j}^{stat}(\lambda)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  is a partition of the plane, and is called the static partition with respect to  $\lambda$ .

**Definition II.32.** We call a sequence  $\underline{s} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$  an *external address*. Let  $\mu$  be the left shift map on  $\mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$ . For any  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $p_{\lambda}^{\circ n}(z) \notin \mathbb{R}_{\leq 0}$  for all n, the external address of z is the sequence  $s_1 s_2 \cdots s_m \cdots$  with  $p_{\lambda}^{\circ (m-1)}(z) \in U_{\infty,s_m}^{stat}(\lambda)$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . For any external address  $\underline{s}$ and integer r, the external address  $r\underline{s}$  is the sequence  $rs_1 s_2 \cdots$ .

Let < denote the standard lexicographic order on  $\mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$ :  $\underline{s} < \underline{t}$  if at the first index m where  $s_m \neq t_m$ , we have  $s_m < t_m$ . Additionally, let << denote the *cylindrical* order:  $\underline{s} << \underline{t}$  if one of the following is true:

- $\underline{s} < \underline{t}$ , or
- $\underline{t} < \overline{0} < \underline{s}$

As for angles, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we let  $T_{\infty,j}^{stat}(\underline{s})$  denote the interval  $(\underline{js}, (j+1)\underline{s}) = \{\underline{u} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}} : \underline{js} < \underline{u} < (j+1)\underline{s}\}$ ; we call this a static sector with respect to  $\underline{s}$ .

An address  $\underline{s}$  is said to be pre-periodic if its orbit under  $\mu$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$  is finite; it is periodic if this orbit is cyclic (we will often take 'pre-periodic' to mean strictly pre-periodic). If  $\underline{s}$  is not periodic with period 1, then there exists a unique  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\underline{s} \in T^{stat}_{\infty,j}(\underline{s})$ . In this case, we define, for  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the *dynamic* sector with respect to  $\underline{s}$  as  $T^{dyn}_{\infty,m}(\underline{s}) = T^{stat}_{\infty,j+m}(\underline{s})$ .

Remark II.33. There is a direct analogy between external addresses and angles in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  that correspond to rays for a degree n polynomial : every angle in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  has an n-adic expansion, and can therefore be viewed as an element of  $\{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$ . Furthermore, rational angles can be thought of as pre-periodic sequences in  $\{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$ .

**Definition II.34.** Let  $\underline{s}, \underline{t} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$ . The itinerary of  $\underline{t}$  with respect to  $\underline{s}$ , denoted  $\Sigma_{\underline{s}}(\underline{t})$ , is a sequence  $\nu_1 \nu_2 \nu_3 \cdots \nu_m \cdots$  where

$$\nu_m = \begin{cases} j & \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{t}) \in T^{stat}_{\infty,j}(\underline{s}) \\ * & \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{t}) = j\underline{s} \text{ for some } j \in \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

**Definition II.35.** A sequence  $\underline{s} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$  is *bounded* if there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $|s_n| \leq C$  for all n.

Let  $F(t) = e^t - 1$ . An address <u>s</u> is said to be *exponentially bounded* if there exist constants  $A \ge 1, x > 0$  such that  $|s_n| \le A |F^{\circ(n-1)}(x)|$  for all  $n \ge 1$ .

Fix  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ . The following theorems illustrate the behaviour of escaping points in the dynamic plane of  $p_{\lambda}$ .

**Theorem II.36** ([SZ03b, Theorem 2.3]). If  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , then for every bounded <u>s</u> there is a unique injective and continuous curve  $\gamma_{\underline{s}} : (0, \infty) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  of external address <u>s</u> satisfying

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{Re} \gamma_{\underline{s}}(t) = +\infty$$

which has the following properties: it consists of escaping points such that

$$p_{\lambda}(\gamma_{\underline{s}}(t)) = \gamma_{\underline{s}}(p_{\lambda}(t)) \quad \forall t > 0$$
  
$$\gamma_{s}(t) = t - c + 2\pi i s_{1} + r_{s}(t) \quad \forall t > 0$$

with  $|r_{\underline{s}}(t)| < 2e^{-t}(|K| + C)$ , where  $C \in \mathbb{R}$  depends only on a bound for  $\underline{s}$ .

If the singular orbit does escape, then the statement is still true for every bounded address <u>s</u> for which there is no  $n \ge 1$  and  $t_0 > 0$  such that  $0 = \gamma_{\mu^{\circ n}(s)}(t_0)$ .

For those exceptional  $\underline{s}$ , there is an injective curve  $\gamma_{\underline{s}} : (t_{\underline{s}}^*, \infty) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  with the same properties as before, where  $t_{\underline{s}}^* > 0$  is the largest number which has an  $n \neq 1$  such that  $F^{\circ n}(t_{\underline{s}}^*) = t_0$  and  $0 = \gamma_{\mu^{\circ n}(\underline{s})}(t_0)$ .

The curve  $\gamma_{\underline{s}}$  is called the dynamic ray (or *hair*) at external address  $\underline{s}$ .

For  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ , let  $\operatorname{arg}(\lambda)$  be the argument of  $\lambda$  that in the interval  $[-\pi, \pi)$ . On the dynamical plane of any  $p_{\lambda}$ , a point z in the escaping set has external address  $\underline{s}$  if and only if  $p_{\lambda}^{\circ(m-1)}(z) \in U_{\infty,m}^{stat}(\lambda)$  for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Theorem II.37** ([LSV08, Theorem 2.6]). For every pre-periodic external address  $\underline{s}$  starting with the entry 0, there exists a postsingularly finite exponential map  $z \mapsto \lambda \exp(z)$  such that the dynamic ray at external address  $\underline{s}$  lands at the singular value 0. Every postsingularly finite exponential map is associated in this way to a positive finite number of pre-periodic external addresses starting with 0.

As in the polynomial case, we have a notion of parameter rays to the exponential family.

**Theorem II.38** ([FRS08, Theorem 1.1]). The set of parameters  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  for which  $p_{\lambda}^{\circ n}(0) \to \infty$  consists of uncountably many disjoint curves in  $\mathbb{C}$ . More precisely, every path-connected

component of this set is an injective curve  $\gamma : (0, \infty) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  or  $\gamma : [0, \infty) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  with  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \gamma(t) = \infty$ .

Every path connected component as in the above theorem above is referred to as a parameter ray. We say that a parameter ray  $\gamma$  as above lands if  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} \gamma(t)$  exists. Parameter rays are also defined in [FS09] for the exponential family  $\{z \mapsto \exp(z + \kappa), \kappa \in \mathbb{C}\}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  denote the collection of  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  such that  $p_{\lambda}$  is postsingularly finite.

**Theorem II.39** ([LSV08, Theorem 3.4]). For every postsingularly finite exponential map  $p_{\lambda}$ and every pre-periodic external address  $\underline{s}$  with  $s_1 = 0$ , the dynamic ray at address  $\underline{s}$  lands at the singular value if and only if the parameter ray at address  $\underline{s}$  lands at  $\lambda$ .

**Theorem II.40** ([LSV08, Corollary 3.5]). Every parameter ray at a strictly pre-periodic external address  $\underline{s}$  lands at a postsingularly finite exponential map, and every pre-periodic exponential map is the landing point of a finite positive number of parameter rays at strictly pre-periodic external addresses.

We let  $\Theta_{\infty}(\lambda)$  denote the set of external addresses <u>s</u> such that the parameter ray with address <u>s</u> lands at  $\lambda$  (note that for any such <u>s</u>, we have  $s_1 = 0$ ).

When exponential maps are normalized as  $\exp(z) + c$ , dynamic rays for these maps and parameter rays in the *c*-plane are analogously defined. We note that if  $c = \ln \lambda$  and the dynamic ray at address  $\underline{s} = s_1 s_2 \dots$  lands at *c* in the dynamic plane of  $z \mapsto \exp(z) + c$ , then the dynamic ray at address  $0(s_2 - s_1)(s_3 - s_1)(s_4 - s_1)\dots$  lands at 0 in the dynamic plane of  $p_{\lambda}$ .

## **II.4:** Combinatorial theory

#### **II.4.1:** Combinatorics of unicritical PCF polynomials

Postsingularly finite polynomials admit several combinatorial descriptions: in terms of *spiders*, *hubbard trees* and *kneading sequences*. In this section we give a brief overview of these tools for unicritical polynomials. These tools have been used to completely classify postsingularly finite polynomials.

For the rest of Section II.4.1, fix a degree  $n \ge 2$ .

#### **Orbit** portraits

Given any repelling cycle  $\{z_1, ..., z_r\}$  of a polynomial p, the orbit portrait associated with this cycle is the collection  $\{A_1, A_2, ..., A_r\}$ , where  $A_i$  is the set of angles  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  such that the dynamic ray at angle  $\theta$  in the plane of p lands at  $z_i$ .

**Definition II.41.** A collection  $\mathcal{A} = {\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2, ..., \mathcal{A}_r}$  is called a formal degree *n* orbit portrait if

- 1. Each  $\mathcal{A}_i$  is a non-empty finite subset of  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ .
- 2.  $\mu_n$  maps each  $\mathcal{A}_i$  bijectively onto  $\mathcal{A}_{i+1}$  and preserves the cyclic order of the angles.
- 3. Each  $\mathcal{A}_i$  is contained in some arc of length less than 1/n in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ .
- 4. Each  $\alpha \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{r} \mathcal{A}_i$  is periodic under  $\mu_n$  and all such  $\alpha$ 's have a common period rp for some  $p \ge 1$ .
- 5. For every m, let  $\mathcal{A}_{m,i} = \mathcal{A}_m + \frac{i}{n+1}$ . For all pairs  $(m, j) \neq (m', j')$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_{m,j}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{m',j'}$  are unlinked.

Given any formal portrait  $\mathcal{A} = \{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2, ..., \mathcal{A}_r\}$ , there exists  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$  and distinct angles  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{A}_j$  such that  $d_{\mathbb{S}^1}(\alpha, \beta)$  is uniquely minimal among all arc lengths  $d_{\mathbb{S}^1}(\alpha', \beta')$ where  $\alpha'$  and  $\beta'$  are distinct angles in some  $\mathcal{A}_{j'}$ . The pair  $(\alpha, \beta)$  is called the characteristic angle pair of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Moreover, the portrait  $\mathcal{A}$  can be reconstructed from  $(\alpha, \beta)$ , and we call  $\mathcal{A}$ the degree n orbit portrait generated by  $(\alpha, \beta)$ .

[EMS16, Theorem 2.12] states that given a formal degree -n portrait  $\mathcal{A} = \{\mathcal{A}_1, ..., \mathcal{A}_r\}$ and p as in point (4) above, there exists a PCF polynomial of the form  $f_{n,c}(z) = z^n + c$  such that

- 1.  $f_{n,c}$  is critically periodic with period rp, and
- 2.  $\mathcal{A}$  is the orbit portrait associated with the cycle  $(z_1, z_2, ..., z_r)$  of  $f_{n,c}$ , where, for each  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$ , the point  $z_j$  is the root of the Fatou component containing  $f_{n,c}^{\circ(j-1)}(c)$ .

The authors of [BFH92] carry out a combinatorial classification of critically pre-periodic polynomials of a given degree, in terms of angles landing on the orbit of the critical values. The following lemma sheds light on the relationship between characteristic angle pairs; while the result below was proved by Lavaurs for degree n = 2, it generalizes naturally to higher degrees.

**Lemma II.42** (Lavaurs' Lemma; [Lav86]). Let  $P_1 = (\theta_1, \theta'_1)$  and  $P_2 = (\theta_2, \theta'_2)$  be companion angle pairs with the same period k, and  $U_1, U_2$  be the hyperbolic components defined by  $P_1$ and  $P_2$ . If  $\theta_1 < \theta_2 < \theta'_2 < \theta_{2'}$ , then there exists a companion pair  $R_3 = (\theta_3, \theta'_3)$  with period < k such that such that

$$\theta_1 < \theta_3 < \theta_2 < \theta_2' < \theta_3' < \theta_1'$$

In other words,  $R_3$  separates  $R_1$  from  $R_2$ .

#### Internal addresses

**Definition II.43.** Let c be a critically periodic PCF parameter in  $\mathcal{M}_n$  with period k.

If  $c \neq 0$ , let  $R_1$  be the parameter ray pair of lowest period in  $\mathcal{M}_n$  that separates c from 0 (by Lemma II.42, there is exactly one ray pair whose period is lowest is among all ray pairs that separate 0 and c). Let  $s_1$  be the period of  $R_1$ . For  $n \geq 2$ , inductively define  $R_n$  to be the ray pair of lowest period that separates  $R_{n-1}$  from c, and let  $s_1$  be the period of  $R_n$ . This sequence ends after finitely many (say r) steps, with the last entry  $s_r = k$ . The *internal address* of c (and its hyperbolic component) is given by the sequence

$$s_0 = 1 \mapsto s_1 \mapsto s_2 \mapsto \cdots \mapsto s_r = k_r$$

**Example II.44.** For the quadratic rabbit parameter  $c \approx -0.122561 + 0.744862i$ , we have  $R_1 = (\frac{1}{7}, \frac{2}{7})$ , and  $s_1 = 3$ . The full internal address is in fact  $1 \mapsto 3$ .

It is proved in [BS08] showed that kneading sequences and internal addresses are equivalent. Given any sequence \*-periodic kneading sequence  $\nu$  in degree n, consider the function

$$\rho_{\nu} : \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \longrightarrow \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$$
$$\rho_{\nu}(k) = \begin{cases} \inf\{n > k : \nu_{n-k} \neq \nu_n\} & k \neq \infty\\ \infty & k = \infty \end{cases}$$

For any periodic PCF parameter c in  $\mathcal{M}_n$  with kneading sequence  $\nu$ , the internal address of c can be computed as the sequence  $1 \mapsto \rho_{\nu}(1) \mapsto \rho_{\mu}^{\circ 2}(1) \mapsto \cdots$ , upto the entry before  $\infty$ .

Note that the internal address of c can be used to determine if c is primitive or a satellite: c is primitive if and only if  $s_{r-1}$  does not divide  $s_r$ .

#### Generalised spiders

**Definition II.45.** Given  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ , a degree *n* generalised spider is a tuple (S, t) where  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $S \subset \mathbb{S}^2$  is an undirected planar graph satisfying the following properties:

- 1. The vertex set of S is  $\{t, \infty\} \cup \{a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_r\}$ , where the  $a_i$  are not necessarily distinct from each other, but are all distinct from t and  $\infty$ .
- 2. For each  $i \in \{1, 2, \dots, r\}$ , there is a unique edge given by a Jordan arc joining  $\infty$  and  $a_i$ .

3. The other edges are given by finitely many Jordan arcs  $\eta_1, \eta_2, \dots, \eta_n$  joining  $\infty$  and t which are pairwise disjoint.

Spiders are so named because of the resemblence with the eponymous insect perched on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  with the head placed at  $\infty$ . We will call each edge of S a 'leg'. We will always assume that the  $\eta_j$ 's are labelled so that  $\eta_1, \eta_2, \dots, \eta_n$  are in counterclockwise order at  $\infty$ .

**Definition II.46.** Given  $n, n' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ , let (S, t) and (S', t') be two generalised spiders, and  $W \subseteq S$  and  $W' \subseteq S'$  be connected subgraphs. The graphs W and W' are said to be *similar* if they satisfy the following properties:

- They have the same number of edges,  $t \in W$  if and only if  $t' \in W'$ , and if  $t \in W$ , then the local degree of W at t is equal to the local degree of W' at t'.
- There exists a relabelling of the  $\gamma$ -type edges in W and W' such that for any three legs, say  $\gamma_i, \gamma_j$  and  $\eta_k$  in W that are in counterclockwise order at  $\infty$ , the corresponding legs  $\gamma'_i, \gamma'_j$  and  $\eta'_k$  in W' are in counterclockwise order at  $\infty$ .

Remark II.47. We will often describe S and S' with a fixed labellings of their edges; if subgraphs W and W' are similar with respect to the given labelling on S and S', we say that W and W' are congruent.

**Definition II.48.** Given a generalised spider (S, t) as above, a spider map on (S, t) is a continuous map  $f: S \longrightarrow S$  that takes vertices to vertices and edges to edges, and satisfies the properties below:

There exists a relabelling of the edges set as  $\{\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \dots, \gamma_r\}$  (and the corresponding vertices  $a_i$ ), such that f additionally satisfies the following properties:

- 1.  $f(\infty) = \infty$  and  $f(t) = a_1$ ;
- 2. f maps  $\eta_j$  homeomorphically to  $\gamma_1$  for all  $j \in \{1, 2, \cdots, n\}$ ;
- 3. for  $j = 1, 2, \dots, r 1$ , f maps  $\gamma_j$ , homeomorphically to  $\gamma_{j+1}$ , and maps  $\gamma_r$  homeomorphically to  $\gamma_{\ell+1}$  for some  $\ell$ , or else maps  $\gamma_r$  homeomorphically to  $\eta_i$  for some i;
- 4. for each  $j \in \{1, 2, \dots, r\}$ , the map f preserves the circular order of all legs contained between  $\eta_j$  to  $\eta_{j+1 \pmod{r}}$ .

The above points imply that f has critical points t and  $\infty$ , and that the orbit of each critical point under f is finite. Condition (3) above also implies that  $\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus f(S)$  is an open topological disk.

A spider map  $f: S \to S$  as in the above definition can be extended in the way outlined in the following remark (Remark II.49) to a polynomial Thurston map. Recall that in Appendix A, we explore graphs embedded in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . We can similarly think of graphs embedded on the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$ ; this includes graphs that contain the point at infinity.

Remark II.49. Suppose G and G' are graphs embedded on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  such that  $U = \mathbb{S}^2 \setminus G$  and  $U' = \mathbb{S}^2 \setminus G'$  are open topological disks. Let f be a homeomorphism from G to G'; we show a way to extend f to a homeomorphism of  $\mathbb{S}^2$ .

There exist homeomorphisms  $\varphi : \mathbb{D} \to U$  and  $\psi : \mathbb{D} \to U'$  such that  $\varphi$  extends to a branched cover of degree 2 from  $\partial \mathbb{D}$  to G, and  $\psi$  extends to a branched cover of degree 2 from  $\partial \mathbb{D}$  to G' (this becomes clear when we think of  $\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus G$  as cutting the plane along G; the boundary of the new region contains two copies of G).

Then there exists a homeomorphism h of  $\partial \mathbb{D}$  such that the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \partial \mathbb{D} & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \partial \mathbb{D} \\ & \downarrow^{\varphi} & & \downarrow^{\psi} \\ G & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & G' \end{array}$$

Using Proposition A.5, extend h to  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ , and define, for all  $z \in U$ ,  $f(z) = \psi \circ \varphi^{-1}$ . This extends f as a homeomorphism of  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . For different choices of  $\varphi$ ,  $\psi$ , we get different extensions of f; however, by Proposition A.5, any two such extensions are isotopic rel G. This process is also known as the Alexander trick.

By following the construction in Remark II.49 on every connected component of  $\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus S$ , we extend any spider map  $f: S \longrightarrow S$  to  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . Since there are *n* such connected components, and the closure of each component maps onto  $\mathbb{S}^2$ , we see that this newly defined map *f* has degree *n*. By restricting it to  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , we get a polynomial Thurston map.

**Proposition II.50.** Given two maps  $f: S \to S$  and  $g: S' \to S'$ , where (S,t) and (S',t') have the same degree, if there exists a homeomorphism  $h: S \to S'$  such that

- 1.  $h(\infty) = \infty$  and h(t) = t',
- 2. h preserves the circular order of legs at  $\infty$ ,
- 3.  $h(P_f) = P_g$ , and  $(g|S') \circ h = h \circ (f|S)$ ,

then the extended Thurston maps f, g on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  are Thurston equivalent.

*Proof.* Since h preserves the circular order of legs, by using the Alexander trick on each component of  $\mathbb{S}^2 \setminus S$ , the map h can be extended to a homeomorphism from  $\mathbb{S}^2$  to  $\mathbb{S}^2$ ; note

that each connected component of  $S^2 \backslash S$  maps under h homeomorphically onto a connected component of  $S^2 \backslash S'$ . Let D be an open connected component of  $S^2 \backslash S'$ . On D, let  $\tilde{g} = h^{-1} \circ f \circ h$ . Since  $\tilde{g}$  agrees with g on  $\partial D$ , it is isotopic to g relative to  $\partial D$ . We can similarly define  $\tilde{g}$  on every connected component of  $\mathbb{S}^2 \backslash S'$  to get a map  $\tilde{g}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  such that  $\tilde{g} \circ h = h \circ f$ , with  $\tilde{g}$ isotopic to g rel.  $P_g$ .

**Proposition II.51.** Given two spider maps  $f : S \to S$  and  $g : S' \to S'$ , where (S,t) and (S',t') have the same degree, assume that their edge sets are labelled so that f and g satisfy conditions (1)-(4) in Definition II.48.

If S and S' are congruent, then f and g extended to  $\mathbb{R}^2$  are Thurston equivalent.

Proof. Let h be a homeomorphism that maps  $\infty$  to  $\infty$ , t to t',  $\gamma_i$  to  $\gamma'_i$  for all  $i \in \{1, 2, \dots, r\}$ and  $\eta_j$  to  $\eta'_j$  for all  $j \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ . It is clear that h preserves the circular order of legs at  $\infty$ . Moreover, h can be defined so that  $h \circ f | S = (g | S') \circ h$ . Therefore the statement follows from Proposition II.50.

#### Standard spiders for unicritical polynomials

Fix  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$ .

A spider for  $p_{n,\lambda}$  is an invariant graph in its dynamical plane, from which we can recover several of its dynamical properties. While a comprehensive theory for spiders is described in [Hub16, Chapter 10], in this section, we restrict our approach to generalised spiders on the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$  that can be used to construct a topological model (i.e., a Thurston map) that is combinatorially equivalent to  $p_{n,\lambda}$ . The construction here generalizes that presented in [HS94] and [Hub16, Chapter 10] for n = 2.

**Definition II.52.** Let  $\theta \in \Theta_n(\lambda)$ .

• If  $\theta$  is pre-periodic under  $\mu_n$ , the standard degree n spider of  $\theta$  is defined as

$$\widehat{S}_n(\theta) := \bigcup_{j \ge 1} \{ r \exp(2\pi i n^{j-1} \theta) : r \in [1, \infty] \}$$

- Else if  $\theta$  is periodic under  $\mu_n$  with period k, the standard spider  $\hat{S}_n(\theta)$  is the union of the above set and  $\{r \exp(2\pi i n^{k-1}\theta) : r \in [0,1]\}$ .
- The extended degree n spider  $\widehat{S}_n^{ext}(\theta) := S_n(\theta) \cup \bigcup_{j=0}^{n-1} \{r \exp(\frac{2\pi i(\theta+j)}{n}) : r \in [0,\infty]\}.$

In the sense of Definition II.45, we note that  $(\hat{S}_n^{ext}(\theta), 0)$  is a generalized spider.



(a) The standard spider  $\hat{S}_2\left(\frac{17}{240}\right)$ . The curve (b) The quotient spider  $S_2\left(\frac{17}{240}\right)$ . The Levy  $\gamma$  forms a Levy cycle  $\gamma$  has been contracted to a point

Figure 2.4: Spiders in degree 2

Figure 2.4a shows an example of a standard degree 2 spider. Note that there exists a natural map  $\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{n,\theta}: \hat{S}_n^{ext}(\theta) \longrightarrow \hat{S}_n(\theta)$  that simulates the map  $\mu_n$  on  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ :

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{n,\theta}(r\exp(2\pi it)) = \begin{cases} \infty & r = \infty \\ \exp(2\pi i\theta) & r = 0 \\ r\exp(2\pi int) & nt \neq \theta \\ (r+1)\exp(2\pi i\theta) & nt = \theta \end{cases}$$

For  $\theta$  periodic under  $\mu_n$  with period k, the definition of  $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{n,\theta}$  is the same as above, but we additionally let  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}(r \exp(2\pi i n^{k-2}\theta)) = (r-1)\exp(2\pi i n^{k-1}\theta)$  for all  $r \ge 1$ . With this definition, it is clear that 0 is periodic under  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$ .

The only critical points of  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$  are  $0, \infty$ , each with local degree *n*. By the Alexander trick, we can extend  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$  to a *n*-sheeted branched self-cover of  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . As shown in [HS94] and [Hub16, Chapter 10], if  $\theta$  is an angular coordinate for  $\lambda$ ,

- if  $\theta$  is periodic,  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$  is Thurston equivalent to  $p_{n,\lambda}$ ;
- if  $\theta$  is pre-periodic,  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$  is realized if and only if the eventual period of  $\theta$  under  $\mu_n$  is equal to the eventual period of  $\lambda$  under  $p_{n,\lambda}$ . If this equality holds, then  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$  is Thurston equivalent to  $p_{n,\lambda}$ .

Suppose that  $\theta$  has pre-period  $\ell \ge 1$  and period  $k \ge 1$  under  $\mu_n$ , and k is strictly larger than the eventual period k' of  $\lambda$  under  $p_{n,\lambda}$ . Then for each  $m \ge \ell$ , the points of the form  $\exp(2\pi i n^m \theta), \exp(2\pi i n^{m+k'} \theta), \exp(2\pi i n^{m+2k'} \theta)$ , etc, all have the same itinerary with respect to  $\theta$ . By drawing loops around all points that share an itinerary, we obtain a Levy cycle Cfor  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$ . Moreover, this is the only Levy cycle up to homotopy relative to the postsingular set of  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}$ .

In this case, we form a new topological polynomial by contracting each curve in C to a point. More precisely, form a quotient surface of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  by shrinking each region in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  bounded by some  $\gamma \in C$  to a point (we always assume 0 is mapped to 0 in this quotient construction). This gives rise to quotient graphs  $S_n\theta$  and  $S_n^{ext}(\theta)$  of the standard and extended spiders respectively. The pair  $(S_n^{ext}(\theta), 0)$  is a generalized degree n spider. While this quotient construction is dependent on C, we will assume that we have made a choice of C for every  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  (it is also easy to see that the quotient spiders for different choices of C are congruent).

Given the above construction,  $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{n,\theta}$  descends to a map  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta} : S_n^{ext}(\theta) \longrightarrow S_n(\theta)$ , which in turn can be extended to a topological polynomial  $\mathcal{F}_n(\theta) : \mathbb{S}^2 \to \mathbb{S}^2$  using the Alexander trick, unique upto isotopy rel  $S_n^{ext}(\theta)$ . This extension is Thurston equivalent to  $p_{n,\lambda}$ .

When  $\theta$  is known, we let  $x_1$  denote the equivalence class of  $\exp(2\pi i\theta)$  in  $S_n(\theta)$ , and let  $x_j = \mathcal{F}_{n,\theta}^{\circ(j-1)}(x_1)$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ .

#### **II.4.2:** Combinatorics of postsingularly finite exponentials

#### Spiders

Given a strictly pre-periodic external address  $\underline{s}$ , we recall the construction of the spider graph  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  in [LSV08, Section 5.1] here, with some slight modifications. Let  $\ell$  and k be the pre-period and period of  $\underline{s}$  respectively under the left-shift map  $\mu : \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}}$ .

First, we extend  $\mathbb{C}$  to a bigger space  $\mathbb{C}^{ext} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\hat{e}_{-\infty}, \hat{e}_{+\infty}\}$ , and declare, for every  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , the sets  $\{\hat{e}_{-\infty}\} \cup \{Re(z) < r\}$  and  $\{\hat{e}_{+\infty}\} \cup \{Re(z) > r\}$  to be open. We can think of  $\hat{e}_{+\infty}$  and  $\hat{e}_{-\infty}$  as points at  $+\infty$  and  $-\infty$  respectively. With this topology, it is clear that the space  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$  is Hausdorff.

Now let  $\hat{e}_1 = 0$ . For every  $m \in \{2, 3, \dots, \ell + k\}$ , define points  $\hat{e}_m \in \mathbb{C}$  so that  $\operatorname{Re}(\hat{e}_m) = 0$ , and

1. 
$$\operatorname{Im}(\widehat{e}_m) \in ((2s_m - 1)\pi, (2s_m + 1)\pi);$$

2. for  $m \neq m'$ ,  $\operatorname{Im} \widehat{e}_m < \operatorname{Im} \widehat{e}_{m'}$  if  $\mu^{\circ m}(\underline{s}) < \mu^{\circ m'}(\underline{s})$ , and  $\widehat{e}_m = \widehat{e}_{m'}$  if  $\mu^{\circ m}(\underline{s}) = \mu^{\circ m'}(\underline{s})$ .

The second condition implies that if  $m > \ell + k$ , we can think of the point  $\hat{e}_m$  as  $\hat{e}_{m-k}$ . For every  $m \in \{1, 2, \dots, \ell + k\}$ , also define  $\gamma_m$  as the closure of the horizontal ray  $\{\operatorname{Re}(z) \ge 0, \operatorname{Im}(z) = \operatorname{Im} \hat{e}_m\}$  in  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$  (this is in fact equal to  $\{\operatorname{Re}(z) \ge 0, \operatorname{Im}(z) = \operatorname{Im} \hat{e}_m\} \cup \{\hat{e}_{+\infty}\}$ ). Further, for each  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $p_m$  be the closure of the horizontal line  $\{\operatorname{Im}(z) = (2r - 1)\pi\}$  in  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$  (this is simply  $\{\operatorname{Im}(z) = (2r - 1)\pi\} \cup \{\hat{e}_{+\infty}, \hat{e}_{-\infty}\}$ ).



Figure 2.5: The standard spider  $\hat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  and the quotient  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  corresponding to the external address  $\underline{s} = 000(-1)\overline{0010}$ 

The standard exponential spider and its corresponding extended spider of  $\underline{s}$  are respectively defined as follows:

$$\widehat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s}) = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\ell+k} \gamma_m$$
$$\widehat{S}_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s}) = \widehat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s}) \cup \bigcup_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} p_r$$

We mark the points in  $\{\hat{e}_{+\infty}, \hat{e}_{-\infty}\} \cup \{\hat{e}_1, \hat{e}_2, \cdots, \hat{e}_{\ell+k}\}$  as vertices of the spiders above (note that  $\hat{e}_{-\infty}\} \notin \hat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$ ). Also observe that  $\mathbb{C}^{ext} \setminus \hat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  is a topological surface that is homeomorphic to an open topological disk. We will often call an edge in either of the graphs above a 'leg'.

As for polynomials, we define a 'spider map'  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}: \widehat{S}^{ext}_{\infty}(\underline{s}) \longrightarrow \widehat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  as follows:

$$\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}(z) = \begin{cases} 0 & z = \widehat{e}_{-\infty} \\ \widehat{e}_{+\infty} & z = \widehat{e}_{+\infty} \\ \operatorname{Re}(z) + \widehat{e}_{m+1} & \operatorname{Im}(z) = \widehat{e}_m \text{ for some } m \in \{1, 2, \dots \ell + k\} \\ \exp(\operatorname{Re}(z)) + \widehat{e}_1 & z \in p_r \text{ for some } r \in \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

We note that  $\hat{F}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  satisfies the following properties:

•  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$ , and has two branch points,  $\widehat{e}_{+\infty}$  and  $\widehat{e}_{1}$ .

- for every  $m \in \{1, 2, \dots, \ell + k 1\}$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}(\widehat{e}_m) = \widehat{e}_{m+1}$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  maps  $\gamma_m$  homeomorphically to  $\gamma_{m+1}$
- for every  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  maps  $p_r$  homeomorphically to  $\gamma_1$ .

Next, we construct a transcendental Thurston map from  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,s}$ .

For each  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ , consider the connected component  $U_r$  of  $\mathbb{C}^{ext} \setminus \widehat{S}^{ext}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  bounded by  $p_r$  and  $p_{r+1}$ . It is evident that the closure of  $U_r$  in  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$  is homeomorphic to a closed topological disk.

By this discussion and the definition of  $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$ , it is clear that we can use the Alexander trick to extend  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  to a continuous map from  $\overline{U_r} \cup \{\widehat{e}_{+\infty}, \widehat{e}_{-\infty}\}$  to  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$  that maps  $U_r$ homeomorphically to  $\mathbb{C}^{ext} \setminus \widehat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$ . Doing this for every  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  can be extended to a continuous map from  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$  to  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$ .

From this point, we will restrict this map to  $\mathbb{C}$ . We see that  $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{\infty,\underline{s}} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  is open and has discrete fibers. Furthermore,  $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  is locally injective at  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  if and only if  $z \notin p_r$ for any  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If  $z \notin \cup_r p_r$ , then by definition,  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  is locally an orientation-preserving homeomorphism at z. Following from this, we also see that  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}} : \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C} \setminus \{\widehat{e}_1\}$  is a universal covering, and that  $\widehat{e}_1$  is an asymptotic value for  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$ .

To summarize, this discussion shows that  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  is topologically holomorphic. It is also postsingularly finite: the postsingular set is  $\{\widehat{e}_1, \widehat{e}_2, \cdots, \widehat{e}_{\ell+k}\}$ . We may regard it as a map from  $\mathbb{R}^2$  to  $\mathbb{R}^2$  by forgetting the standard complex structure. We use the following proposition to show that  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}: \mathbb{R}^2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$  is of stable parabolic type, and is therefore a Thurston map.

**Proposition II.53.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{a\}$  be a universal cover for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . Then f has stable parabolic type.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}_{flat}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . Then by the Uniformization Theorem, there exists a biholomorphism  $\varphi$  from the Riemann surface  $(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathcal{A})$  to the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ . For a unique  $X \in \{\mathbb{C}, \mathbb{D}\}$ , there exists a biholomorphism  $\psi : (\mathbb{R}^2, f^*\mathcal{A}) \to X$ . Then the map  $\varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1} : X \to \mathbb{C}$  would be a universal cover, and this is possible only if  $X = \mathbb{C}$ .

We can also identify if the map  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  is realized holomorphically. We recall that the parameter ray at address  $\underline{s}$  lands at a unique PSF parameter  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ . [LSV08] showed that

- if the eventual period of the orbit of  $\lambda$  is k, then  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  is Thurston equivalent to  $p_{\lambda}$ ;
- if the eventual period of the orbit of  $\lambda$  is k' < k, then  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}$  has a Levy cycle C; it can be described as a multicurve  $\{\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \cdots, \gamma_{k'}\}$  where, for each  $m \in \{1, 2, \cdots, k'\}$ , the loop  $\gamma_m$  surrounds  $\{\widehat{e}_{\ell+m}, \widehat{e}_{\ell+m+k'}, \cdots, \widehat{e}_{\ell+m+k}\}$ .

However, by collapsing this Levy cycle we may form a map Thurston equivalent equivalent to  $p_{\lambda}$ . Formally, form a quotient space of  $\mathbb{C}^{ext}$  by collapsing each region in  $\mathbb{C}$ 

bounded by a loop in C to a point; this induces quotient graphs  $S_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s})$  and  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  of the extended and standard exponential spiders respectively. Then  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}|\widehat{S}_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s})$  descends to a map  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}: S_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s}) \longrightarrow S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$ . In other words, the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\widehat{S}^{ext}_{\infty}(\underline{s}) & \xrightarrow{\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{\infty,\underline{s}}} & \widehat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s}) \\
& \downarrow^{\pi} & \downarrow^{\pi} \\
S^{ext}_{\infty}(\underline{s}) & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}} & S_{\infty}(\underline{s})
\end{array}$$

Here  $\pi$  is the quotient map that describes collapsing C.

By a similar discussion as for  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}_{,\infty,\underline{s}}$ , this map  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$  can be extended to a Thurston map defined on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , and moreover, this extension is combinatorially equivalent to  $p_{\lambda}$ .

Note that the quotient construction in the point above can be done for any  $\underline{s}$ , and so the graph  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  is well-defined for all pre-periodic addresses  $\underline{s}$ . We define the legs of  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  to be the images of the legs of  $\hat{S}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$ , and we will call them by the same names (i.e.,  $p_r$  or  $\gamma_m$ ). When  $\underline{s}$  is evident, we let  $e_n$  denote the class of  $\hat{e}_n$  in  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$ , and let  $A_{\underline{s}} = \{e_1, \dots, e_{\ell+k}\}$ . We note that  $|A_s| \ge 2$  for all adresses  $\underline{s}$ .

Consider a line  $\beta = \{y = b\}$  disjoint from all the legs of  $\hat{S}_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s}) \cap \mathbb{C}$ , where *b* is chosen so that  $b < \operatorname{Im} \hat{e}_m$  if and only if  $\overline{0} < \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s})$ , and  $\beta$  is bound between  $p_r$  and  $p_{r+1}$ if  $r\overline{0} < \beta < (r+1)\overline{0}$ . The line  $\beta$  represents the lexicographic position of the external address  $\overline{0}$ : note that  $\mu^{\circ(n-1)}(\underline{s}) < \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s})$  if and only if, starting from  $\gamma_n$  and moving counterclockwise in a neighborhood of  $\infty$ , we can reach  $\gamma_m$  without intersecting  $\beta$ . This gives a circular order of the legs of  $\hat{S}_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s})$  (and correspondingly, on  $S_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s})$ ), which can be shown to be independent of *b*.

#### Poset structure on $\mathcal{P}_n$ and $\mathcal{P}$

We can use parameter rays to define partial orders on the spaces  $\mathcal{P}_n$  and  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Fix  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$ . In  $\mathcal{P}_n$ , we say that  $\lambda \triangleleft \hat{\lambda}$  if there exist angles  $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in \Theta_n(\lambda)$  and  $\hat{\theta} \in \Theta_n(\hat{\lambda})$  such that  $\theta_1 < \hat{\theta} < \theta_2$ , and the parameter rays  $R_n(\theta_1)$  and  $R_n(\theta_2)$  land at the same point of  $\mathcal{M}_n$ .

Similarly, in  $\mathcal{P}$ , we say that  $\lambda \triangleleft \hat{\lambda}$  if there exist external addresses  $\underline{s}_1, \underline{s}_2 \in \Theta_{\infty}(\lambda)$  and  $\underline{\hat{s}} \in \Theta_{\infty}(\hat{\lambda})$  such that  $\underline{s}_1 < \underline{\hat{s}} < \underline{s}_2$  and the parameter hairs corresponding to  $\underline{s}_1$  and  $\underline{s}_2$  land together in  $\Lambda$ .

# CHAPTER III Convergence of Thurston Maps

In this chapter, we introduce various notions of convergence for sequences of Thurston maps. We provide two different points of view (see Definitions III.2 and III.7), and show that they are equivalent.

Afterward, we give a construction that allows us to approximate, in an appropriate sense, an arbitrary transcendental Thurston map by a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps (Proposition IV.15). We use these results to establish Main Theorem I.4. For the notation for topological objects used here, we refer to Appendix A.1.

### **III.1:** Combinatorial convergence

Our first criterion is combinatorial convergence. This is a condition on how a sequence of Thurston maps  $f_n : (\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  lift loops in  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$ , which we regard as elements of  $\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A)$ . We will want to quantify curves that eventually lift to loops under  $f_n$  (i.e., loops that belong to  $(f_n)_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A))$  for all *n* sufficiently large). So we first introduce a notion of convergence for subgroups of  $\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A)$ .

More generally, we use the following notion of convergence, in the sense of Chabauty ([Cha50]), of sequences of subgroups of a given group.

**Definition III.1.** Let G be a group endowed with the discrete topology and  $(H_n)$  be a sequence of its subgroups. We say that the sequence  $(H_n)$  converges to a subgroup H of G and write  $\lim_{n\to\infty} H_n = H$  if for every  $g \in G$ , there exists  $N = N(g) \in \mathbb{N}$  so that if  $g \in H$ , then for every  $n \ge N$ ,  $g \in H_n$ ; and if  $g \notin H$ , then  $g \notin H_n$  for every  $n \ge N$ .

**Definition III.2.** Let  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}, n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of Thurston maps. We say that the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges combinatorially to a Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  if there exist points  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A \ b \in f^{-1}(t), \ b_n \in f_n^{-1}(t)$  and paths  $p_n \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

• 
$$f_n(b_n) = f(b) = t \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N};$$

- $p_n(0) = b$  and  $p_n(1) = b_n \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N};$
- for every  $[\gamma] \in \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A, t)$ , the following hold:
  - 1. The lifts  $\gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n)$  eventually have the same closing behavior as  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$  (Definition A.2). Equivalently,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (f_n)_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A), b_n) = f_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b),$$

in the sense of Definition III.1.

2. If  $\gamma \in f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$ , then for all *n* sufficiently large, the closed curves  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$ and  $p_n \cdot (\gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n)) \cdot p_n^{-1}$  are homotopic rel *A*.

## **III.2:** Independence from isotopy

**Proposition III.3.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a finite set. Two Thurston maps  $f, \hat{f} : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  are isotopic rel. A if and only if there exist points  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$ ,  $b \in f^{-1}(t)$  and  $\hat{b} \in \hat{f}^{-1}(t)$  where the following conditions hold:

- 1.  $f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b) = \hat{f}_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \hat{f}^{-1}(A), \hat{b});$
- 2. there exists a path  $p \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  with p(0) = b and  $p(1) = \hat{b}$  such that for all  $\gamma \in f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$ , the loop  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$  is homotopic to  $p \cdot \gamma \uparrow (\hat{f}, \hat{b}) \cdot \overline{p}$ .

Before we prove this proposition, we formulate a simple observation.

**Lemma III.4.** Suppose  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is finite with  $|A| \ge 2$ , and  $\varphi$  is an orientation-preserving homeomorphism such that  $\varphi(b) = t$  for some  $b, t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$ . Then  $\varphi$  is isotopic rel. A to  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  if and only if there exists a path  $p \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  joining b with t such that every loop  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  based at b is homotopic rel. A to  $p \cdot (\varphi \circ \gamma) \cdot \overline{p}$ .

*Proof.* ( $\implies$ ): Suppose that  $\varphi$  is isotopic rel. A to  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  via an isotopy  $(\varphi_s)_{s\in\mathbb{I}}$ , where  $\varphi_0 = \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ and  $\varphi_1 = \varphi$ . Define  $p: \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  as  $p(s) = \varphi_s(b)$  for each  $s \in \mathbb{I}$ . Then it is evident that for any loop  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  based at b and  $p \cdot (\varphi \circ \gamma) \cdot \overline{p}$  are homotopic rel. A via a homotopy  $H_s := p_s \cdot (\varphi_s \circ \gamma) \cdot \overline{p_s}$ , where  $p_s$  is a subpath of p joining b with  $\varphi_s(b)$  for every  $s \in \mathbb{I}$ .

 $( \Leftarrow )$ : Now suppose that there exists a path  $p \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  joining b with t such that every loop  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  based at b is homotopic rel. A to  $p \cdot (\varphi \circ \gamma) \cdot \overline{p} \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$ . Taking  $\gamma$  to be a loop separating a unique point  $a \in A$  from the other points of A and using continuity of  $\varphi$ , we can show that  $\varphi(a) = a$  for each  $a \in A$ . The rest follows from Theorem II.20.  $\Box$  Proof of Proposition III.3. ( $\Longrightarrow$ ): First suppose that  $\hat{f} = f \circ \varphi$  for some  $\varphi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$ and choose a point  $b \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A)$ . Let  $\hat{b} = \varphi(b)$  and t = f(b). Given any loop  $\gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A, t)$ , we note that  $\gamma \uparrow (\hat{f}, \hat{b}) = \varphi(\gamma \uparrow (f, b))$ . This immediately proves item (1). For  $r \in \mathbb{I}$ , let  $\varphi_r \in$  $\text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  be such that  $\varphi_0 = \text{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  and  $\varphi_1 = \varphi$ . Define continuous maps  $p_r : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{I}$  as  $s \mapsto \varphi_{sr}(b)$ . Then  $p_r(0) = b$  and  $p_r(1) = \varphi_r(b)$ . Letting  $p = p_1$ , it is evident that for all  $\gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$ , the map  $r \mapsto p_r \cdot \varphi_r(\gamma \uparrow (f, b)) \cdot \overline{p_r}$  is a homotopy (rel. A) between  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$  and  $p \cdot \gamma \uparrow (\hat{f}, \hat{b}) \cdot \overline{p}$ .

 $( \Leftarrow )$ : Now conversely, suppose the conditions (1) and (2) above are satisfied for some  $b, \hat{b}, t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  and path p as above. Due to condition (1), there exists a homeomorphism  $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A) \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \hat{f}^{-1}(A)$  such that the following diagram commutes:



Since  $f^{-1}(A)$  is discrete, we can extend  $\varphi$  to a homeomorphism from  $\mathbb{R}^2$  to  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Let  $\gamma \in f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A, b)$ . By the diagram above, we have  $\varphi(\gamma) = f(\gamma) \uparrow (\hat{f}, \hat{b})$ . Due to condition (2), we know that  $\gamma = f(\gamma) \uparrow (f, b) \sim_A p \cdot \varphi(\gamma) \cdot \overline{p}$ . In particular, for any  $a \in A$ , we can take  $\gamma$  above to be a loop separating a from every other point of A. The discussion above shows that  $\varphi(a) = a$  for all  $a \in A$ , and by Theorem II.20.

**Proposition III.5.** Let  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}, n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of Thurston maps that converges combinatorially to a Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ . If  $\hat{f}_n, \hat{f}: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  are Thurston maps such that  $\hat{f}_n$  is isotopic to  $f_n$  rel. A for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\hat{f}$  is isotopic to f rel. A, then  $(\hat{f}_n)$  converges combinatorially to  $\hat{f}$ .

Proof. Let  $\varphi_n, \varphi \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  be such that  $f_n = \hat{f}_n \circ \varphi_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f = \hat{f} \circ \varphi$ . By assumption, there exist points  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$ ,  $b \in f^{-1}(t)$ ,  $b_n \in f_n^{-1}(t)$  and paths  $p_n \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that all the conditions of Definition III.2 are satisfied. Let  $\hat{b}_n = \varphi_n(b_n)$ , and  $\hat{b} = \varphi(b)$ . Then, by Proposition III.3,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\hat{f}_n)_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \hat{f}_n^{-1}(A), \hat{b}_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (f_n)_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A), b_n)$$
$$= f_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$$
$$= (\hat{f})_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \hat{f}^{-1}(A), \hat{b}).$$

Also by Proposition III.3, there exist paths  $\hat{p}_n, \hat{p} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  with  $\hat{p}_n(0) = b_n$  and  $\hat{p}_n(1) = \hat{b}_n$ 

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and a path  $\hat{p}$  with  $\hat{p}(0) = b$  and  $\hat{p}(1) = \hat{b}$  such that for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\forall \gamma \in (f_n)_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A), b_n), \text{ the loop } \gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n) \sim_A \widehat{p}_n \cdot \gamma \uparrow (\widehat{f}_n, \widehat{b}_n) \cdot \overline{\widehat{p}_n} \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}, \\ \forall \gamma \in f_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b), \text{ the loop } \gamma \uparrow (f, b) \sim_A \widehat{p} \cdot \gamma \uparrow (\widehat{f}, \widehat{b}) \cdot \overline{\widehat{p}}.$$

Then for every  $\gamma \in (\widehat{f})_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \widehat{f}^{-1}(A), b)$ , for all sufficiently large  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\gamma \uparrow (\hat{f}, \hat{b}) \sim_A \overline{\hat{p}} \cdot \gamma \uparrow (f, b) \cdot \hat{p}$$
$$\sim_A \overline{\hat{p}} \cdot (p_n \cdot \gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n) \cdot \overline{p_n}) \cdot \hat{p}$$
$$\sim_A (\overline{\hat{p}} \cdot p_n \cdot \hat{p}_n) \cdot \gamma \uparrow (\hat{f}_n, \hat{b}_n) \cdot (\overline{\hat{p}_n} \cdot \overline{p_n} \cdot \hat{p})$$

This shows that  $(\hat{f}_n)$  converges combinatorially to  $\hat{f}$ .

#### Convergence to a polynomial Thurston map

If the limiting map f of a combinatorially convergent sequence  $(f_n)$  is of finite degree, then we show that the maps  $f_n$  form a constant approximation up to isotopy.

**Proposition III.6.** Let  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \leq n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of Thurston maps converging combinatorially to a Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \leq .$  If f is a topological polynomial, then for all sufficiently large n,  $f_n$  is isotopic to f rel. A.

Proof. Choose points  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$ ,  $b \in f^{-1}(t)$ ,  $b_n \in f_n^{-1}(t)$  and paths  $p_n \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  that satisfy the conditions of Definition III.2. Since f is a topological polynomial,  $f^{-1}(A)$  is a finite set, and the group  $f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$  is finitely generated. Let  $\Gamma = \{\gamma_1, \gamma_2, ..., \gamma_k\}$  be a generating set for  $f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$ .

Since the maps  $f_n$  converge to f combinatorially, for sufficiently large n, the set  $\Gamma$  is a subset of  $(f_n)_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2\backslash f_n^{-1}(A), b_n)$ , and thus,  $f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2\backslash f^{-1}(A), b)$  is a subgroup of  $(f_n)_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2\backslash f_n^{-1}(A), b_n)$ . From the classical theory of covering maps, there exists a covering map  $\varphi_n : \mathbb{R}^2\backslash f^{-1}(A) \to \mathbb{R}^2\backslash f_n^{-1}(A)$  such that the following diagram commutes:

$$(\mathbb{R}^{2}\backslash f^{-1}(A), b) \xrightarrow{\varphi_{n}} (\mathbb{R}^{2}\backslash f_{n}^{-1}(A), b_{n})$$

$$f \qquad \qquad \downarrow f_{n}$$

$$(\mathbb{R}^{2}\backslash A, t)$$

In particular, deg( $\varphi_n$ ) and deg( $f_n$ ) are bounded above by deg(f) for all n sufficiently large. Let  $\alpha \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  be a simple loop based at t such that the unique bounded component of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \alpha$  contains the set A. Proposition II.8 implies that for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the lift  $\alpha^{\ell} \uparrow (f, b)$  is a loop if and only if deg(f) divides  $\ell$ . A similar statement holds for the topological polynomials  $f_n$  as

well. Thus, condition (1) implies that  $\deg(f) = \deg(f_n)$  for all sufficiently large n. Hence, the covering map  $\varphi_n \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A) \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A)$  is an orientation-preserving homeomorphism and, therefore, it can be extended to  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Finally, condition (2) and Lemma III.4 imply that  $\varphi_n$  is isotopic rel. A to  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ .

## **III.3:** Topological convergence

Now we move on to our second notion of convergence. Throughout this section, we assume  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is a finite set.

**Definition III.7.** Let  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \leq n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of Thurston maps. We say that  $(f_n)$  converges topologically to the Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \leq$  if for every compact set  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for  $n \geq N$ , we have  $f_n | D \equiv f | D$ .

It is easier to establish  $\sigma_{f_n} \to \sigma_f$  if the  $f_n$  converge topologically to f. However, to establish that every transcendental Thurston map f, that there exists a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps that converge combinatorial approximations. But by showing the equivalence of combinatorial and topological convergence up to isotopy, we sidestep this difficulty.

**Proposition III.8.** Let  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}, n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of Thurston maps. Then  $(f_n)$  converges combinatorially to a Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  if and only if there exists a sequence of Thurston maps  $\hat{f}_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  converging topologically to f, where  $\hat{f}_n$  is isotopic rel. A to  $f_n$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Before we prove Proposition III.8 we need to obtain the following result of non-dynamical nature.

**Proposition III.9.** Suppose that  $f_n : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  are topologically holomorphic maps in class S such that  $S_{f_n} = S_f = A$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $b, b_n \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  be points such that  $f_n(b_n) = f(b) = t$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Further suppose that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (f_n)_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A), b_n) = f_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b).$$

Then for every bounded domain  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  containing b, for sufficiently large n, there exists a continuous injective map  $\varphi_n \colon D \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$  such that the following diagram commutes:





Figure 3.1: Top: the co-domain of  $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(\exp(z^2) - 1)$  along with its postsingular set  $\{a_1, a_2, a_3\}$ ; Bottom: an illustration of D', where D is the shaded region bounded by the dotted loop

*Proof.* Let D be as above. Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $\partial D \cap f^{-1}(A) = \emptyset$ . Choose a simple continuous curve  $\omega \colon [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^2$  such that  $\omega$  passes through all points of A,  $\omega(0) \in A$ , and  $\lim_{t \to \infty} \omega(t) = \infty$ .

Claim 1. Let  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded set and  $W \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a closed locally connected set. Then, only finitely many connected components of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(W)$  intersect K.

Proof of Claim 1. Suppose there exist distinct connected components  $E_1, E_2, \ldots, E_n, \ldots$  of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(W)$  intersecting K. Pick an arbitrary point  $x_n \in E_n \cap K$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We may assume without loss of generality that the sequence  $(x_n)$  converges to  $x \in \overline{K} \cap f^{-1}(W)$ . Thus, any neighbourhood of x intersects infinitely many connected components of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(W)$ , which leads to a contradiction since W is locally connected and f is topologically holomorphic.

Claim 2. There exists a bounded domain  $D' \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  containing D such that for every connected component F of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(\omega)$ , the set  $D' \cap F$  is connected (perhaps, empty).

*Proof of Claim 2.* For every  $a \in A \cup \{\infty\}$  we choose a set  $U_a$  such that

- 1.  $U_a = \overline{D(a, r_a)}$  for some  $r_a > 0$ , and  $U_{\infty} = \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus V_{\infty}$ , where  $V_{\infty}$  is an open ball containing A,
- 2.  $U_a \cap U_{\hat{a}} = \emptyset$  if  $\hat{a} \in A \cup \{\infty\}$  is distinct from a, and
- 3. every connected component of  $f^{-1}(U_a)$  is either contained in D or disjoint from it.

The last condition can be satisfied if we pick the values  $r_a$  to be sufficiently small and  $U_{\infty}$ sufficiently far from f(D). Indeed, due to the previous claim, D intersects with finitely many connected components of  $f^{-1}(U_a)$  for every  $a \in A \cup \{\infty\}$ , and  $\partial D \cap f^{-1}(A) = \emptyset$ . Thus, the rest easily follows from Propositions II.7 and II.8.

Let  $U := \bigcup_{a \in A \cup \{\infty\}} U_a$  and  $W_F := F \setminus f^{-1}(U)$  for every connected component F of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(\omega)$ . Therefore,

$$(W_F \cup D) \cap F = W_F \cup \left(D \cap (W_F \cup (F \cap f^{-1}(U)))\right)$$
$$= W_F \cup (D \cap F \cap f^{-1}(U))$$
$$= W_F \cup \bigcup_{\substack{a \in A \cup \{\infty\}\\F \cap f^{-1}(U_a) \subset D}} F \cap f^{-1}(U_a).$$

By Proposition II.8, the map  $f|F: F \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \omega$  is a homeomorphism. Thus,  $W_F$  is connected, and for every  $a \in A \cup \{\infty\}$ ,  $F \cap f^{-1}(U_a)$  is a connected set whose boundary intersects  $W_F$ . This discussion implies that the set  $(W_F \cup D) \cap F$  is connected. Therefore,  $D' := D \cup \bigcup_{F:F \cap D \neq \emptyset} W_F$  is an open set such that  $D' \cap F$  is connected for every connected component F of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(\omega)$ . The set D' is connected since  $W_F \cap D = \emptyset$  if and only if  $F \cap D = \emptyset$ . At the same time, D' is bounded since each  $W_F = F \cap f^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus (U \cup \omega))$ is bounded by Proposition II.7, only finitely many regions F intersect D.

See Figure 3.1 for a depiction of D' for the map  $G_2$  from Example II.16. Due to the claims above, there exists a positive integer m such that for all  $x \in D' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$ , the point b can be joined to x by a path contained in  $D' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  and intersecting  $f^{-1}(\omega)$  at most m times.

Denote by  $P_{\omega,k}$  the set of elements of  $\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A, t)$  that can be represented by a loop  $\alpha : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  such that  $|\alpha^{-1}(\omega)| \leq k$ . Clearly,  $P_{\omega,k}$  is finite for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Now we construct a continuous map  $\varphi_n \colon D' \to \mathbb{R}^2$  and prove its injectivity as required. Let D'' be an open Jordan region containing D'. Since the group  $f_*\pi_1(D'' \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$  is finitely generated, then by our initial assumptions in this proposition, it is a subgroup of  $(f_n)_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A), b_n)$  for all n sufficiently large. Therefore, there exists a continuous map  $\varphi_n \colon D'' \setminus f^{-1}(A) \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A)$  such that  $f = f_n \circ \varphi_n$  on  $D'' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  and  $\varphi_n(b) = b_n$ . We prove that the map  $\varphi_n$  is injective on  $D' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  for all n sufficiently large.

Suppose  $\varphi_n$  is not injective for some n, choose distinct points  $x_1, x_2 \in D' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  such that  $\varphi_n(x_1) = \varphi_n(x_2)$ . We join b with  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  by simple paths  $\alpha_1 : \mathbb{I} \to D' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  and  $\alpha_2 : \mathbb{I} \to D' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  in  $D' \setminus f^{-1}(A)$ , respectively, so that  $|\alpha_1^{-1}(f^{-1}(\omega))|, |\alpha_2^{-1}(f^{-1}(\omega))| \leq m$ . Let  $\gamma := f \circ \alpha_1 \cdot \overline{f \circ \alpha_2}$ . By definition,  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$  is not a loop; however,  $\gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n)$  is the loop  $\varphi_n \circ \alpha_1 \cdot \overline{\varphi_n \circ \alpha_2}$ . Thus,

$$[\gamma] \in G_n := P_{\omega,2m} \cap \left( (f_n)_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_n^{-1}(A), b_n) \setminus f_* \pi(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), b) \right).$$

Since  $P_{\omega,2m}$  is a finite set, if  $\varphi_n$  fails to be injective for infinitely many n, then there exists  $[\hat{\gamma}] \in \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A, t)$  such that  $[\hat{\gamma}] \in G_n$  for infinitely many n. This, however, is not possible since for all n large enough,  $[\hat{\gamma}] \notin (f_n)_* \pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), t)$ .

Finally, since  $f^{-1}(A)$  and  $f_n^{-1}(A)$  are discrete subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , we can extend  $\varphi_n$  to a continuous injective map defined on D' such that  $f = f_n \circ \varphi_n$  on D' and  $\varphi_n(b) = b_n$  for all sufficiently large n.

Proof of Proposition III.8. If the sequence  $(\hat{f}_n)$  converges topologically to f, then it does so combinatorially with respect to  $t, b, (b_n), (p_n)$ , where  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  and  $b \in f^{-1}(t)$  are arbitrary,  $b_n := b$  and  $p_n$  is a constant loop based at b for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, Proposition III.5 implies that the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges combinatorially to f. Now suppose that the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges combinatorially to f with respect to some choice of  $(b_n), b, t$  and  $(p_n)$ . Let  $(D_m)_m$  be an exhaustion of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  by closed topological disks containing A and b in their interiors for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then for sufficiently large n let m = m(n) be the maximal index such that

- 1. there exists a continuous injective map  $\varphi_n \colon D_m \to \mathbb{R}^2$  such that  $f|D_m = f_n \circ \varphi_n$  and  $\varphi_n(b) = b_n$ ;
- 2. for every loop  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  based at t such that  $[\gamma] \in f_*\pi_1(D_m \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$ , the lifted loops  $\gamma \uparrow (f, b)$  and  $p_n \cdot \gamma \uparrow (f_n, b_n) \cdot \overline{p_n}$  are homotopic rel. A.

These conditions hold for sufficiently large n because of Definition III.2, Proposition III.9 and the fact that  $f_*\pi_1(D_m \setminus f^{-1}(A), b)$  is finitely generated. Moreover, it is easy to show that m(n) converges to infinity as n tends to infinity.

Now we can extend  $\varphi_n$  to an orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\widehat{\varphi}_n$  of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . In fact, by the Alexander trick, all such extensions of  $\varphi_n$  are isotopic to each other rel.  $D_m$ . Clearly, if  $\gamma \subset D_m \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  is a loop based at b, then  $\varphi_n \circ \gamma$  is a  $f_n$ -lift (based at  $b_n$ ) of  $f \circ \gamma$ . In particular,  $\gamma \sim_A p_n \cdot (\widehat{\varphi}_n \circ \gamma) \cdot \overline{p_n}$  for every loop  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  based at b. Thus, the homeomorphism  $\widehat{\varphi}_n$  is isotopic rel. A to  $id_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  by Proposition III.3.

Now consider the sequence  $(\hat{f}_n)$  of Thurston maps, where  $\hat{f}_n = f_n \circ \hat{\varphi}_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Clearly,  $(\hat{f}_n)$  converges topologically to f.

## **III.4:** Convergence of Thurston pullback maps

In this section we use the theory developed in this chapter so far to establish Theorem I.4. We assume throughout that  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is finite.

**Proposition III.10.** Let  $\tau_n, n \in N$  and  $\tau$  be points in  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ . Suppose there exist representatives  $\varphi_n \in \tau_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\varphi \in \tau$  such that  $\varphi(\infty) = \infty$  and  $\varphi_n(\infty) = \infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  uniformly on compact sets of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Then  $d_T(\tau_n, \tau) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we may assume that there exists  $a \in A$  such that  $\varphi_n(a) = \varphi(a)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

By the given conditions, in the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ , we note that  $[[\varphi_n]] \to [[\varphi]]$ . Therefore, there exists a sequence of homeomorphisms  $q_n \in \operatorname{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  such that  $d_{\mathcal{T}}([\varphi_n \circ q_n^{-1}], [\varphi]) \to 0$ . Equivalently, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a quasiconformal map  $k_n : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  isotopic to  $\varphi_n \circ q_n^{-1} \circ \varphi^{-1}$  rel.  $A \cup \{\infty\}$ , such that  $K(k_n) \to 1$  as  $n \to \infty$ . For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $M_n$  be the unique Möbius map satisfying  $M_n(\infty) = \infty$ ,  $M_n(b) = b$ , and  $M_n(\varphi_n \circ \varphi^{-1}(\hat{b})) = \hat{b}$  for some  $\hat{b} \in \varphi(A) \setminus \{b\}$ . Then  $(M_n \circ k_n)$  is a sequence of quasiconformal maps that fix the three points  $\infty, b$  and  $\hat{b}$ ; and  $K(M_n \circ k_n) \to 1$ . By Proposition II.5,  $M_n \circ k_n \to \mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$  uniformly on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{\infty, b, \widehat{b}\}$ . Note that  $M_n \to \mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$  uniformly on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{\infty, b, \widehat{b}\}$ . Note that  $M_n \to \mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$  uniformly on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{\infty, b, \widehat{b}\}$ . But then we have  $\langle q_n \rangle = \langle \varphi^{-1} \circ k_n^{-1} \circ \varphi_n \rangle = \langle \varphi^{-1} \circ k_n^{-1} \circ \varphi \circ \varphi^{-1} \circ \varphi_n \rangle \to \langle \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{S}^2} \rangle$  in PMCG( $\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\}$ ). Since this is a discrete group we must have  $\langle q_n \rangle = \langle \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{S}^2} \rangle$  eventually, thereby proving the proposition.

**Proposition III.11.** Let  $\tau, \tau_n \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ . Suppose there exist representatives  $\varphi_n \in \tau_n$ and  $\varphi \in \tau$  such that  $\varphi, \varphi_n : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  are orientation-preserving homeomorphisms, and for each open set  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  with compact closure, the map  $(\varphi_n \circ \varphi^{-1}) \mid \varphi(D)$  is holomorphic for all  $n \ge N_D$ . Then  $d_T(\tau_n, \tau) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\psi_n = \varphi_n \circ \varphi^{-1}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Without loss of generality, we may assume D is an open disk. We also assume that D is large enough so that  $\mathbb{D}(a, 1) \subset D$  for every  $a \in A$ . Suppose without loss of generality that for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $b \in \varphi(A)$  such that  $\psi_n(b) = b$  and  $\psi'_n(b) = 1$  for some  $b \in \varphi(A)$ . Due to Proposition III.10, it suffices to establish the following:

Claim 1. The sequence  $(\psi_n)$  converges locally uniformly on  $\varphi(D)$  to  $\mathrm{id}_{\varphi(D)}$ .

In order to establish the above, we first prove a preliminary statement:

Claim 2. If  $z_0 \in \varphi(D)$  satisfies  $\psi_n(z_0) \to z_0$  and  $\psi'_n(z_0) \to 1$ , then given r > 0 such that  $D(z_0, r) \subset \varphi(D)$ , the sequence of maps  $\left(\psi_n | D(z_0, \frac{r}{16})\right)$  converges locally uniformly to  $\mathrm{id}_{D(z_0, \frac{r}{16})}$ .

Proof of Claim 2. Let  $h_n(z) = M_n \circ \psi_n$ , where  $M_n(z) = \frac{1}{\psi'_n(z_0)}(z - \psi_n(z_0)) + \psi_n(z_0)$ . Then  $h_n(z_0) = z_0$  and  $h'_n(z_0) = 1$ . Let r > 0 be such that  $D(z_0, r) \subset \varphi(D)$ . Then by the Koebe 1/4-theorem, there exists  $N = N_D \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $D(z_0, \frac{r}{4}) \subset h_n(D(z_0, r))$  for all  $n \ge N$ . Consider the sequence  $(h_n^{-1}|D(z_0, \frac{r}{16}))$ . Again by the Koebe 1/4-theorem, we see that  $D(z_0, \frac{r}{16}) \subset h_n^{-1}(D(z_0, \frac{r}{4}))$  for all  $n \ge N_D$ .

Thus we get the sequence  $h_n|D(z_0, \frac{r}{16}) : D(z_0, \frac{r}{16}) \hookrightarrow D(z_0, \frac{r}{4})$  satisfying  $h_n(z_0) = z_0, h'_n(z_0) = 1$  for all  $n \ge N$ . By Montel's theorem, every subsequence of this sequence has a subsequence that converges to  $\mathrm{id}_{D(z_0, \frac{r}{16})}$  locally uniformly. Therefore,  $h_n|D(z_0, \frac{r}{16}) \to \mathrm{id}_{D(z_0, \frac{r}{16})}$  locally uniformly. Since  $\psi_n = M_n^{-1} \circ h_n$  and  $M_n$  converges to  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}}$  locally uniformly, this proves the claim.

Proof of Claim 1. Let U be the set of points  $z \in \varphi(D)$  such that  $(\psi_n)$  converges locally uniformly to  $\mathrm{id}_{U_z}$  on some neighborhood  $U_z$  of z. By Claim 1, U is an open set, and we see that  $b \in U$ .

Suppose  $U \neq \varphi(D)$ , there exists a point  $\hat{z} \in \partial U$  and r > 0 such that  $D(\hat{z}, r) \subset \varphi(D)$ . We can also choose a point  $z_0 \in U \cap D(\hat{z}, \frac{r}{2})$  such that  $16|\hat{z} - z_0| < \frac{r}{2}$ . Then for any  $\delta$  such that  $16|\hat{z} - z_0| < \delta < \frac{r}{2}$ , we observe that  $D(z_0, \frac{\delta}{16})$  is contained in D but not in U. By Claim 1, however,  $D(z_0, \frac{\delta}{16}) \subset U$ .

**Proposition III.12.** Let  $f_n : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of Thurston maps that converge combinatorially to a Thurston map  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ . For every  $\tau \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ ,  $d_T(\sigma_{f_n}(\tau), \sigma_f(\tau_n)) \to 0$ .

*Proof.* Due to Proposition II.29 and III.8, we may assume without loss of generality that the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges topologically to f. Let  $\varphi \in \tau$  such that  $\varphi(\infty) = \infty$ .

Then there exist maps  $\psi \in \sigma_f(\tau)$ ,  $\psi_n \in \sigma_{f_n}(\tau)$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and entire maps g and  $g_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that the following diagrams commute:

$$(\mathbb{R}^{2}, A) \xrightarrow{\psi} (\mathbb{C}, \psi(A))$$

$$\downarrow^{f} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{g}$$

$$(\mathbb{R}^{2}, A) \xrightarrow{\varphi} (\mathbb{C}, \varphi(A))$$

$$(\mathbb{R}^{2}, A) \xrightarrow{\psi_{n}} (\mathbb{C}, \psi(A))$$

$$\downarrow^{f_{n}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{g_{n}}$$

$$(\mathbb{R}^{2}, A) \xrightarrow{\varphi} (\mathbb{C}, \varphi(A))$$

By Proposition III.12, it suffices to show that for any open set  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  with compact closure, the map  $\psi_n \circ \psi^{-1} | \psi(D)$  is holomorphic for all *n* sufficiently large.

Let  $\hat{D} = \psi(D)$ . Then there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $n \ge N$ ,  $f_n | D \equiv f | D$ .

Fix an  $n \ge N$ . Let  $z_0$  be a point in  $\widehat{D}$  such that  $z_0 \notin g^{-1}(\varphi(A))$ . Since the point  $y_0 := \varphi^{-1}(g(z)) \notin A$ , there exists a local inverse  $h : V_{y_0} \to \mathbb{R}^2$  for f in a neighborhood  $V_{y_0} \ni y$  such that  $x_0 := h(y_0) = \psi^{-1}(z_0)$  and  $h(V_{y_0}) \subset D$ . Moreover,  $\varphi(f_n(x_0)) = \varphi(f(x_0)) = g(z_0)$ . Since  $g(z_0) \notin \varphi(A)$ , there exists a local inverse  $k_n : \widehat{V}_n \to \mathbb{C}$  for  $g_n$  in a neighborhood  $\widehat{V}_n$  of  $g(z_0)$  such that  $k_n(g(z_0)) = z_0$ . Let  $U_n$  be a neighborhood of  $z_0$  such that  $g(U_n) \subset \widehat{V}_n$  and  $\varphi^{-1} \circ g(U_n) \subset V_{y_0}$ . Then for every  $z \in U_n$ ,

$$\psi_n \circ \psi^{-1}(z) = (k_n \circ \varphi \circ f_n) \circ (h \circ \varphi^{-1} \circ g)(z)$$
$$= k_n \circ \varphi \circ (f_n \circ h) \circ (\varphi^{-1} \circ g)(z)$$
$$= k_n \circ g(z).$$

The last equality is due to the fact that the point  $\varphi^{-1} \circ g(z)$  is in  $V_{y_0}$ , and since  $f_n$  and f coincide on D, we have  $f_n \circ h \equiv \mathrm{id}_{V_{y_0}}$ .

The above discussion shows that  $\psi_n \circ \psi^{-1}$  is holomorphic at every point in  $\widehat{D} \setminus g^{-1}(\varphi(A))$ . Since  $\widehat{D}$  is compact, the intersection  $\widehat{D} \cap g^{-1}(\varphi(A))$  is a finite set. Moreover,  $\psi_n \circ \psi^{-1}(D) \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  has compact closure. Therefore,  $\psi_n \circ \psi^{-1}$  extends to a holomorphic map on  $\widehat{D}$ . Since this is true for all  $n \ge N$ , the proposition follows.  $\Box$ 

Now fix a Thurston map  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and let  $f_n : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  be a sequence of entire Thurston maps that converge topologically to f.

**Proof of Theorem I.4.** We first show that  $(\sigma_{f_n})$  converges to  $\sigma_f$  pointwise. Given  $\tau = [\varphi] \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \infty)$ , let  $\sigma_f(\tau) = [\psi]$  and  $\sigma_{f_n}(\tau) = \tau_n = [\psi_n]$ , where  $\psi, \psi_n, \varphi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  are orientation-preserving homeomorphisms for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Given any compact set  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $f_n | D = f | D$  for all  $n \ge N$ . In particular,  $\psi_n \circ \psi^{-1}$  is holomorphic on  $\varphi(D)$ . By Proposition III.12, we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_f(\tau), \sigma_{f_n}(\tau)) = 0.$$

Next we show that the convergence  $\sigma_{f_n} \to \sigma_f$  is in fact locally uniform on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ . Let  $K \subset T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  be a compact set. Given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , cover K by open balls  $B_1, B_2, \ldots, B_k$  each of radius  $\varepsilon/3$ , with  $B_j$  centered at  $\mu_j \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  for each  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ .

Since  $(\sigma_{f_n})$  converges to  $\sigma_f$  pointwise, for sufficiently large n, the distance  $d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_{f_n}(\mu_j), \sigma_f(\mu_j))$ is bounded above by  $\varepsilon/3$  for each  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ . Hence, for sufficiently large n and any  $\mu \in K$  we have

$$d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_{f_n}(\mu), \sigma_f(\mu)) \leqslant d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_{f_n}(\mu), \sigma_{f_n}(\mu_j)) + d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_{f_n}(\mu_j), \sigma_f(\mu_j)) + d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_f(\mu_j), \sigma_f(\mu)) \leqslant \varepsilon.$$

Here j is chosen so that  $d_{\rm T}(\mu, \mu_j) \leq \varepsilon/3$ . We also use the fact that all  $\sigma$ -maps above are 1-Lipschitz (see Proposition II.24).

**Corollary III.13.** Let  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a realized Thurston map and  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}, n \in \mathbb{N}$ be a sequence of Thurston maps converging combinatorially to f. Then  $f_n$  is realized for sufficiently large n. Moreover, letting  $\tau_n \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  be a unique fixed point of  $\sigma_{f_n}$ , we have  $\tau_n \to \tau$ , where  $\tau$  is the fixed point of  $\sigma_f$ .

*Proof.* If f is a polynomial Thurston map, by Remark II.25 and Proposition III.6, the equality  $\sigma_{f_n} = \sigma_f$  holds for sufficiently large n.

Now suppose that f is transcendental. Let  $B \subset T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  be a closed ball of radius r > 0 centered at  $\tau$ , the fixed point of  $\sigma_f$ . Since B is closed and bounded, it is compact.

Proposition II.24 implies the existence of  $\varepsilon_B > 0$  such that the inequality  $d_T(\sigma_f(\mu_1), \sigma_f(\mu_2)) \leq (1 - \varepsilon_B) d_T(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  is satisfied for all  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in B$ . Thus, for any  $\mu \in B$  we have the following:

(III.4.1) 
$$d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_{f_n}(\mu), \tau) \leq d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_{f_n}(\mu), \sigma_f(\mu)) + d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_f(\mu), \tau) \leq \varepsilon_n + (1 - \varepsilon_B)r,$$

where we know by Main Theorem I.4 that  $\varepsilon_n \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . In other words,  $\sigma_{f_n}(B) \subset B$ for all sufficiently large n. By Proposition II.24,  $\sigma_{f_n}^{\circ 2}$  is uniformly contracting on B and, therefore, by the Banach fixed point theorem, when n is large enough, the map  $\sigma_{f_n}$  has a fixed point  $\tau_n \in B$ .

Lastly, similar to inequality (III.4.1), we have

$$d_{\mathrm{T}}(\tau_n,\tau) \leqslant d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_{f_n}(\tau_n),\sigma_f(\tau_n)) + d_{\mathrm{T}}(\sigma_f(\tau_n),\sigma_f(\tau)) \leqslant \varepsilon_n + (1-\varepsilon_B)d_{\mathrm{T}}(\tau_n,\tau).$$

This shows that the sequence  $(\tau_n)$  converges to  $\tau$ .

# CHAPTER IV Admissible Quadruples

In this chapter, we show how to construct topologically holomorphic maps in class S from a covering map between a pair of regular planar embedded graphs. In subsequent sections, we will use this construction to define Thurston maps. The foundational theory of planar graphs we use here is explored in Appendix A.2.

## IV.1: Rose graphs and quadruples

Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a directed rose graph based at t that surrounds a finite set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  (see Definition A.7), and suppose |A| = m. For  $a \in A$ , let  $p_a$  be the edge of  $\mathcal{R}$  that surrounds A, and let  $P_a$  be the bounded face of  $\mathcal{R}$  containing a. Also denote by  $P_{\infty}$  the unique unbounded face of  $\mathcal{R}$ .

Let  $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a 2*m*-regular and connected graph, and  $\Phi : \Gamma \to \mathcal{R}$  be a covering map such that  $\Phi(v) = t$  for all  $v \in V(\Gamma)$  and  $\Phi(e) \in E(\mathcal{R})$  for all  $e \in E(\Gamma)$ . The graph  $\Gamma$  can be assumed to be a directed graph with the orientation induced by the map  $\Phi$  (see Appendix A.2).

Let us assume that  $m \ge 2$ . Consider an arbitrary face  $F \in F(\Gamma)$ . We label F by  $P_a$  if  $\Phi(\partial F) = \{p_a\}$ . If no such a exists (or equivalently, the image  $\Phi(\partial F)$  spans at least two petals of  $\mathcal{R}$ ), we label F by  $P_{\infty}$ . We denote by  $\Gamma^*$  the directed planar embedded graph obtained by subdividing each edge of  $\Gamma$  (see Definition A.8).

**Definition IV.1.** Let  $A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi$  be as above. Label the points of A as  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_m$  such that the edges  $p_{a_1}, p_{a_2}, \dots, p_{a_m}$  are arranged in counterclockwise order around t. We say that the quadruple  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  is *admissible* if m = 1, or

- 1. every face F of  $\Gamma$  labeled by  $P_{\infty}$  is unbounded, and
- 2. for each  $v \in V(\Gamma)$ , the set of edges of  $\Gamma^*$  at v (both incoming and outgoing) can be written in the counterclockwise order as  $e_1 = e_{2m+1}, e_2, e_3, \cdots, e_{2m}$  such that the following conditions are satisfied for each  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ :

- $e_{2j-1}$  is incoming at v and  $e_{2j}$  is outgoing at v;
- there exists  $F \in F(\Gamma)$  labelled by  $P_{a_i}$  such that  $e_{2j-1}, e_{2j} \in \partial F$ ;
- there exists  $F' \in F(\Gamma)$  labelled by  $P_{\infty}$  such that  $e_{2j}, e_{2j+1} \in \partial F'$ .

Remark IV.2. Suppose that  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  is an admissible quadruple and F is a face of  $\Gamma$ . If F is not labelled by  $P_{\infty}$ , then clearly,  $\partial F$  is a counterclockwise directed cycle if F is bounded, and is otherwise an infinite directed chain. If F is labelled by  $P_{\infty}$ , then  $\partial F$  is a unilaterally connected graph (see Definition A.10).

## IV.2: Functions on $\mathbb{R}^2$ from quadruples

Natural examples of admissible quadruples are preimages of rose graphs under entire topologically holomorphic maps in class S. More precisely, suppose that  $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  is topologically holomorphic and rose graph  $\mathcal{R}$  surrounds the set A, where  $S_f \subset A$ . Denote by  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f)$ the quadruple  $(A, \mathcal{R}, f^{-1}(\mathcal{R}), \Phi_{\mathcal{R}, f})$ , where  $\Phi_{\mathcal{R}, f}(x) = f(x)$  for each  $x \in f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$ .

**Proposition IV.3.** Let f, A, and  $\mathcal{R}$  be as above. Then  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f)$  is an admissible quadruple. Moreover, if  $m \ge 2$ , then for each face F of  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  the following properties hold:

- 1. if F is bounded and labeled by  $P_a$  for some  $a \in A$ , then  $f(F) = P_a$  and  $|F \cap f^{-1}(A)| = 1$ . If  $|V(\partial F)| = 1$ , then F does not contain any critical points of f and f|F is injective, otherwise, F contains a unique critical point  $x_F$  with  $\deg(f, x_F) = |V(\partial F)|$ ;
- 2. if F is unbounded and labeled by  $P_a$  for some  $a \in A$ , then  $f(F) = P_a \setminus \{a\}$  and  $F \cap f^{-1}(A) = \emptyset$ . In particular,  $a \in S_f$  and F is an asymptotic tract of f over a;
- 3. if F is labeled by  $P_{\infty}$ , then  $f(F) = P_{\infty}$  and  $F \cap f^{-1}(A) = \emptyset$ . In particular, f restricts to a universal covering map from F to  $P_{\infty}$ .

Proof. First, we show that  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  is connected. Consider any two distinct vertices u and v of  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$ . There exists a path  $\alpha \colon \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  joining u and v. Note that  $f \circ \alpha$  is a loop in  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  based at t. Label A as  $a_1, \ldots, a_m$  such that  $p_{a_1}, \ldots, p_{a_m}$  are counterclockwise around t. Assuming that each  $p_{a_j}$  is parameterized by  $\alpha_{a_j} \colon \mathbb{I} \to p_{a_j}$ , it follows that  $f \circ \alpha$  is homotopic to a loop  $\gamma = \gamma_1 \cdot \gamma_2 \cdots \cdot \gamma_k$  rel. A, where  $\gamma_\ell \in \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_m, \overline{\alpha_1}, \overline{\alpha_2}, \ldots, \overline{\alpha_m}\}$  for each  $\ell \in \{1, 2, \cdots, k\}$ . By the homotopy lifting property, the path  $\alpha$  is homotopic rel.  $f^{-1}(A)$  to  $\tilde{\gamma} := \gamma \uparrow (f, u)$ . In particular,  $\tilde{\gamma}$  joins u with v. Since  $\tilde{\gamma} \subset f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$ , the vertices u and v belong to the same connected component of  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$ .

Proposition II.8 implies that every face of  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  labeled by  $P_{\infty}$  is unbounded. Finally, the regularity of  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  and admissibility of  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f)$  follow from the fact that f is locally injective and orientation-preserving at every  $v \in V(f^{-1}(\mathcal{R}))$ . Thus, the quadruple  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f)$  is admissible.

The rest of the statement easily follows from Propositions II.7 and II.8.

Remark IV.4. Let  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  be an admissible quadruple with  $m = |E(\mathcal{R})| = 1$ . In this case,  $\Gamma$  is a counterclockwise directed cycle or an infinite directed chain. It is easy to see that there exists a map f such that  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f) = \Delta$  satisfying  $f = \varphi \circ g \circ \psi^{-1}$  for some orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi, \psi \colon \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ , where  $g(z) = z^d$  if  $d = |V(\Gamma)| < \infty$ , and  $g(z) = \exp(z)$  if  $\Gamma$  is infinite. In particular, using Proposition II.14, we can formulate a statement close in spirit to Proposition IV.3 for the case m = 1.

Now assume that  $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  is an arbitrary topologically holomorphic map such that  $S_f \subset A$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f) = \Delta$ . Since  $\mathcal{R}$  is a deformation retract of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  and  $\Gamma$  is a deformation retract of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  as Proposition IV.3 suggests, for any  $v \in V(\Gamma)$ , we see that  $f_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A), v) = \Phi_*\pi_1(\Gamma, v)$ , and

$$\Phi_*\pi_1(\Gamma, v) = \{ [\Phi(\delta_1) \cdot \Phi(\delta_2) \cdot \dots \cdot \Phi(\delta_\ell)] : \text{ each } \delta_i \text{ is a path parameterizing an edge of } \Gamma, \\ \text{ and } \delta_1 \cdot \delta_2 \cdot \dots \cdot \delta_\ell \text{ is a loop in } \Gamma \text{ based at } v \}.$$

Now suppose that  $\gamma$  is a loop based at the center of the rose graph  $\mathcal{R}$  such that  $\gamma$  is homotopic to  $\gamma_1 \cdot \gamma_2 \cdots \cdot \gamma_k$  rel. A, where  $\gamma_j \in \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_m, \overline{\alpha_1}, \overline{\alpha_2}, \ldots, \overline{\alpha_m}\}$  and  $\alpha_j$  is a parametrization of  $p_j$  for each  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ . If we know  $\Phi$ , we can easily reconstruct  $\gamma \uparrow (f, v)$  for any vertex  $v \in V(\Gamma)$  up to homotopy rel.  $f^{-1}(A)$ .

The following result is the converse to Proposition IV.3:

**Proposition IV.5.** Let  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  be an admissible quadruple. Then there exists a topologically holomorphic map  $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  of finite type such that  $S_f \subset A$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f) = \Delta$ .

*Proof.* When |A| = 1, the desired result follows from Remark IV.4. Thus, we assume  $|A| \ge 2$  and give an outline of the construction.

First, we define f on  $\Gamma$  simply by setting  $f|\Gamma := \Phi$ . Choose orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi_{P_j} \colon \mathbb{D} \to P_j$  and  $\varphi_{P_{\infty}} \colon \mathbb{H} \to P_{\infty}$ . Similarly, since each face F of  $\Gamma$  is simply connected, choose an orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\psi_F : X \to F$  where  $X = \mathbb{D}$  if Fis bounded, and  $X = \mathbb{H}$  if F is unbounded.

Given a face F with label  $P \in F(\mathcal{R})$ , we define f|F so that

1. if F is bounded, then 
$$f|F := \varphi_P \circ g_d \circ \psi_F^{-1}$$
, where  $d = |V(\partial F)|$  and  $g_d(z) = z^d$ ;

2. if F is unbounded, then  $f|F := \varphi_P \circ \exp \circ \psi_F^{-1}$ .

Due to admissibility conditions and Remark IV.2, the sets of homeomorphisms  $\{\varphi_P\}_{P \in F(\mathcal{R})}$ and  $\{\psi_F\}_{F \in F(\Gamma)}$  can be chosen so that the map f we construct above is continuous. Finally, one can show that f acts locally as a power map  $z \mapsto z^d$  for some  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , and that  $S_f \subset A$ . Thus, f is topologically holomorphic, has finite type, and satisfies  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f) = \Delta$ .

**Definition IV.6.** Two admissible quadruples  $\Delta_1 = (A, \mathcal{R}_1, \Gamma_1, \Phi_1)$  and  $\Delta_2 = (A, \mathcal{R}_2, \Gamma_2, \Phi_2)$ are said to be *equivalent* if there exist  $\psi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  and  $\varphi \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  such that

- 1.  $\psi$  is an isomorphism between  $\mathcal{R}_1$  and  $\mathcal{R}_2$ ;
- 2.  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism between  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ ;
- 3.  $\psi \circ \Phi_1 = \Phi_2 \circ \varphi$ .

It is easy to see that Definition IV.6 provides an equivalence relation on the set of all admissible quadruples with a fixed marked set.

**Proposition IV.7.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be finite, and  $\mathcal{R}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{R}_2$  be rose graphs surrounding A such that  $\mathcal{R}_1$  isotopic to  $\mathcal{R}_2$  rel. A. Let  $f_1: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $f_2: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  be topologically holomorphic maps such that  $S_{f_1} \subset A$  and  $S_{f_2} \subset A$ . Then  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_1, f_1)$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_2, f_2)$  are equivalent if and only if there exists a map  $\psi \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  such that  $f_1 = f_2 \circ \psi$ .

Moreover, if  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are holomorphic, and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_1, f_1)$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_2, f_2)$  are equivalent, then the map  $\psi$  is an affine transformation.

Proof. Suppose that the admissible quadruples  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_1, f_1)$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_2, f_2)$  are equivalent. Due to Proposition II.6 we can assume that  $\mathcal{R}_1 = \mathcal{R}_2 = \mathcal{R}$  and that the equivalence between  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_1, f_1)$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_2, f_2)$  is provided by  $\psi = \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  and an orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\varphi$ . By pre-composing  $f_2$  with  $\varphi$  we can further assume  $\psi = \varphi = \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ , or equivalently,  $\Delta(A, f_1, \mathcal{R}_1) = \Delta(A, f_2, \mathcal{R}_2) = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$ . Then by the previous discussions, we have that

$$(f_1)_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_1^{-1}(A), v) = \Phi_*\pi_1(\Gamma, v) = (f_2)_*\pi_1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_2^{-1}(A), v)$$

for every  $v \in V(\Gamma)$ . By the classical theory of covering maps, there exists an orientationpreserving homeomorphism  $\psi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_1^{-1}(A) \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_2^{-1}(A)$  such that  $f_1 = f_2 \circ \psi$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f_1^{-1}(A)$ . Since  $f_1^{-1}(A)$  is a discrete subset of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , we can extend  $\psi$  to  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , still satisfying  $f_1 = f_2 \circ \psi$ .

Conversely, let us suppose there exists  $\psi \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  such that  $f_1 = f_2 \circ \psi$ . By our assumptions on  $\mathcal{R}_1$  and  $\mathcal{R}_2$ , we can find  $\psi \in \text{Homeo}^+_0(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  such that  $\psi(\mathcal{R}_1) = \mathcal{R}_2$ . Then



Figure 4.1: Admissible quadruple realized by  $g_1(z) = \cos(z)$ .

by Proposition II.6, there exists  $\varphi \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  such that  $\psi \circ f_1 = f_2 \circ \varphi$ , and the rest easily follows.

If  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are holomorphic, any homeomorphism  $\psi$  satisfying  $f_1 = f_2 \circ \psi$  is holomorphic, and therefore affine.

We say that a topologically holomorphic map  $f \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  realizes an admissible quadruple  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  or, equivalently,  $\Delta$  defines f, if  $S_f \subset A$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f)$  is equivalent to  $\Delta$ . In particular, Propositions IV.5 and IV.7 imply that every admissible quadruple  $\Delta$  defines an entire topologically holomorphic map f of finite type, which is unique up to pre-composition by an orientation-preserving homeomorphism.

Note that an admissible quadruple  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  is a combinatorial object even though  $\Phi$  is a continuous map. In fact, to define the map  $\Phi$  uniquely (up to a certain notion of equivalence introduced below), it is sufficient to know the images  $\Phi(e), e \in E(\Gamma)$  and the orientation of the graph  $\Gamma$  induced by  $\Phi$ . Indeed, suppose that  $\Psi \colon \Gamma \to \mathcal{R}$  is a covering map such that  $\Psi(v) = t$  for each vertex  $v \in V(\Gamma)$ ,  $\Phi(e) = \Psi(e)$  for each edge  $e \in E(\Gamma)$ , and the orientations of  $\Gamma$  induced by the maps  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  coincide. In this case, it is clear that there exists a homeomorphism  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to \Gamma$  isotopic rel.  $V(\Gamma)$  to  $\mathrm{id}_{\Gamma}$  such that  $\Psi = \Phi \circ \varphi$ . In particular, the orientation of the graph  $\Gamma$  and the images of its edges under the map  $\Phi$ uniquely define the equivalence class of the admissible quadruple  $\Delta$ .

The language of admissible quadruples provides a convenient way of thinking about entire topologically holomorphic (and holomorphic) maps of finite type, which we demonstrate in the following example.

**Example IV.8.** Let  $A = \{-1, 1\}$  be the set represented by solid black squares at the top of Figure 4.1. Denote by  $\mathcal{R}_1$  and  $\Gamma_1$  the planar embedded graphs shown at the top and bottom of Figure 4.1, respectively. The map  $\Phi_1 \colon \Gamma_1 \to \mathcal{R}_1$  is a covering that maps each edge of  $\Gamma_1$  to the unique edge of  $\mathcal{R}_1$  of the same color. Arrows on the edges of the graphs  $\mathcal{R}_1$  and  $\Gamma_1$ 



Figure 4.2: Admissible quadruple realized by  $g_2(z) = 2 \exp(z^2) - 1$ .

indicate the orientations of the corresponding graphs. It is straightforward to check that  $\Delta_1 = (A, \mathcal{R}_1, \Gamma_1, \Phi_1)$  is an admissible quadruple, which is realized by the map  $g_1(z) = \cos(z)$ . Thus, any entire holomorphic map realizing  $\Delta_1$  has the form  $\cos(az + b)$  for some constants  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $a \neq 0$ .

Figure 4.2 is analogous to Figure 4.1, and provides another example  $\Delta_2 = (A, \mathcal{R}_2, \Gamma_2, \Phi_2)$ of an admissible quadruple. This quadruple can be shown to be realized by the map  $g_2(z) = 2 \exp(z^2) - 1$ . In particular, the planar embedded graph  $\Gamma_2$  has two unbounded faces that correspond to the asymptotic tracts of  $g_2$  over  $w_0 = 1$ , two unbounded faces that correspond to the asymptotic tracts of  $g_2$  over  $\infty$ , and the only face with the boundary consisting of two edges, corresponding to the unique critical point of  $g_2$  (see Proposition IV.3).

**Definition IV.9.** Let  $\Delta$  be an admissible quadruple. If every topologically holomorphic map  $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  realizing  $\Delta$  is of parabolic type, then we say that  $\Delta$  is *parabolic*. If every such map f is hyperbolic, then  $\Delta$  is called *hyperbolic*.

Proposition IV.7 implies that every admissible quadruple is either parabolic or hyperbolic. Moreover, from Proposition II.2, it follows that every parabolic admissible quadruple  $\Delta$  with
a marked set A defines an entire holomorphic map of finite type with  $S_f \subset A$ , which is unique up to pre-composition with an affine transformation.

**Definition IV.10.** An admissible quadruple  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  is called *dynamically admissible* if  $\Delta$  is parabolic,  $\Gamma \cap A = \emptyset$ , and every face F of the graph  $\Gamma$  contains at most one point of A if F is bounded and no points of A, otherwise.

Proposition IV.3 implies that  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f)$  is dynamically admissible if  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  is a Thurston map. Also, analogous to Proposition IV.5, we can establish the following statement.

**Proposition IV.11.** Let  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  be a dynamically admissible quadruple. Then there exists a Thurston map  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  such that  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f) = \Delta$ .

In a similar way we define a *dynamical equivalence* relation on the set of all dynamically admissible quadruples with a fixed marked set. We say that two dynamically admissible quadruples  $\Delta_1 = (A, \mathcal{R}_1, \Gamma_1, \Phi_1)$  and  $\Delta_2 = (A, \mathcal{R}_2, \Gamma_2, \Phi_2)$  are dynamically equivalent if there exist  $\psi, \varphi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  such that

- 1.  $\psi$  is an isomorphism between  $\mathcal{R}_1$  and  $\mathcal{R}_2$ ;
- 2.  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism between  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ ;
- 3.  $\psi \circ \Phi_1 = \Phi_2 \circ \varphi$ .

Finally, the following observation provides a dynamical analog of Proposition IV.7.

**Proposition IV.12.** Let  $f_1: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $f_2: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be Thurston maps, and  $\mathcal{R}_1, \mathcal{R}_2$ be rose graphs surrounding A such that  $\mathcal{R}_1$  is isotopic rel. A to  $\mathcal{R}_2$ . Then  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_1, f_1)$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_2, f_2)$  are dynamically equivalent if and only if  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are isotopic rel. A.

Proof. First suppose that  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_1, f_1)$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_2, f_2)$  are dynamically equivalent via  $\psi, \varphi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$ . As in the proof of Proposition IV.7, we can assume that  $\mathcal{R}_1 = \mathcal{R}_2 = \mathcal{R}$  and  $\psi = \varphi = \text{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ . The rest easily follows from Proposition III.3 and the discussion of Section IV.1.

Conversely, suppose that there exists  $\psi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  such that  $f_1 = f_2 \circ \psi$ . Choose  $\psi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  with  $\psi(\mathcal{R}_1) = \mathcal{R}_2$ . By Proposition II.6, there exists  $\varphi \in \text{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  such that  $\psi \circ f_1 = f_2 \circ \varphi$ . It directly implies that  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_1, f_1)$  and  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}_2, f_2)$  are dynamically equivalent.

Given dynamically admissible quadruple  $\Delta = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$ , we say that a Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  realizes  $\Delta$  (or equivalently,  $\Delta$  defines f), if  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f)$  is dynamically equivalent to  $\Delta$ . Propositions IV.11 and IV.12 imply that every dynamically admissible  $\Delta$  with a marked set A defines a Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ , unique up to isotopy rel. A.



Figure 4.3: Dynamically admissible quadruple realized by the PSF entire map  $G_1(z) = \pi \cos(z)/2$ , where  $P_{G_1} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\pi/2, 0, \pi/2\}$ .



Figure 4.4: Dynamically admissible quadruple realized by the PSF entire map  $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2} (1 - \exp(z^2))$ , where  $P_{G_2} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\sqrt{\ln 2}, 0, \sqrt{\ln 2}\}$ .

**Example IV.13.** Let  $G_1: (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_1}) \mathfrak{S}$  and  $G_2: (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_2}) \mathfrak{S}$  be the postsingularly finite entire maps defined in Example II.16. The graphs in Figures 4.3 and 4.4 describe dynamically admissible quadruples realized by  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  respectively (compare with Figures 4.1 and 4.2 referenced in Example IV.8). The solid black squares in these figures represent the postsingular values of  $G_1$  and  $G_2$ , respectively.

# IV.3: Construction of combinatorial approximations of polynomial type

**Proposition IV.14.** Let  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be Thurston maps, and  $\mathcal{R}$  be a rose graph that surrounds A. Then the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges combinatorially to f if and only if for every finite subgraph K of  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  and all sufficiently large n, there exists a homeomorphism  $\varphi_{K,n} \in \operatorname{Homeo}_0^+(\mathbb{R}^2, A)$  such that  $\varphi_{K,n}(K)$  is a subgraph of  $f_n^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\Phi_{f,\mathcal{R}}|K = \Phi_{f_n,\mathcal{R}} \circ \varphi_{K,n}|K$ .

*Proof.* Sufficiency easily follows from Definition III.2, Proposition III.5, and the discussion of Chapter IV.1. Necessity can be obtained by applying Proposition III.8.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition IV.15.** Let  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be an arbitrary Thurston map. Then there exists a sequence  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}, n \in \mathbb{N}$  of polynomial Thurston maps converging combinatorially to f.

Proof. Due to Proposition II.14 and Remark IV.4, the case when |A| = 1 is trivial and, therefore, we can assume that  $|A| \ge 2$ . Let us choose a rose graph  $\mathcal{R}$  surrounding the set Aand consider the dynamically admissible quadruple  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f) = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$ . Next, we choose an arbitrary exhaustion of  $\Gamma$  by finite connected subgraphs  $K_n = (V_n, E_n)$ . We shall construct a sequence of eventually dynamically admissible quadruples  $\Delta_n = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma_n, \Phi_n)$ , where  $\Gamma_n$  is obtained from  $K_n$  by adding several new edges, and the maps  $\Phi_n$  and  $\Phi$  coincide on  $K_n$ . We describe this more precisely by defining  $\Gamma_n$  and  $\Phi_n$  algorithmically. For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , initialize  $\Gamma_n$  as  $K_n$ , and  $\Phi_n$  as  $\Phi|K_n$ . Let F be an arbitrary face of  $\Gamma$  labelled by a bounded face P of  $\mathcal{R}$  with the property that  $\partial F$  intersects  $K_n$  but it is not a proper subset of  $K_n$ .

Claim.  $C := \partial F \cap K_n$  is a directed finite chain.

Proof of Claim. First we consider the case when F is bounded: here,  $\partial F$  is a counterclockwise directed cycle by Remark IV.2. It suffices to show that C (or equivalently  $\partial F \setminus C$ ) is connected. Supposing the contrary, let  $e_1$  and  $e_2$  be two edges in disjoint components of  $\partial F \setminus C$ . It is easy to see that each edge  $e \in E(\Gamma)$  is a boundary of exactly two faces and one of them is always unbounded. Therefore, for i = 1, 2, there exists a continuous curve  $L_i: [0, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}^2$  that



Figure 4.5: Constructing the directed edge  $e_F$ . The diagram on the left represents the face F and the graph  $K_n$ , and the diagram on the right demonstrates the newly added edge  $e_F$ . Black dots and colored (solid and dashed) arcs represent the vertices and directed edges of  $\Gamma$ , respectively. The solid blue arcs are edges of  $K_n$ , while the dashed ones are in  $\Gamma \setminus K_n$ .

joins an interior point  $x_i := L_i(0)$  of  $e_i$  with  $\infty$  (i.e.,  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} L_i(t) = \infty$ ) and intersects  $\Gamma$ only at the point  $x_i$ . Let  $y_1$  and  $y_2$  be vertices of C lying in disjoint components of  $\partial F \setminus \{ \operatorname{int}(e_1), \operatorname{int}(e_2) \}$ . Any path in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  joining  $y_1$  to  $y_2$  has to intersect  $F \cup \{ \operatorname{int}(e_1), \operatorname{int}(e_2) \}$ or  $L_1 \cup L_2$ . In particular, there is no path in  $K_n$  joining  $y_1$  to  $y_2$ . This forms a contradiction since  $K_n$  is connected. The case when F is unbounded is analogous.

Let u and v be the endpoints of C (it is possible that u = v). Then there exist unique edges  $e_u, e_v \in E(\partial F \setminus K_n)$  such that  $e_u$  is incident to u, and  $e_v$  is incident to v (again,  $e_u$  and  $e_v$  might coincide). We shall construct an edge  $e_F$  with endpoints at v and u (see Figure 4.5) with  $e_F \subset e_u \cup e_v \cup F$ , so that  $e_F$  coincides with the edges  $e_u$  and  $e_v$  in small neighborhoods of u and v, respectively. In particular,  $int(e_F)$  does not intersect  $K_n$ . We add  $e_F$  to  $\Gamma_n$  and define  $\Phi_n | e_F$  so that  $\Phi_n$  and  $\Phi$  coincide on  $e_F \cap e_u$  and  $e_F \cap e_v$ . Then we repeat the above procedure for all faces  $F \in F(\Gamma)$  satisfying previously listed properties.

Now consider the sequence of constructed quadruples  $\Delta_n = (A, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma_n, \Phi_n)$ . Since  $(K_n)$  is an exhaustion of  $\Gamma$ , there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for each  $n \ge N$ , if  $F \in F(\Gamma)$  is bounded and contains a point of A, then  $\partial F \subset K_n$ . For each  $n \ge N$ , it is straightforward to check that the conditions of Definitions IV.1 and IV.10 are satisfied. In particular,  $\Delta_n$  is parabolic since  $\Gamma_n$  is a finite graph. By Proposition IV.11, we can construct a polynomial Thurston map  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  such that  $\Delta(A, \mathcal{R}, f_n) = \Delta_n$  for each  $n \ge N$ . Thus, the sequence  $(f_n)$ converges combinatorially to f due to Proposition IV.14.

Remark IV.16. Suppose that we are in the setting of the proof of Proposition IV.15. Let F be a face of  $\Gamma_n$  labelled by a bounded face P of  $\mathcal{R}$  (with respect to the quadruple  $\Delta_n$ ) for some  $n \ge N$ . Then there exists a unique face  $F' \in F(\Gamma)$  having the same label P (with respect to the quadruple  $\Delta$ ) such that  $F \subset F'$ . Moreover, exactly one of the following is true:

1.  $\deg(f_n|F) = \deg(f_n|F')$ . Then Proposition IV.3 implies that F contains a (unique) critical point  $z_n$  of  $f_n$  if and only if F' contains a (unique) critical point z of f and, moreover,  $\deg(f, z) = \deg(f_n, z_n)$ .



Figure 4.6: Sequence of graphs that define polynomial Thurston maps converging combinatorially to  $G_2$ :  $(\mathbb{C}, P_{G_2}) \mathfrak{S}$ , where  $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(1 - \exp(z^2))$  and  $P_{G_2} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\sqrt{\ln 2}, 0, \sqrt{\ln 2}\}.$ 

2.  $\deg(f_n|F) < \deg(f_n|F')$ . If F contains a critical point of  $f_n$ , then it is unique in F. In this case F' is either an asymptotic tract of f or it contains a unique critical point z of f and, moreover,  $\deg(f, z) > \deg(f_n, z_n)$ .

With this discussion and the following example, we show that dynamically admissible quadruples provide a convenient way for constructing "combinatorial" approximations and thinking about combinatorial convergence.

**Example IV.17.** Consider the postsingularly finite entire map  $G_2$  from Example II.16, realizing the dynamically admissible quadruple  $\Delta_{G_2} = \Delta(P_{G_2}, \mathcal{R}, G_2) = (P_{G_2}, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  depicted in Figure 4.4 along with a chosen point  $b \in V(\Gamma)$ . Define the graph  $K_n \subset \Gamma$  to be a collection of all vertices and edges of  $\Gamma$  accessible from b via a path in  $\Gamma$  intersecting interiors of at most n edges. It is clear that the sequence  $(K_n)$  is an exhaustion of  $\Gamma$  by finite connected graphs. Starting with  $\Delta_{G_2}$  and  $(K_n)$  and applying the construction from the proof of Proposition IV.15, we obtain a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, P_{G_2}) \circlearrowright, n \in \mathbb{N}$ converging combinatorially to  $G_2: (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_2}) \circlearrowright$ , with each  $f_n$  defined by a dynamically admissible quadruple  $\Delta_n = (P_{G_2}, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma_n, \Phi_n)$ . Figure 4.6 illustrates the graphs  $\Gamma_n$  and the maps  $\Phi_n$  for n = 1, 2, 3 (from left to right). As usual,  $\Phi_n: \Gamma_n \to \mathcal{R}$  maps each edge of  $\Gamma_n$  to the unique edge of  $\mathcal{R}$  of the same color, and the set  $P_{G_2}$  is represented by solid black squares. We also recall Figure 1.2 from Chapter I as an example of a combinatorial approximation for



Figure 4.7: Sequence of graphs that define transcendental Thurston maps converging combinatorially to  $G_2: (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_2}) \mathfrak{S}$ , where  $G_2(z) = \sqrt{\ln 2}(1 - \exp(z^2))$  and  $P_{G_2} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{-\sqrt{\ln 2}, 0, \sqrt{\ln 2}\}.$ 



Figure 4.8: Sequence of graphs that define polynomial Thurston maps converging combinatorially to  $G_1: (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_1}) \mathfrak{S}$ , where  $G_1(z) = \pi \cos(z)/2$  and  $P_{G_1} = \{a_1, a_2, a_3\} = \{0, -\pi/2, \pi/2\}.$ 

the map  $G_1(z) = \frac{\pi}{2} \cos z$  from Example II.16, with  $\Delta_{G_1} = \Delta(P_{G_1}, \mathcal{R}, G_1) = (P_{G_1}, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma, \Phi)$  given in Figure 1.1 (as well as Figure 4.3).

However, combinatorial approximations need not to be polynomial. Consider the sequence of infinite graphs  $(\hat{\Gamma}_n)$  depicted in Figure 4.7. For each n, we can similarly define a map  $\hat{\Phi}_n : \hat{\Gamma}_n \to \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\hat{\Delta}_n = (P_{G_2}, \mathcal{R}, \hat{\Gamma}_n, \hat{\Phi}_n)$  is a dynamically admissible quadruple. These maps  $\hat{\Phi}_n$  can be constructed so that they have only finitely many critical points and asymptotic tracts (i.e., unbounded faces that map to a bounded face of  $\mathcal{R}$ ). In this special case, a theorem of Nevanlinna ([Nev32]) shows that  $\hat{\Delta}_n$  is parabolic (see also [Cui21, Theorem 4.1]). Then  $\hat{\Delta}_n$  determines a transcendental Thurston map  $\hat{f}_n$  such that the sequence  $(\hat{f}_n)$ converges combinatorially to  $G_2 : (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_2}) \mathfrak{S}$  as n tends to  $\infty$ .

There is also no canonical choice for a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps converging combinatorially to a given transcendental Thurston map. For instance, the sequence of polynomial Thurston maps illustrated in Figure 4.8 (with respect to the rose graph showed at the top of Figure 4.3) converges combinatorially the map  $G_1: (\mathbb{C}, P_{G_1}) \mathfrak{S}$  from Example II.16, which realizes dynamically admissible quadruple  $\Delta_{G_1}$  as in Figure 4.3. However, the property of Remark IV.16 cannot be satisfied for these combinatorial approximations.

# CHAPTER V Dynamical Approximations

The main goal of this chapter is to prove Theorem V.9, which is a stronger version of Theorem I.2. To do this, we first construct combinatorial polynomial approximations, and then use upgrade those to analytic approximations.

We will use several combinatorial and topological properties of locally uniform convergence of sequences in S. In particular, we develop techniques of combinatorial nature for finding the limit of a sequence of maps  $(f_n)$  in S, where  $|S_{f_n}|$  is constant (see Theorem V.7). We refer to Appendix A.1 for some of the notation used in this Chapter. We will be using several properties of holomorphic covering maps, so we will start by exploring these.

### V.1: Properties of holomorphic covering maps

We are mainly interested in convergence conditions for sequences of maps whose domains vary, and in the behavior of lifts of loops under every map in a converging sequence.

**Definition V.1.** Let X be an oriented topological surface. Given a collection  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_j\}_{j \in I}$  of open subsets of X, we define the kernel of  $\mathcal{U}$ , denoted ker( $\mathcal{U}$ ) as the set of points  $x \in X$  with an open neighborhood V such that  $V \in U_j$  for all but finitely many  $j \in I$ .

Given a topological surface Y and a sequence of continuous maps  $g_n : \text{Dom}(g_n) \to \text{Rg}(g_n)$ with  $\text{Dom}(g_n) \subset X$  and  $\text{Rg}(g_n) \subset Y$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we say that the sequence  $(g_n)$  converges locally uniformly on  $U \subset X$  if for every  $x \in U$ , there exists a neighborhood W of x such that  $W \subset \text{Dom}(g_n)$  eventually, and a continuous map  $g : W \to Y$  such that  $(g_n)$  converges uniformly on W to g.

The kernel of  $\{\text{Dom}(g_n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a natural space where we can hope for the sequence  $(g_n)$  to converge. Bargmann proved that with some assumptions of regularity, the desired convergence occurs on some connected component of ker $(\{\text{Dom}(g_n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}})$ :

**Proposition V.2** ([Bar01, Theorem 1]). Let  $g_n : \text{Dom}(g_n) \to \text{Rg}(g_n)$  be a sequence of holomorphic covering maps. Suppose that  $(g_n)$  converges locally uniformly in a neighborhood

of a point  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  to a limiting function that is not locally constant at z, and X is the connected component of ker $({\text{Dom}}(g_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  that contains z.

Then, letting Y be the connected component of  $\ker(\{\operatorname{Rg}(g_n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}})$  containing  $w = \lim_{n\to\infty} g_n(z)$ , there exists a holomorphic covering map  $g: X \to Y$  such that  $(g_n)$  converges to g locally uniformly on X.

For a converging sequence of holomorphic covers, sequences consisting of certain local inverse functions also exhibit controlled behavior, as we show below.

**Proposition V.3.** Let  $(g_n)$  be a sequence of holomorphic coverings that converge locally uniformly on  $X \subset \mathbb{C}$  to a holomorphic covering  $g: X \to Y$ . Let x be a point in X and  $V \subset Y$ a bounded Jordan domain containing  $g(x) \in V$ , such that  $\overline{V} \subset Y$ .

- 1. Let U be the connected component of  $g^{-1}(V)$ , and for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $U_n$  be the conneced component of  $g_n^{-1}(V)$  containing x. If  $\varphi_{V,x} : V \longrightarrow U$  and  $\varphi_{V,x,n} : V \longrightarrow U_n$  are the inverses of g|U and  $g_n|U_n$  respectively, then  $\varphi_{V,x,n} \rightarrow \varphi_{V,x}$  uniformly.
- 2. There exists a neighborhood W of x such that  $W \subset \text{Dom}(g_n)$  and  $g_n$  maps W injectively into V for all sufficiently large n.

For proving the above, we will use the following result of Kisaka:

**Proposition V.4** ([Kis95, Theorem 1]). Let  $g_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and g be entire maps in S such that  $(g_n)$  converges to g locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C}$ . If  $w \in S_g$ , then for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and some sequence of points  $w_n \in S_{g_n}$ ,  $n \ge N$ , we have  $\lim_{n \to \infty} w_n = w$ .

Proof of Proposition V.3. We first prove item (1). Choose a bounded Jordan domain V' such that  $\overline{V} \subset V'$  and  $\overline{V'} \subset Y$ . As before, we have the local inverse  $\varphi_{V',x} \colon V' \to U'$  of g at g(x), where U' is the connected component of  $g^{-1}(V')$  containing x. Note that U' is again a Jordan domain, and  $U' \setminus \overline{U}$  is an open annulus. Let  $\gamma \subset U' \setminus \overline{U}$  be an essential simple closed curve that separates  $\mathbb{C} \setminus U'$  from  $\overline{U}$ . Let U'' be the bounded component of  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \gamma$ . Note that  $\overline{U} \subset U''$  and  $\overline{U''} \subset U'$ .

We claim that  $U_n \subset U''$  for all sufficiently large n. By the injectivity of g on U', the Hausdorff distance  $d(g(\gamma), V)$  is strictly greater than zero. Since  $(g_n)$  converges uniformly to g on  $\gamma$ , we also have  $d(g_n(\gamma), V) > 0$  for sufficiently large n. But this implies that  $\gamma \cap U_n = \emptyset$ , and since  $U_n$  is connected and contains x, we must have  $U_n \subset U''$ .

Now suppose the sequence  $(\varphi_{V,x,n})$  does not converge uniformly to  $\varphi_{V,x}$ . Then there exists a real number  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that for infinitely many n, there exists a point  $y_n \in V$  with  $|\varphi_{V,x,n}(y_n) - \varphi_{V,x}(y_n)| > \varepsilon$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $(y_n)$  converges to a point  $y \in \overline{V}$ . Since  $U_n \subset U''$  eventually, the sequence  $(\varphi_{V,x,n}(y_n))$  converges to a point  $z \in \overline{U''}$ ,

implying that  $|z - \varphi_{V',x}(y)| \ge \varepsilon$ . Since g is injective on  $\overline{U''}$ , we have  $g(z) \ne g(\varphi_{V',x}(y))$ , but at the same time,

$$g(z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} g_n(\varphi_{V,x,n}(y_n)) = \lim_{n \to \infty} y_n = y = g(\varphi_{V',x}(y))$$

resulting in a contradiction. This proves item (1).

Let  $\lambda = |\varphi'_{V,x}(g(x))|$ . For *n* sufficiently large, we have  $\lambda_n = |\varphi'_{V,x,n}(g(x))| > \frac{\lambda}{2}$ . By the Koebe 1/4-Theorem, it follows that  $D(x, \frac{\lambda}{4}) \subset U$ , and that  $D(x, \frac{\lambda}{8}) \subset D(x, \frac{\lambda_n}{4}) \subset U_n$ . Clearly,  $W := D(x, \frac{\lambda}{8})$  satisfies the requirements of item (2).

Lastly, we investigate the behavior of lifts of closed loops under a sequence of converging holomorphic covers.

**Proposition V.5.** Let  $(g_n)$  be a sequence of holomorphic coverings that converge locally uniformly on  $X \subset \mathbb{C}$  to a holomorphic covering  $g: X \to Y$ . Further suppose there exist points  $x_0 \in X, y_0 \in Y$  such that  $g_n(x_0) = g(x_0) = y_0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Then for any loop  $\alpha \subset Y$  based at  $y_0$ , we have

- 1.  $\alpha \subset \operatorname{Rg}(g_n)$  eventually, and thus,  $\beta_n = \alpha \uparrow (g_n, x_0)$  is eventually well-defined,
- 2. assuming that the  $\beta_n$  and  $\beta := \alpha \uparrow (g, x_0)$  are parametrized by  $\mathbb{I}$ , with  $\beta_n(0) = \beta(0) = x_0$ and  $g_n(\beta_n(t)) = g(\beta(t))$  for all n and forall  $t \in \mathbb{I}$ , then  $(\beta_n)$  converges to  $\beta$  uniformly on  $\mathbb{I}$ , and
- 3. for n sufficiently large, the lifts  $\beta_n$  and  $\beta$  have the same closing behavior (refer to Definition A.2)

*Proof.* We can infer from Proposition V.3 that for every  $y \in Y$ , there exists an open neighborhood V of y in Y such that  $V \subset \operatorname{Rg}(g_n)$  eventually. Thus,  $Y \subset \ker(\{\operatorname{Rg}(g_n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}})$ . This in turn implies that some open neighborhood of  $\alpha$  in Y is contained in  $\operatorname{Rg}(g_n)$  eventually, proving item (1).

To show item (2), we choose bounded Jordan domains  $U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_k$  in X covering  $\beta$  and a strictly increasing finite sequence  $t_0 := 0, t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_{k-1}, t_k := 1$  of points in  $\mathbb{I}$  so that

- $g|\overline{U_j}$  is injective for each  $j \in \{1, 2, \cdots, k\};$
- $\beta(I_j) \subset U_j$  for each  $j = 1, 2, \dots, k$ , where  $I_j = [t_{j-1}, t_j]$ .

Let  $u_j := \beta(t_j)$  for each  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, k-1\}$  and  $V_j := g(U_j)$  for each  $j \in \{1, 2, \dots, k\}$ . Assume that n is large enough so that  $\overline{U_j} \subset \text{Dom}(g_n)$  and  $\overline{V_j} \subset \text{Rg}(g_n)$  for each j in the set  $\{1, 2, \dots, k\}$ .

We will use induction on  $\ell \in \{0, 1, \dots, k\}$  to see that  $(\beta_n)$  converges to  $\beta$  uniformly on  $[0, t_\ell]$ . The base case  $\ell = 0$  is obvious since  $\beta_n(0) = \beta(0) = z_0$ . Now we show that if  $(\beta_n)$  converges to  $\beta$  uniformly on  $[0, t_\ell]$ , then it does so uniformly on  $[0, t_{\ell+1}]$ . Indeed, since  $\beta_n(t_\ell) \to \beta(t_\ell) = u_\ell$ , due to Proposition V.3 we have  $\varphi_{V_\ell,\beta_n(t_\ell),n} = \varphi_{V_\ell,v_\ell,n}$  for sufficiently large n. Thus,

$$\beta | I_{\ell+1} = \varphi_{U_l, v_l}(\alpha | I_{\ell+1})$$
  
$$\beta_n | I_{\ell+1} = \varphi_{U_l, \beta_n(t_l), n}(\alpha | I_{\ell+1}) = \varphi_{U_l, v_l, n}(\alpha | I_{\ell+1})$$

Item (3) follows from the two cases below:

- if  $\beta$  is a closed curve, by item (2),  $\beta_n(1) \to x_0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . By Proposition V.3, there exists a neighbourhood of U of  $x_0$  such that for large enough  $n, W \subset \text{Dom}(g_n)$  and  $g_n|W$  is injective. Therefore, we must have  $\beta_n(0) = \beta_n(1)$  for sufficiently large n.
- if  $\beta$  is not a closed curve, by item (2), we have  $\beta_n(1) \to \beta(1) \neq x_0$ . Thus, for all n sufficiently large, we have  $x_0 = \beta_n(0) \neq \beta_n(1)$ .

### V.2: Convergence properties of entire maps in class S

We will now use the discussions in the previous section to establish conditions under which maps in class S converge. First, however, we are interested in observing the behavior of lifts of loops under maps in class S, all with the same number of singular values, which also converge to a map in class S.

**Proposition V.6.** Let  $g_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and g be entire maps in class S of finite type such that  $|S_{g_n}| = |S_g|$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $g_n \to g$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C}$ .

Let  $\gamma \subset \mathbb{C} \setminus S_g$  be a simple closed curve and  $\widetilde{\gamma}$  be a connected component of  $g^{-1}(\gamma)$ . Then for every  $z \in \widetilde{\gamma}$  there exists  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(z, \gamma) > 0$  such that for all n sufficiently large, there is a unique connected component  $\widetilde{\gamma}_n$  of  $g_n^{-1}(\gamma)$  satisfying  $d(z, \widetilde{\gamma}_n) < \varepsilon$ . Moreover,

- 1. if  $\deg(g|\tilde{\gamma})$  is finite (i.e.,  $\tilde{\gamma}$  is a simple closed curve), then for any  $\delta > 0$ , the following hold true for all n large enough:
  - $\widetilde{\gamma}_n$  is a simple closed curve;

- $\deg(g|\widetilde{\gamma}_n) = \deg(g|\widetilde{\gamma});$
- $\widetilde{\gamma}_n \subset N_\delta(\widetilde{\gamma}).$
- 2. if deg $(g|\widetilde{\gamma})$  is infinite (i.e.,  $\widetilde{\gamma}$  is an unbounded curve), then deg $(g|\widetilde{\gamma}_n) \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ , and for every bounded Jordan disk  $D \subset \mathbb{C}$  and every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have  $\widetilde{\gamma}_n \cap D \subset N_{\varepsilon}(\widetilde{\gamma} \cap D)$ for large enough n.

Proof. Since  $|S_g| = |S_{g_n}|$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , Proposition V.4 implies that  $S_{g_n} \to S_g$  in the sense of Hausdorff. Then the holomorphic coverings  $g_n |\mathbb{C} \setminus g_n^{-1}(S_{g_n})$  converge to the holomorphic covering  $g|\mathbb{C} \setminus g^{-1}(S_g)$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus g^{-1}(S_g)$ . The statement then follows from Proposition V.5 applied to the maps  $g_n |\mathbb{C} \setminus g_n^{-1}(S_{g_n})$ .

We are now ready to establish equivalent conditions for convergence in class  $\mathcal{S}$ , under certain assumptions on the singular value sets and a normality condition.

**Theorem V.7.** Let  $g_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and g be entire maps in class S, and  $B_n \supset S_{g_n}$  and  $B \supset S_g$  be finite subsets of  $\mathbb{C}$ . Further assume that  $|B_n| = |B|$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $B_n \to B$  in the sense of Hausdorff.

Let  $z_0, w_0 \in \mathbb{C}$  be points such that  $z_0 \notin B \cup \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} B_n$ , and  $g(z_0) = g_n(z_0) = w_0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $(g_n)$  converges locally uniformly to g if and only if the following conditions hold:

- 1.  $\lim_{n \to \infty} g'_n(z_0) = g'(z_0);$
- 2. for any loop  $\alpha \subset \mathbb{C} \setminus B$  based at  $w_0$ , the lifts  $\alpha \uparrow (g_n, z_0)$  eventually have the same closing behavior as  $\alpha \uparrow (g, x)$ .

Proof. ( $\implies$ ): If  $g_n \to g$  locally uniformly, then condition (1) is obvious and condition (2) easily follows from Proposition V.5 applied to the sequence  $g_n |\mathbb{C} \setminus g_n^{-1}(B_n)$  converging locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus g^{-1}(B)$  to  $g |\mathbb{C} \setminus g^{-1}(B)$ .

 $( \Leftarrow )$ : Now suppose that conditions (1) and (2) are satisfied. It suffices to show that any arbitrary subsequence  $(g_{n_k})$  of  $(g_n)$  contains a further subsequence converging locally uniformly to g. For the sake of simplicity, we will relabel  $(g_{n_k})$  as  $(g_n)$ .

Claim 1. There exists an open neighborhood U of  $z_0$  and a subsequence  $(g_{n_k})$  of  $(g_n)$  converging uniformly on U to a limiting function that is not locally constant at  $z_0$ .

Proof of Claim 1. Let  $\mathbb{D}(w_0, r)$  be a disk contained in  $\mathbb{C}\backslash B_n$  for all sufficiently large n, and  $U_n$  be the connected component of  $g_n^{-1}(\mathbb{D}(w_0, r))$  containing  $z_0$ . By Proposition II.7,  $g_n$  maps  $U_n$  biholomorphically to  $\mathbb{D}(w_0, r)$  and has an inverse  $\varphi_n \colon \mathbb{D}(w_0, r) \to U_n$  satisfying  $\varphi_n(w_0) = z_0$ .

Note that  $\varphi'_n(w_0) = 1/g'_n(z_0)$ . Since  $g'_n(z_0) \to g'(z_0) \neq 0$ , there exists  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $|\varphi'_n(w_0)| > \lambda$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . By the Koebe 1/4-Theorem, the disk  $W = \mathbb{D}(z_0, r\lambda/4)$  is

contained  $U_n$  for each n. In particular, the map  $g_n$  is injective on W for all n sufficiently large.

Since  $g_n(W) \subset \mathbb{D}(w_0, r)$ , by Montel's Theorem,  $\{g_n|W\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a normal family. Thus we extract a converging subsequence  $(g_{n_k}|W)$  from  $(g_n|W)$ . Clearly the limiting function for the maps  $g_{n_k}$  cannot be locally constant at  $z_0$  since  $\lim_{n\to\infty} g'_n(z_0) = g'(z_0) \neq 0$ .

We again relabel the converging subsequence  $(g_{n_k})$  above as  $(g_n)$ . Now apply Proposition V.2 to the sequence of maps  $h_n = g_n |\mathbb{C} \setminus g_n^{-1}(B_n)$ : letting  $X \subset \mathbb{C}$  be the connected component of ker $(\{\mathbb{C} \setminus g_n^{-1}(B_n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}})$  that contains  $z_0$ , we see that  $(h_n)$  converges locally uniformly on X to a holomorphic covering map  $h: X \to \mathbb{C} \setminus B$ . We will now show that  $g|X \equiv h$ . To begin with, we observe that

$$h_*\pi_1(X, z_0) = g_*\pi_1(\mathbb{C}\backslash g^{-1}(B), z_0) \subset \pi_1(\mathbb{C}\backslash B, w_0),$$

following from condition (2) above and Proposition V.5. By the classical theory of covering maps, there exists a biholomorphism  $\varphi \colon \mathbb{C} \setminus g^{-1}(B) \to X$  with  $\varphi'(z_0) = 1$  such that the following diagram commutes:



Claim 2. The map  $\varphi$  extends to a Möbius transformation of  $\mathbb{C}$ .

Proof of Claim 2. As  $g^{-1}(B)$  is a discrete set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $\varphi$  is injective, every point in  $g^{-1}(B)$  is a removable singularity of  $\varphi$ , considered as a map to  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ . It follows that  $\varphi$  extends to a map from  $\mathbb{C}$  to  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  which can, moreover, be shown to be injective. Since  $\varphi(\mathbb{C})$  is conformally equivalent to  $\mathbb{C}$ , the set  $\varphi(\mathbb{C})$  is obtained by removing a single point from  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ . This then means that  $\varphi$  extends to an automorphism of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ .

Claim 2 also implies that X is obtained from  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  by removing countably many points which have at most one accumulation point, namely  $\varphi(\infty)$ .

Claim 3. The map  $\varphi$  equals  $\mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$ .

Proof of Claim 3. Let us first prove that  $\varphi(\infty) = \infty$ . Suppose that  $\varphi(\infty) = z \in \mathbb{C}$ . There exists a compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{C}$  such that  $z \in int(K)$  and  $\partial K \subset X$ . Note that  $g_n \to h$  uniformly on  $\partial K$ .

Let  $m \in (0, +\infty)$  be the maximum of |h| on  $\partial K$ . Then by the maximum modulus principle, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $n \ge N$  and  $z \in K$ , we have  $|g_n(z)| \le m + \varepsilon$ . Thus, |h| is bounded by m on  $K \cap X$ .

On the other hand, one can find a sequence  $(z_n) \subset \varphi^{-1}(K) \setminus g^{-1}(B)$  such that  $(g(z_n)) \to \infty$ . However, as  $\varphi(z_n) \in X \cap K$  for all n,  $(\varphi(z_n))$  converges to z. This means that  $|g(z_n)| = |h(\varphi(z_n))|$  is bounded by m for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , leading to a contradiction. We have thus shown that  $\varphi(\infty) = \infty$ .

Thus,  $\varphi | \mathbb{C} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  is an affine map satisfying  $\varphi(z_0) = z_0$  and  $\varphi'(z_0) = 1$ , which implies that  $\varphi \equiv \mathrm{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$ .

Claim 3 implies that g coincides with h on  $X = \mathbb{C} \setminus g^{-1}(B)$ . In particular,  $(g_n)$  converges locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus g^{-1}(B)$  to g. This suffices to conclude that  $(g_n)$  converges locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C}$  to g.

### V.3: Dynamical approximations

In this section, we establish Theorem I.2. We will use the following fact multiple times:

**Proposition V.8.** Let  $\varphi_n \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\varphi_n \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  be such that  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$ uniformly on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus X$  for some discrete set X. Then sequence  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$ locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Proof. Given  $x \in X$ , it suffices to show  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  locally uniformly at x. Let  $\gamma_r$  be a loop such that the bounded component  $D_r$  of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \gamma$  contains x but no other point of X, and  $\varphi(\gamma_r) \subset \mathbb{D}(\varphi(x), r)$ . Since  $\varphi_n(\gamma_r) \to \varphi(\gamma_r)$  uniformly, we must have  $\varphi_n(\gamma_r) \subset \mathbb{D}(\varphi(x), r)$ for all n sufficiently large. But this means  $\varphi_n(D_r) \subset \mathbb{D}(\varphi(x), r)$  for all n sufficiently large. Therefore, for every  $z \in D_r$ ,

$$|\varphi(z) - \varphi_n(z)| \leq |\varphi(z) - \varphi(x)| + |\varphi(x) - \varphi_n(z)| < 2r.$$

This shows  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  locally uniformly at x.

**Theorem V.9.** Let  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be Thurston maps such that the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges combinatorially to f. If f is realized as a postsingularly finite entire function  $g: (\mathbb{C}, B) \mathfrak{S}$ , then there exists a sequence of postsingularly finite entire maps  $g_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, B_n) \mathfrak{S}$  such that

- 1.  $g_n: (\mathbb{C}, B_n) \mathfrak{S}$  is Thurston equivalent to  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  for sufficiently large n;
- 2. the sequence  $(B_n)$  converges to B in the sense of Hausdorff topology;
- 3.  $g_n$  converges locally uniformly to g on  $\mathbb{C}$ .

*Proof.* By proposition III.13, we know that  $f_n$ 's are realized eventually as holomorphic PSF maps  $g_n$ . If |A| = 1, by Proposition II.14, there exists  $d \ge 2$  such that  $g(z) = z^d$ , and  $g_n(z) = z^d$  for all n sufficiently large, and we are done.

Now suppose  $|A| \ge 2$ . Without loss of generality, assume that  $(f_n)$  converges topologically to f, and that there exist points  $b \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A)$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus A$  such that  $f(b) = f_n(b) = t$ for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since  $f \simeq_{\text{comb}} g$ , it follows from Proposition II.28 that there exists a unique point  $\tau \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  such that  $\tau = [\varphi] = [\psi], g = \varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1}$ , and  $B = \varphi(A)$ , where  $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $\psi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  are orientation-preserving homeomorphisms isotopic to each other rel.  $A \cup \{\infty\}$ .

By Corollary III.13, there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $n \ge N$  the map  $\sigma_{f_n}$  has a unique fixed point  $\tau_n \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  and, moreover, the sequence  $(\tau_n)$  converges to  $\tau$ . We may assume without loss of generality that N = 1.

For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we pick homeomorphisms  $\varphi_n, \psi_n \in \tau_n$  isotopic rel.  $A \cup \{\infty\}$ , such that  $\varphi_n(\infty) = \psi_n(\infty)$ , such that the map  $h_n := \varphi_n \circ f_n \circ \psi_n^{-1}$  is entire. Note that the set  $B_n := \varphi_n(A)$  contains  $S_{h_n}$ . By Proposition II.22, the  $\varphi_n$  and  $\psi_n$  can be chosen to satisfy the following conditions for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ :

- $\varphi_n \circ \varphi^{-1} \colon \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  is quasiconformal, with  $\lim_{n \to \infty} K(\varphi_n \circ \varphi^{-1}) = 1;$
- $\varphi_n(t) = \varphi(t)$  and  $\varphi_n(y) = \varphi(y)$  for some arbitrary point  $y \neq t$ ;
- $\psi_n(b) = \psi(b)$  and  $h'_n(\psi_n(b)) = g'(\psi(b))$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

First note that for each n, the homeomorphism  $\varphi_n \circ \varphi^{-1}$  fixes three distinct points  $\infty, \varphi(t), \varphi(y) \in \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ . Therefore, by Proposition II.5,  $\varphi_n \circ \varphi^{-1} \to \operatorname{id}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}}$  locally uniformly on compact subsets of  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{\varphi(t), \varphi(y)\}$  as  $n \to \infty$ . By Proposition V.8,  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Claim 1. The sequence  $(h_n)$  converges to g locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{C}$ .

Proof of Claim 1. We prove that the maps g and  $h_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  satisfy all the conditions of Theorem V.7 with respect to the points  $z_0 := \psi(b) = \psi_n(b)$ ,  $w_0 := \varphi(t) = \varphi_n(t)$ , and the sets  $B_n$  and B.

Next we see that  $B_n \supset S_{h_n}$  converges to  $B \supset S_g$  in the Hausdorff topology of  $\mathbb{C}$  since  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Due to our choices of  $\varphi_n$  and  $\psi_n$ , the equalities  $h'_n(z_0) = g'(z_0)$  and

 $h_n(z_0) = g(z_0) = w_0$  are satisfied, and we have  $w_0 \notin B \cup \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} B_n$ . Hence, condition (1) of Theorem V.7 is satisfied for the maps  $h_n$ .

The condition (2) required in Theorem V.7 easily follows from the topological convergence of  $(f_n)$  to f and the locally uniform convergence of  $(\varphi_n)$  to  $\varphi$ .

With this choice of  $\varphi_n$  and  $\psi_n$ , the maps  $h_n$  are not necessarily postsingularly finite. We will now construct the required maps  $g_n$  from the maps  $h_n$  by showing that  $\psi_n$  and  $\varphi_n$  have controlled behavior.

Claim 2. The maps  $\psi_n \to \psi$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Proof of Claim 2. Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$  be a regular point (i.e., not a critical point) of f such that  $\psi_n(x) \to \psi(x)$  as  $n \to \infty$  (the point b, for instance, satisfies this property). Then there exists a Jordan domain V containing x such that f|V is injective. Assume without loss of generality that  $\overline{V}$  is compact. For sufficiently large n, we have  $f_n|V = f|V$ . Hence, the maps  $g|\psi(V)$  and  $h_n|\psi_n(V)$  are injective, with inverses  $\varphi_{U,\psi(x)} \colon U \to \psi(V)$  and  $\varphi_{U_n,\psi_n(x),n} \colon U_n \to \psi_n(V)$ , respectively, where  $U := h(\psi(V)) = \varphi(f(V))$  and  $U_n := h_n(\psi_n(V)) = \varphi_n(f_n(V)) = \varphi_n(f(V))$ .

Since  $h_n \to g$ , using Proposition V.3, we see that the sequence  $(\varphi_{U_n,\psi_n(x),n})_n$  converges to  $\varphi_{U,\psi(x)}$  uniformly on U. Finally, we have

$$\psi|V = \varphi_{U,\psi(x)} \circ (\varphi|f(V)) \circ (f|V),$$
  
$$\psi_n|V = \varphi_{U_n,\psi_n(x),n} \circ (\varphi_n|f_n(V)) \circ (f_n|V)$$
  
$$= \varphi_{U_n,\psi_n(x),n} \circ (\varphi_n|f(V)) \circ (f|V).$$

Since  $\varphi_n | f(V) \to \varphi | f(V)$  uniformly, we have  $\psi_n \to \psi$  uniformly on V.

Let  $U_f$  be the set of regular points of f, and note that this is open in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . We will first show for all  $x \in U_f$ , we have  $\psi_n(x) \to \psi(x)$ . Let  $D = \{x \in U_f | \psi_n(x) \to \psi(x)\}$ . We know that  $D \neq \emptyset$ . If  $D \neq U_f$ , then there exists  $y \in U_f \cap \partial D$ . Choose a bounded Jordan domain W containing y on which f is injective. By the above discussion, since W contains a point  $z \in D$ , we have  $\psi_n \to \psi$  uniformly on W. This implies that for any such W, the open set  $W \cap U_f$  is contained in D, which contradicts the fact that  $y \in \partial D$ . By this discussion, we also note that  $\psi_n \to \psi$  uniformly on compact subsets of  $U_f$ . Since the  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus f^{-1}(A) \subset U_f$  and  $f^{-1}(A)$  is discrete, by Proposition V.8, the maps  $\psi_n \to \psi$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Since  $[\varphi_n] = [\psi_n]$ , there exists an affine map  $M_n$  such that  $\varphi_n | A$  and  $M_n \circ \psi_n | A$  coincide. Then  $g_n := h_n \circ M_n^{-1}$ :  $(\mathbb{C}, B_n) \mathfrak{S}$  is a postsingularly finite entire map. It is sufficient to show that  $(M_n)$  converges locally uniformly to  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}}$  to prove that the sequence  $(g_n)$  converges locally uniformly to g.

Note that  $M_n$  is an affine map satisfying  $M_n(\psi_n(a)) = \varphi_n(a)$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $a \in A$ . Now the desired statement follows from the fact that for every  $a \in A$ ,  $\psi_n(a) \to \psi(a) = \varphi(a)$ and  $\varphi_n(a) \to \varphi(a) = \psi(a)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

The next corollary is an immediate consequence of the proof of Theorem V.9.

**Corollary V.10.** Suppose that we are in the setting of Theorem V.9. Assume that the sequence  $(f_n)$  converges topologically to the map f and  $g = \varphi \circ f \circ \psi^{-1}$ , where  $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $\psi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  are orientation-preserving homeomorphisms isotopic to each other rel. A. Then for sufficiently large n there exist orientation-preserving homeomorphisms  $\varphi_n \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $\psi_n \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $g_n = \varphi_n \circ f_n \circ \psi_n^{-1}$ ,  $\varphi_n \sim \psi_n$  rel. A,  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  and  $\psi_n \to \psi$  locally uniformly as  $n \to \infty$ .

The following result establishes Theorem I.2 and easily follows from Proposition IV.15 and Theorem V.9.

**Corollary V.11.** Let g be a postsingularly finite entire map. Then there exists a sequence of postcritically finite polynomials  $(g_n)$  converging locally uniformly to g, such that  $g_n$  has the same singular portrait as g for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Remark V.12. Note that usually there is no canonical choice for a sequence of polynomials  $(g_n)$  in Corollary V.11. Constructing different "combinatorial approximations" by Proposition IV.15 and then applying Theorem V.9 lead to different sequences of polynomials.

# CHAPTER VI Persistence of Spiders

We now move on to our special case study involving the exponentials and unicritical polynomials. In this chapter we lay the foundation for the approximation of postsingularly finite exponentials by proving Theorem I.6. We will obtain, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$  and  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , a monotone increasing map  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j} : \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  that preserves spiders and respects landing relations in the set  $\mathcal{M}_n$ .

Throughout this chapter, fix a degree  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$ .

# VI.1: Construction of $Jump_{n,j}$

Before we start, we note that for every  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , if  $\theta$  is strictly pre-periodic under  $\mu_n$ , then  $\mathcal{O}_n(\theta)$  contains no element in  $\mu_n^{-1}(\theta)$ . However, if  $\theta$  is k-periodic under  $\mu_n$ , then there exists a unique integer  $j =: j_n(\theta) \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$  such that  $\mu_n^{\circ(k-1)}(\theta) = \frac{\theta + j_n(\theta)}{n}$ . Fix  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . Given an integer  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , we define a 'symbol shift' function

as follows:

$$u_{n,j,\theta} : \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{(\theta+j)/n\} \longrightarrow \{0, 1, \cdots, n\}$$
$$u_{n,j,\theta}(t) = \begin{cases} m & t \in \left[\frac{m}{n}, \frac{m+1}{n}\right] \text{ for some } m \in \{0, 1, \cdots, j-1\}\\ m+1 & t \in \left[\frac{m}{n}, \frac{m+1}{n}\right] \text{ for some } m \in \{j+1, j+2, \cdots, n-1\}\\ j & t \in \left[\frac{j}{n}, \frac{\theta+j}{n}\right]\\ j+1 & t \in \left(\frac{\theta+j}{n}, \frac{j+1}{n}\right) \end{cases}$$

Additionally, if  $\frac{\theta+j}{n} \in \mathcal{O}_n(\theta)$ , let

$$u_{n,j,\theta}\left(\frac{\theta+j}{n}\right) = \begin{cases} j & \text{if } \theta \text{ is the smaller angle in a companion pair}\\ j+1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The  $u_{n,j,\theta}$  function assigns a symbol to each angle in  $\mathcal{O}_n(\theta)$ : we first divide [0,1) into n



(a) The symbol shift function  $u_{2,0,\theta}$  (b) The symbol shift function  $u_{2,1,\theta}$ 

Figure 6.1: For n = 2 and  $\theta \equiv \frac{1}{7} \pmod{1}$ , the two figures above illustrate the corresponding symbol shift functions. The bold solid lines correspond to angles in  $\mathcal{O}_2(\theta)$ , and the regular solid lines correspond to angles in  $\mu_n^{-1}(\theta)$ . The dotted lines represent the angles  $0, \frac{1}{2}$ . Also note that  $\theta$  is smaller than its companion angle  $\frac{2}{7}$ . This comes into play in the definition of  $u_{2,1,\theta}$  at  $\frac{\theta+1}{2}$ .

sub-intervals of the form  $\left[\frac{m}{n}, \frac{m+1}{n}\right)$ ,  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ . The symbol assigned to an angle t depends on which sub-interval t belongs to. The sub-interval  $\left[\frac{j}{n}, \frac{j+1}{n}\right)$  is 'split' at  $\frac{\theta+j}{n}$ , and the symbols to the left and right of this angle differ by 1. The goal is to push angles in  $\left(\frac{\theta+j}{n}, 1\right)$  exactly one sub-interval further. In effect, the map  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  pushes open a new sector in the spider  $S_n^{ext}(\theta)$  (compare Figures 6.2 and 6.4).

**Definition VI.1.** Given  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , the map  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j} : \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right) \cap \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  is defined as:

$$\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \equiv \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta)}{(n+1)^m} \pmod{1}$$

In other words, the angle  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta)$  has an (n+1)-adic expansion  $x_1x_2x_3\cdots$ , where  $x_m = u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta)$ . For n = 2, this defines  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  on  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ .

For n > 2, we extend  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  to  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  as follows. Note that for any  $\theta' \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , there exists a unique  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \cap \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  and  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-2\}$  such that  $\theta' \equiv \theta + \frac{m}{n-1} \pmod{1}$ . We set

$$\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta') \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) + \frac{m}{n} \pmod{1}$$

*Remark* VI.2. Let  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  be rational. Suppose there exists  $M \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all



Figure 6.2: Symbol shift functions for n = 2 and  $\theta \equiv \frac{17}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$ .

 $m \ge M$ , we have

$$x_m = u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) = n$$

Then for all  $m \ge M$ , we have  $\mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) \in [\frac{n-1}{n}, 1)$ . This in turn implies  $\mu_n^{\circ(M-1)}(\theta)$  is the angle 0, and thus,  $u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(M-1)}(\theta) = 0$ , contradicting our assumption. Thus the (n+1)-adic expansion of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta)$  produced by the symbol shift function does not end in the constant stream  $nnnnn \cdots$ .

**Example VI.3.** Let n = 2. For  $\theta \equiv \frac{1}{7} \pmod{1} = .\overline{001}$  in base 2, we have, in base 3,

$$Jump_{2,0}(\theta) = .\overline{112} \equiv \frac{14}{3^3} \pmod{1} \equiv \frac{14}{26} \pmod{1}$$
$$Jump_{2,1}(\theta) = .\overline{001} \equiv \frac{1}{3^3} \pmod{1} \equiv \frac{1}{26} \pmod{1}$$

The symbol shift functions  $u_{2,0,\theta}$  and  $u_{2,1,\theta}$  are illustrated in Figure 6.1.

**Example VI.4.** Let n = 2. The angle  $\theta \equiv \frac{17}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1} \equiv \frac{17}{240} \pmod{1}$  is strictly preperiodic under  $\mu_2$ , with pre-period 4 and period 4. The sequence  $.0001\overline{0010}$  is a 2-adic expansion for  $\theta$ .

The angles  $\operatorname{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta)$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta)$  are given below in terms of 3-adic expansions produced by symbol shift:

$$Jump_{2,0}(\theta) = .1112\overline{1121} \equiv \frac{3323}{3^4(3^4 - 1)} \pmod{1} \equiv \frac{3323}{6480} \pmod{1}$$
$$Jump_{2,1}(\theta) = .0002\overline{0010} \equiv \frac{163}{3^4(3^4 - 1)} \pmod{1} \equiv \frac{163}{6480} \pmod{1}$$





(a) The standard spider of  $\phi = \text{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta) = \frac{14}{3^3 - 1} = .\overline{112}$  in base 3

(b) The standard spider of  $\phi = \text{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta) = \frac{1}{3^3 - 1} = .\overline{001}$  in base 3

Figure 6.3: The standard degree 3 spiders of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,0}(\theta)$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,1}(\theta)$ , for n = 2 and  $\theta \equiv \frac{1}{2^3-1} \pmod{1}$ . The dotted rays indicate the position of the angles  $0, \frac{1}{3}$  and  $\frac{2}{3}$ . Compare with Figure 6.1

See Figure 6.2 for an illustration of the symbol-shift.

# VI.2: Monotonicity of $Jump_{n,i}$

Fix  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ . In this section we show that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  is injective and preserves linear order, when we consider  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  as a subset of [0, 1).

**Proposition VI.5.** Fix  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . Given  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  such that  $s'_m = u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(s)$  and  $t'_m = u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(t)$  are defined for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$s' = .s'_1 s'_2 s'_3 \cdots$$
$$t' = .t'_1 t'_2 t'_3 \cdots$$

in base (n + 1). Then s < t in [0, 1) if and only if s' < t' in [0, 1).

*Proof.* It is enough to prove one direction, since  $s \equiv t \pmod{1}$  also implies  $s' \equiv t' \pmod{1}$ .

So assume s < t, and choose n-adic expansions  $s = .s_1s_2s_3\cdots$  and  $t = .t_1t_2t_3\cdots$ . so that if either angle is rational, the corresponding expansion does not end in a constant sequence of (n-1)'s.

At the first index r where  $s_r \neq t_r$ , we have

$$s_r < t_r$$
, implying  $s'_r < t'_r$ 



(a) The standard spider of  $\phi := \text{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta) \equiv \frac{3323}{3^4(3^4-1)} \pmod{1},$ equalling .11121121 in base 3



(b) The standard spider of  $\phi := \operatorname{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta) \equiv \frac{163}{3^4(3^4-1)} \pmod{1},$ which equals .00020010 in base 3

Figure 6.4: For n = 2 and  $\theta \equiv \frac{17}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$ , an illustration of the standard degree 3 spiders of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta)$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{1,0}(\theta)$ . The dotted rays indicate the position of the angles  $0, \frac{1}{3}$  and  $\frac{2}{3}$ . Compare with Figure 6.2

For all indices m < r, by assumption,

$$s_m \leq t_m$$
, and thus,  $s'_m \leq t'_m$ 

This shows that  $s' \leq t'$ . Equality holds if and only if  $s'_r + 1 = t'_r$ ,  $s'_m = n$  and  $t'_m = 0$  for all m > r; however, Remark VI.2 shows that the condition  $s'_m = n$  for all m > r can never be true.

**Proposition VI.6.** Fix  $t \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  and  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ . If  $0 \leq \theta < \theta' < \frac{1}{n-1}$  are rational angles such that  $t_m = u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(t)$  and  $t'_m = u_{n,j,\theta'} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(t)$  are well-defined for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , then in base (n+1), we have

$$t_1 t_2 t_3 \cdots < t_1' t_2' t_3' \cdots$$

*Proof.* The fact that  $\theta < \theta'$  implies that  $\frac{\theta+j}{n} < \frac{\theta+j'}{n}$ . By the definition of  $u_{n,j,\theta}$  and  $u_{n,j,\theta'}$ , we have  $t_m \leq t'_m$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Remark* VI.7. Note: for n > 2, the statement holds if we assume  $0 < \theta < \frac{1}{n-1}$  and  $\theta' \equiv \frac{1}{n-1} \pmod{1}$ .

### **Proposition VI.8.** $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$ is strictly increasing.

*Proof.* It suffices to show the following claim:

Claim. 1. For  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-2\}$ , the map  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  satisfies the formula

$$\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}\left(\frac{m}{n-1}\right) \equiv \begin{cases} \frac{m+1}{n} \pmod{1} & j = 0\\ \frac{m}{n} \pmod{1} & j \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

2. Jump\_{n,j} is strictly increasing on  $\mathbb{Q} \cap \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ , and Jump\_{n,j}  $\left(\mathbb{Q} \cap \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)\right) \subset \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \cap \left[\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) + \frac{1}{n}\right)$ .

Together with the definition of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$ , this claim implies that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  is strictly increasing on  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof of Claim.* 1. This is clear from the fact that

$$\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) \equiv \begin{cases} 0 \pmod{1} & j \ge 1\\ \frac{1}{n} \pmod{1} & j = 0 \end{cases}$$

2. Given rational angles  $0 \leq \theta < \theta' < \frac{1}{n-1}$ , for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $x_m = u_{n,j,\theta'} \circ \mu_m^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta)$ . Then by Propositions VI.5 and VI.6, in base (n+1), we have

$$\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) < .x_1 x_2 x_3 \cdots < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta')$$

This shows that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  is strictly increasing on  $\left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ .

Note that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}\left(\frac{1}{n-1}\right) \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) + \frac{1}{n} \pmod{1}$ . Thus, to prove point (2), it suffices to show that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}\left(\frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  for all  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ .

Let  $t_1 t_2 t_3 \cdots$  be an n-adic expansion for  $\theta$  that does not end in the constant stream  $nnn\cdots$ . Then there exists a minimal index  $r \ge 1$  such that  $t_r = 0$ , and for all integers 0 < r' < r, we have  $t_{r'} = 1$ . Thus, we note that  $0 \le \mu_n^{\circ(r-1)}(\theta) < \frac{1}{n}$ , and for all 0 < r' < r, we have  $\frac{1}{n} \le \mu_n^{\circ(r'-1)}(\theta) < .1t_1t_2t_3\cdots$  in base n, and  $.1t_1t_2t_3\cdots \equiv \frac{\theta+1}{n} \pmod{1}$ .

We split this into two cases:

- j = 0: in this case, for all 0 < r' < r, we have  $u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(r'-1)}(\theta) = 2$ , and  $u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(r-1)}(\theta) \leq 1$ . Thus, in base (n+1),  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) < \overline{2} \equiv \frac{2}{n} \pmod{1} \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}\left(\frac{1}{n-1}\right) \pmod{1}$ .
- $j \ge 1$ : in this case, for all 0 < r' < r, we have  $u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(r'-1)}(\theta) = 1$ . We also have  $u_{n,j,\theta} \circ \mu_n^{\circ(r-1)}(\theta) = 0$ . Thus, in base (n+1),  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) < \overline{1} \equiv \frac{1}{n} \pmod{1} \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}\left(\frac{1}{n-1}\right) \pmod{1}$ .

## VI.3: Jump<sub>n,i</sub> preserves spiders

Next, we show that for any  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  and  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , the spiders  $S_n(\theta)$  and  $S_{n+1}(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta))$  are isomorphic. For the rest of this section, we fix  $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  and  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ . Let  $\phi$  denote the angle  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta)$ , and  $x_1x_2x_3\cdots$  be a *n*-adic expansion for  $\theta$  that does not end in a constant string of (n-1)'s.

- **Proposition VI.9.** 1. The angles in  $\mathcal{O}_n(\theta)$  and  $\mathcal{O}_{n+1}(\phi)$  have the same circular order. In particular, the pre-period and period of  $\phi$  under  $\mu_{n+1}$  coincide with the pre-period and period respectively of  $\theta$  under  $\mu_n$ .
  - 2. If  $\theta \equiv \theta' + \frac{m}{n-1} \pmod{1}$  for some angle  $\theta' \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  and some  $m \in \{0, 1, \cdots, m-1\}$ , then the  $\mu_{n+1}$ -orbit of  $\phi$  does not intersect  $T_{n+1,j+m}^{stat}(\phi)$ .
- *Proof.* 1. Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . This is because for all degrees n and all angles  $t \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}\left(t + \frac{1}{n-1}\right) = \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(t) + \frac{1}{n-1}$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , implying that  $\mathcal{O}_n(t)$  and  $\mathcal{O}_n\left(t + \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  have the same circular order. Item (1) now follows directly from Proposition VI.5.
  - 2. First assume m = 0. So  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . For every  $r \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\mu_n^{\circ(r-1)}(\theta) \in \left(\frac{m}{n}, \frac{m+1}{n}\right) \implies \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(r-1)}(\phi) \in \begin{cases} \left(\frac{m}{n+1}, \frac{m+1}{n+1}\right) & m \in \{0, 1, \cdots, j-1\} \\ \left(\frac{m+1}{n+1}, \frac{m+2}{n+1}\right) & m \in \{j+1, \cdots, n-1\} \end{cases}$$

Moreover, if  $\mu_n^{\circ(r-1)}(\theta) \in \left(\frac{m}{n}, \frac{\theta+m}{n}\right)$  for some  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, j-1\}$ , then  $\mu_n^{\circ r}(\theta) < \theta$ , in turn implying  $\mu_n^{\circ r}(\phi) < \phi$ . But this means we must have  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(r-1)}(\phi) \in \left(\frac{m}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+m}{n+1}\right)$ . Using similar arguments,

- the sector  $T_{n,m}^{stat}(\theta)$  corresponds to  $T_{n+1,m}^{stat}(\phi)$  for m < j, and to  $T_{n+1,m+1}^{stat}(\phi)$  for m > j, and the orbit points in these sectors are in the same circular order;
- the sector  $T_{n,j}^{stat}(\theta)$  corresponds to  $T_{n+1,j+1}^{stat}(\phi)$ , and the orbit points in these sectors are in the same circular order;

• if there is an orbit point in  $\mathcal{O}_n(\theta)$  on the boundary of  $T_{n,m}^{stat}(\theta)$  for some  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , this implies  $\theta$  is periodic under  $\mu_n$ , with some period k. In this case, if  $\theta$  is the smaller angle in a companion pair, then

$$\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi) \equiv \frac{\phi+j}{n+1} \pmod{1} \in \partial T_{n+1,j-1}^{stat}(\phi) \cap \partial T_{n+1,j}^{stat}(\phi)$$

Else,

$$\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi) \equiv \frac{\phi+j+1}{n+1} \pmod{1} \in \partial T_{n+1,j}^{stat}(\phi) \cap \partial T_{n+1,j+1}^{stat}(\phi)$$

The rest of item (2) follows from the fact that

$$\theta \equiv \theta' + \frac{m}{n-1} \pmod{1}$$
$$\implies \phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta') + \frac{m}{n} \pmod{1}$$
$$\implies T_{n+1,j+m}^{stat}(\phi) = T_{n+1,j}^{stat}(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta')) + \frac{m}{n}$$

г		l
		l
		L

**Example VI.10.** Let n = 2 and consider  $\theta \equiv \frac{1}{2^3-1} \pmod{1} \equiv \frac{1}{7} \pmod{1}$  as in Example VI.3. In Figure 6.3 we illustrate the spiders  $\hat{S}_3(\operatorname{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta))$  and  $\hat{S}_3(\operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta))$ .

**Example VI.11.** Let n = 2 and consider  $\theta \equiv \frac{17}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$  as in Example VI.4. Figure 6.4 shows that  $\hat{S}_2(\theta)$ ,  $\hat{S}_3(\operatorname{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta))$  and  $\hat{S}_3(\operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta))$  are all isomorphic.

Remark VI.12. Proposition VI.9 implies that the graphs  $\hat{S}_n(\theta) \subset \hat{S}_n^{ext}(\theta)$  and  $\hat{S}_{n+1}(\phi) \subset \hat{S}_{n+1}^{ext}(\phi)$  are congruent.

**Proposition VI.13.**  $\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{n,\theta}|\hat{S}_n(\theta)$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{n+1,\phi}|\hat{S}_{n+1}(\phi)$  are conjugate by a homeomorphism  $\hat{h}$  that preserves the circular order of legs and satisfies  $\hat{h}(\infty) = \infty$  and  $\hat{h}(\exp(2\pi i\theta)) = \exp(2\pi i\phi)$ .

Consequently,  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta} | S_n(\theta)$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{n+1,\phi} | S_{n+1}(\phi)$  are conjugate by a homeomorphism h:  $S_n(\theta) \to S_{n+1}(\phi)$  that preserves the circular order of legs, and satisfies  $h(\infty) = \infty$  and  $h(x_1) = \underline{x}_1$ , where  $x_1$  is the equivalence class of  $\exp(2\pi i\theta)$  in  $S_n(\theta)$ , and  $\underline{x}_1$  is the equivalence class of  $\exp(2\pi i\theta)$  in  $S_n(\theta)$ , and  $\underline{x}_1$  is the equivalence class of  $\exp(2\pi i\phi)$  in  $S_{n+1}(\phi)$ .

Proof. For  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\theta_m$  and  $\phi_m$  denote the angles  $\mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta)$  and  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(m-1)}(\phi)$  respectively. Define  $\hat{h} : \hat{S}_n(\theta) \longrightarrow \hat{S}_{n+1}(\phi)$  as  $h(r \exp(2\pi i \phi_n)) = r \exp(2\pi i \phi_n)$ . Proposition VI.9 implies that  $\hat{h}$  satisfies the required properties, and by definition of the graphs  $S_n(\theta)$  and  $S_{n+1}(\phi)$ ,  $\hat{h}$  descends to a homeomorphism  $h : S_n(\theta) \longrightarrow S_{n+1}(\phi)$  as required. In other words, the following diagram commutes:

Here,  $\pi$  is the notation used for the quotient map between a standard or extended spider and its corresponding quotient.

*Remark* VI.14. In later sections, we will simply say that  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta} |S_n(\theta)|$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{n+1,\phi} |S_{n+1}(\phi)|$  are conjugate and assume that the conjugating map satisfy the properties in the above proposition.

**Proof of Theorem I.6**. The theorem follows from Propositions VI.8 and Remark VI.12.  $\Box$ 

Remark VI.15. Let  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ , and let  $\nu$  be the kneading sequence of  $\theta$ . Suppose  $T_{n,m}^{stat}(\theta)$  is the sector containing  $\theta$  in its interior. Construct a sequence  $\nu^j = \nu_1^j \nu_2^j \nu_3^j \dots$  using the following rule for each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ :

- If  $\mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta)$  in one of the sectors  $T_{n,m}^{stat}(\theta), T_{n,m+1}^{stat}(\theta), \cdots, T_{n,j-1}^{stat}(\theta)$  (or equivalently,  $\nu_m \in \{0, 1, \cdots, j-1-m\}$ ), then  $\nu_m^j := \nu_m$ .
- If  $\mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta)$  is in one of the sectors  $T_{n,j}^{stat}(\theta), T_{n,j+1}^{stat}(\theta), \cdots, T_{n,m-1}^{stat}(\theta)$  (or equivalently,  $\nu_m \in \{j - m, j + 1 - m, \cdots, n - 1\}$ ), then  $\nu_m^j := \nu_m + 1 \pmod{n}$

In the resulting sequence  $\nu^j$ , for all  $m, m' \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $\nu^j_m = \nu^j_{m'}$  if and only if  $\nu_m = \nu_{m'}$ . Proposition VI.5 shows that  $\nu^j$  is the kneading sequence of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,i}(\theta)$ .

Remark VI.16 (Distinctness of the  $\operatorname{Jump}'_{n,j} s$ ). Given any degree n, let  $\theta$  be pre-periodic angle under  $\mu_n$  whose orbit intersects every static sector. For example,  $\theta$  can be taken to be  $0\overline{x_1x_2\cdots x_{n-1}}$  in base n, where  $x_i = i$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots n - 1$ . Then for distinct elements  $j, \hat{j}$  in the set  $\{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , it is clear that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \neq \operatorname{Jump}_{n,\hat{j}}(\theta)$ . Thus  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,\hat{j}}$  are different functions.

# CHAPTER VII

# Combinatorial Embeddings in the Unicritical Family

**Definition VII.1.** Let  $n, n' \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$ . Given  $X \subseteq P_n$  and  $Y \subseteq P_{n+1}$ , a function  $\mathcal{E} : X \to Y$  is said to be a *combinatorial embedding* if for every  $\lambda \in X$ ,

- 1. the postsingular portraits of  $\lambda$  and  $\hat{\lambda}$  are isomorphic;
- 2. if  $\hat{\lambda} \in X$  satisfies  $\lambda \triangleleft \hat{\lambda}$ , then  $\mathcal{E}(\lambda) \triangleleft \mathcal{E}(\hat{\lambda})$ ;
- 3. if  $\lambda$  is hyperbolic and  $\hat{\lambda} \in X$  is also hyperbolic and is a satellite of  $\lambda$ , then  $\mathcal{E}(\hat{\lambda})$  is a satellite of  $\mathcal{E}(\lambda)$ .

In this chapter, for every  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ , we will construct a set of n distinct combinatorial embeddings  $\{\mathcal{E}_{n,j} : \mathcal{P}_n \to \mathcal{P}_{n+1} : j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}\}$  using the 'Jump' maps defined in Chapter VI. Fix a degree  $n \geq 2$ . We will construct the embeddings  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}$  using Theorem I.6, and prove Theorem I.7 by exhibiting additional properties of the Jump<sub>n,j</sub>'s. First, fix  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ .

# VII.1: Image of $Jump_{n,i}$

We give here a description of the image of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  in  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ . Recall from Proposition VI.9 that every  $\phi$  in the image of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j} \left| \left[ 0, \frac{1}{n-1} \right) \right|$  has the property that at least one static sector does not contain any angles in  $\mathcal{O}_{n+1}(\phi)$ . We will show here that all such angles are in the image of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  for some j.

Fix  $j \in \{0, 1, \cdots, n-1\}$ .

**Proposition VII.2.** Let  $\phi \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \cap \left[ \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) + \frac{1}{n} \right)$ . If the  $\mu_{n+1}$ -orbit of  $\phi$  does not intersect  $T_{n+1,j}^{stat}(\phi)$ , then  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \pmod{1}$  for a unique angle  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\ell, k$  be the pre-period and period respectively of  $\phi$  under  $\mu_{n+1}$ . If  $\ell = 0$  and k = 1 then it is clear that  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) \pmod{1}$ , since this is the only periodic angle of period 1 in the sector  $\left[\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) + \frac{1}{n}\right]$ .

Otherwise, let  $.y_1y_2\cdots .y_\ell \overline{y_{\ell+1}y_{\ell+2}\cdots y_{k+\ell}}$  be an (n+1)- adic expansion for  $\phi$  that does not terminate in a constant stream of n's. We define another symbol shift function as follows:

$$w: \mathcal{O}_{n+1}(\phi) \longrightarrow \{0, 1, \cdots, n-1\}$$

$$w(t) = \begin{cases} m & t \in \left[\frac{m}{n+1}, \frac{m+1}{n+1}\right] \text{ for some } m \in \{0, 1, ..., j-1\} \\ j & t \in \left[\frac{j}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+j}{n+1}\right] \\ j & t \in \left[\frac{\phi+j+1}{n+1}, \frac{j+2}{n+1}\right) \\ m-1 & t \in \left[\frac{m}{n+1}, \frac{m+1}{n+1}\right] \text{ for some } m \in \{j+2, j+3, \cdots, n\} \end{cases}$$

We claim that the angle  $\theta \equiv \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{w \circ \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(m-1)}(\phi)}{n^m} \pmod{1}$  is pre-periodic under  $\mu_n$  with preperiod  $\ell$  and period k, and that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \equiv \phi \pmod{1}$ .

For every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , for ease of notation, we let  $\theta_m \equiv \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) \pmod{1}$ ,  $\phi_m \equiv \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(m-1)}(\phi) \pmod{1}$ and  $x_m = w(\phi_m)$ . By this notation,  $x_1 x_2 \cdots$  is an *n*-adic expansion for  $\theta$ . The angle  $\theta$  is clearly rational, and has some pre-period  $\ell'$  and period k' under  $\mu_n$ . It is clear that  $\ell' \leq \ell$ and that k'|k. We first prove the following claims:

Claim 1.  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . Claim 2.  $\ell' = \ell$  and k' = k.

Assuming these claims to be true, by definition of the functions w and  $u_{n,j,\theta}$ , we can see that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) = \phi$ . By Proposition VI.8, the angle  $\theta$  is unique.

Proof of Claim 1. Let  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) \equiv \frac{r}{n} \pmod{1}$ . We note that r = 0 if  $j \ge 1$ , and r = 1 if j = 0.

- if  $\phi < \frac{r+1}{n+1}$ , we see that  $w(\phi) = 0$ . Thus  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n}\right)$ .
- if  $\phi \in \left[\frac{r+1}{n+1}, \frac{r+1}{n}\right)$ , then there exists an index m > 1 such that  $y_{m'} = r+1$  for all m' < m, and  $y_m \leq r$ .
  - if j = 0, then r = 1. By the above discussion, since  $y_{m'} \ge j + 2$ , we have  $x_{m'} = w(\phi_{m'}) = y_{m'} 1 = 1$  for all m' < m, and  $x_m = w(\phi_m) = 0$ .

- if 
$$j \ge 1$$
, then  $r = 0$ . Thus  $x_{m'} = w(\phi_{m'}) = 1$  for all  $m' < m$ , and  $x_m = w(\phi_m) = 0$ .

In both cases above, we see that  $\theta \in \left[\frac{1}{n}, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ .

Proof of Claim 2. Now suppose k' < k. Then  $\theta_{\ell'+1} \equiv \theta_{\ell'+k'+1} \pmod{1}$ , which can happen only if  $x_m = x_{m+k'}$  for all  $m > \ell'$ . We note, for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\phi_m \in \left[0, \frac{\phi + k'}{n+1}\right] \implies x_m = y_m,$$
  
$$\phi_m \in \left[\frac{\phi + j' + 1}{n+1}, 1\right) \implies x_m = y_m - 1$$

So if  $x_m = x_{m+k'}$ , then  $y_m = y_{m+k'}$  or  $\{y_m, y_{m+k'}\} = \{k', k'+1\}$ .

Let  $D = \{m > \ell' | y_m \neq y_{m+k'}\}$ . Note that D is non-empty, since  $k \in D$ . Let  $r = \inf D$ , and observe that

$$y_r < y_{r+k'} \implies \phi_r \in \left(\frac{k'}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+k'}{n+1}\right],$$

• since only one angle of the form  $\frac{\phi+m}{n+1}$  can belong to  $\mathcal{O}_{n+1}(\phi)$ , exactly one of the following equalities holds:

$$\phi_r \equiv \frac{\phi+j}{n} \pmod{1}$$
, or  $\phi_{r+j} \equiv \frac{\phi+j+1}{n} \pmod{1}$ .

Therefore,

•

$$\phi_{r+1} < \phi_{r+k'+1}$$
$$\iff y_{r+1}y_{r+2}\cdots \dots < y_{r+k'+1}y_{r+k'+2}\cdots \dots$$

So at the first index m > r in D, we must have  $y_m < y_{m+k'}$ . The above discussion shows that exactly one of the following statements is true:

$$y_m \leqslant y_{m+\ell'} \ \forall m > \ell', \text{ or } y_m \geqslant y_{m+\ell'} \ \forall m > \ell'.$$

Supposing the first condition to be true, we then have, for any  $m \in D$ ,

$$y_m \leqslant y_{m+k'} \leqslant \cdots \leq y_{m+(\frac{k}{k'}-1)j} \leqslant y_{m+k} = y_m,$$

which implies that  $y_m = y_{m+k'}$ , and thereby contradicts the definition of D. Thus we have shown that k' = k.

Suppose  $\ell' < \ell$ , then there exists an integer r > 0 such that  $\ell' = \ell - rk$ . Then  $\theta_{\ell'+1} \equiv \theta_{k+\ell'+1} \pmod{1}$ , and this holds only if for all  $m > \ell'$ , we have  $x_m = x_{m+k}$ . But

this means, for all  $m > \ell'$  such that  $y_m \neq y_{m+k}$ , we have  $y_m, y_{m+k} \in \{k', k'+1\}$ . We note that  $y_\ell \neq y_{k+\ell}$ . Without loss of generality, suppose,  $y_\ell = k'$ ,  $y_{k+\ell} = k'+1$ . Then we have  $\phi_\ell \in \left[\frac{k'}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+k'}{n+1}\right]$  and  $\phi_{k+\ell} \in \left[\frac{\phi+k'}{n+1}, \frac{k'+2}{n+1}\right)$ . Therefore,

$$\phi_{\ell+1} < \phi < \phi_{k+\ell+1},$$

which is a contradiction. Thus, we must have  $\ell' = \ell$ .

Remark VII.3. This proposition also shows that if  $\phi \in \left[\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) + \frac{m}{n}, \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) + \frac{m+1}{n}\right)$  for some  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , and  $\mathcal{O}_{n+1}(\phi)$  does not intersect  $T_{n+1,j+m}^{stat}(\phi)$ , then there exists a unique angle  $\theta \in \left[\frac{m}{n-1}, \frac{m+1}{n-1}\right)$  such that  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \pmod{1}$ .

For the rest of this section, we fix  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$  and a monic representative  $c \in M_n(\lambda)$ . We saw that for any  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$ , the map  $\mathcal{F}_{n+1,j,\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta)}$  defined in the discussion following Definition II.52 is Thurston equivalent to a polynomial  $\lambda_{j,\theta} \left(1 + \frac{z}{n+1}\right)^{n+1}$  such that the angle  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \pmod{1} \in \Theta_{n+1}(\lambda_{j,\theta})$ . We will show that  $\lambda_{j,\theta}$  is independent of the choice of  $\theta$  and c, allowing us to define  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda) = \lambda_{j,\theta}$ .

**Proposition VII.4.** Let  $c' = \exp(\frac{2\pi i m}{n-1})c$  for some  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ . For  $\theta' \equiv \theta + \frac{m}{n-1} \pmod{1}$ , we have  $\lambda_{j,\theta} = \lambda_{j,\theta'}$ .

Proof. Jump<sub>n,j</sub>( $\theta$ ) is an angular coordinate for a PCf parameter  $c_{n,j,\theta} \in M_{n+1}(\lambda_{j,\theta})$ . By the definition of the Jump<sub>n,j</sub> functions, we know that Jump<sub>n,j</sub>( $\theta'$ )  $\equiv \phi + \frac{m}{n} \pmod{1}$ , and hence Jump<sub>n,j</sub>( $\theta'$ )  $\in \Theta_{n+1}(\lambda_{j,\theta})$ . However, Jump<sub>n,j</sub>( $\theta'$ ) is an angular coordinate for the point  $\exp(\frac{2\pi i m}{n})c_{n,j,\theta} \in M_{n+1}(\lambda_{j,\theta'})$ , from which the statement follows.

Due to the above proposition, we can assume without loss of generality that c is in the subwake defined by  $\left(0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ .

### VII.2: Definition for critically periodic parameters

First suppose  $\lambda$  has a k-periodic critical point, with  $k \ge 2$ . Throughout this section, we fix  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$ . By our assumption on c, we have  $\theta \in \left(0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . Note that the parameter ray  $R_n(\theta)$  could land either at the root or a co-root of the hyperbolic component U containing c.



Figure 7.1: Jump<sub>2,1</sub>( $\theta$ ) and Jump<sub>2,1</sub>( $\theta'$ ) for the companion pair ( $\theta, \theta'$ ) =  $(\frac{1}{7}, \frac{2}{7})$  that land at the hyperbolic component containing the "rabbit" parameter  $c \approx -0.122561 + 0.744862i$ 

#### Landing at a root

We first suppose that  $\theta$  lands at the root of U, and has companion  $\theta'$ . Let  $\phi$  and  $\phi'$  denote the angles  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,i}(\theta)$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,i}(\theta')$  respectively.

**Proposition VII.5.**  $\phi, \phi'$  are companion angles under  $\mu_{n+1}$ .

Proof. Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{\mathcal{A}_1, \cdots, \mathcal{A}_r\}$  be the orbit portrait generated by  $(\theta, \theta')$ , and let  $\mathcal{O}(\theta, \theta') = \bigcup_{i=1}^r \mathcal{A}_i$ . The symbol shift functions  $u_{n,j,\theta}$  and  $u_{n,j,\theta'}$  coincide on  $\mathcal{O}(\theta, \theta')$ , since  $\mathcal{O}(\theta, \theta') \cap \left(\frac{\theta+j}{n}, \frac{\theta'+j}{n}\right) = \emptyset$ . We use the following for ease of notation:

$$\forall m \in \mathbb{N}, \ \theta_m \equiv \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) \pmod{1} \ \theta'_m \equiv \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta') \pmod{1},$$
$$\phi_m \equiv \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(m-1)}(\phi) \pmod{1}, \ \phi'_m \equiv \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(m-1)}(\phi') \pmod{1}$$

For every  $j \in \{1, 2, \dots r\}$ , we define the set  $\mathcal{B}_i$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{B}_i = \{\phi_m : \theta_m \in \mathcal{A}_i\} \cup \{\phi'_m : \theta'_m \in \mathcal{A}_i\}$$

The collection  $\mathcal{B} = \{\mathcal{B}_1, \dots, \mathcal{B}_r\}$  is a partition of the union of the  $\mu_{n+1}$ -orbits of  $\phi$  and  $\phi'$ . In order to show that  $(\phi, \phi')$  is a companion pair, we first show that the angles in their orbits taken together form a formal orbit portrait.

Let  $\mathcal{B}(\theta, \theta') = \bigcup_{i=1}^{r} \mathcal{B}_i$ . We will prove that  $\mathcal{B}$  satisfies the properties (1) through (5) listed in Definition II.41.

1. This is clear by definition.

- 2. The fact that  $\mu_{n+1}$  maps  $\mathcal{B}_i$  onto  $\mathcal{B}_{i+1}$  is clear since  $\mu_n$  maps  $\mathcal{A}_i$  bijectively onto  $\mathcal{A}_{i+1}$ . The rest follows from Proposition VI.13.
- 3. For every  $i \in \{0, 1, \dots, r\}$ , define

$$\mathcal{B}_{i}(\theta) = \mathcal{O}_{n+1}(\phi) \cap \mathcal{B}_{i}$$
$$\mathcal{B}_{i}(\theta') = \mathcal{O}_{n+1}(\phi') \cap \mathcal{B}_{i}$$

Since  $\mathcal{A}_i \subset T_{n,m}^{stat}(\theta)$  for some  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , we have  $\mathcal{B}_i(\theta) \subset T_{n+1,m'}^{stat}(\phi)$  and  $\mathcal{B}_i(\theta') \subset T_{n+1,m'}^{stat}(\phi')$  for some  $m' \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$ . It suffices to show that

$$\mathcal{B}_i \subset \left(\frac{\phi'+m'}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+m'+1}{n+1}\right) = T^{stat}_{n+1,m'}(\phi) \cap T^{stat}_{n+1,m'}(\phi')$$

For any  $s \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$ , if there exists  $\psi \in \mathcal{B}_i \cap \left[\frac{\phi+s}{n+1}, \frac{\phi'+s}{n+1}\right]$ , then there exists  $r \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_i \cap \left[\frac{\theta+r}{n}, \frac{\theta'+r}{n}\right] \neq \emptyset$ , which is not possible. Thus, for every  $s \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$ ,

$$\mathcal{B}_i \cap \left[\frac{\phi+s}{n+1}, \frac{\phi'+s}{n+1}\right] = \emptyset$$

The result follows immediately.

- 4. Since the period of all angles in  $\mathcal{B}(\theta, \theta')$  is equal to k, and since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a formal orbit portrait, we have k = rp for some  $p \ge 1$ .
- 5. If  $\mathcal{A}_i \subset \left(\frac{\theta'+m}{n}, \frac{\theta+m+1}{n}\right)$  for some  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , then  $\mathcal{B}_i \subset \left(\frac{\phi'+m}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+m+1}{n+1}\right)$ .

Given distinct integers  $0 \leq i, i' \leq n$ , by property (2), the sets  $\mathcal{B}_{n,i}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{n,i'}$  are unlinked. Given  $m' \neq m$ , and any i, i', we want to show that  $\mathcal{B}_{m,i}, \mathcal{B}_{m',i'}$  are unlinked. If i = i' = 0, this follows from the fact that  $\mathcal{A}_m, \mathcal{A}_{m'}$  are unlinked. If at least one of i, i' is nonzero and  $\mathcal{B}_{m,i}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{m',i'}$  are linked, then without loss of generality, we can find angles  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{B}_{m,i}$  and  $\eta, \delta \in \mathcal{B}_{m',i'}$  that satisfy

$$\alpha < \eta < \beta < \delta$$

which implies that

$$(n+1)\alpha < (n+1)\eta < (n+1)\beta < (n+1)\delta$$

The inequalities are strict since  $\mathcal{B}_{m+1}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{m'+1}$  are disjoint. But  $\mathcal{B}_s$  maps bijectively onto  $\mathcal{B}_{s+1}$  for each s, and the above inequality implies that  $\mathcal{B}_{m+1}, \mathcal{B}_{m'+1}$  are linked, which is a contradiction.

Thus  $\mathcal{B}$  is a formal, non-trivial orbit portrait. As a last step, we show that  $\phi, \phi'$  are the characteristic angles of this orbit portrait. The interval  $(\phi, \phi')$  has either the smallest or largest arc length in  $\mathcal{B}_1$ . We let  $\ell_i$  be the length of the unique complementary arc  $\gamma_i$  of  $\mathcal{B}_i$  of length greater than  $\frac{1}{n}$ . Each  $\gamma_i$  is a critical arc - that is, under multiplication by n + 1, it covers the circle n times. Furthermore, the  $\gamma_i$ 's are the only critical arcs of  $\mathcal{B}$ .

For  $i \neq r$ ,  $\gamma_i$  is strictly contained in  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}\setminus \left[\frac{\phi'+m}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+m+1}{n+1}\right]$  for some m, whereas  $\gamma_r = \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}\setminus \left[\frac{\phi'+m_0}{n+1}, \frac{\phi+m_0+1}{n+1}\right]$  for some  $m_0$ . This proves that  $\ell_r = \max_i \ell_i$ . Therefore, the critical value arc bounded by  $\mu_{n+1}(\partial \gamma_r)$  is the shortest critical value arc among all critical value arcs. But we note that  $\mu_{n+1}(\partial \gamma_r) = \{\phi, \phi'\}$ , implying that

$$d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\phi,\phi') = \min_{i=1}^{r} \min_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{B}_{i}} d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\alpha,\beta)$$

This shows that  $(\phi, \phi')$  is the characteristic angle pair for  $\mathcal{B}$ , and the result follows.

**Example VII.6.** Let n = 2. The quadratic rabbit polynomial (so called because its Julia set looks like a rabbit) is given by  $z^2 + c$  where  $c \approx -0.122561 + 0.744862i$ . The root of the hyperbolic component containing the rabbit is the landing point of the companion angles  $(\theta, \theta') = (\frac{1}{7}, \frac{2}{7})$ . The pair of angles  $(\text{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta), \text{Jump}_{2,0}(\theta')) = (\frac{14}{26}, \frac{16}{26})$  is a companion pair forming angular coordinates for a "cubic rabbit" parameter  $c_{2,0,\theta} = c_{2,0,\theta'} \approx -0.54056 - 0.52858i$ .

Similarly, we also find that  $(\text{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta), \text{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta')) = (\frac{1}{26}, \frac{3}{26})$  also constitute angular coordinates for a "cubic rabbit" parameter  $c_{2,1,\theta} = c_{2,1,\theta'} \approx 0.54056 + 0.52858i$ . See Figure 7.1 for further details.

#### Landing at a co-root

In this section, we assume that  $\theta$  lands at a co-root of U, and show that its image under  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,i}$  lands at a co-root as well.

There exists an angle pair  $(\alpha, \alpha')$  with period k landing at the root of U. By the previous section, the angles  $\psi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha) \pmod{1}$ , and  $\psi' \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha') \pmod{1}$  land at the root of a hyperbolic component  $V \subset \mathcal{M}_{n+1}$ . Since  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  is order-preserving, the angle  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \pmod{1}$  lands in the wake of  $(\psi, \psi')$ , and by Proposition VI.5,  $\phi, \psi$  and  $\psi'$  all have period k under  $\mu_{n+1}$ . Additionally, by Remark VI.15, the kneading sequences of  $\phi, \psi$  and  $\psi'$  coincide with  $\nu^j$  up to and including the index (k-1). The itineraries of  $\phi$  with respect to both  $\psi$  and  $\psi'$  differ from each other, and from the sequence  $\nu^j$  (see Remark VI.15) at the *k*th position. Since  $\psi < \phi < \psi'$ , we have  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi) \in \left(\frac{\psi+m}{n+1}, \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1}\right)$  for some  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$ . We now show that  $\phi$  lands at a co-root of V.

**Proposition VII.7.** 1.  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi) \neq \frac{\psi+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$ , and  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi') \neq \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$ .

2. There exists an angle  $\phi'$  landing at a co-root of V such that  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi') \in (\frac{\psi+m}{n+1}, \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1})$ .

*Proof.* 1. First, we note that we have

$$d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\psi,\psi') < d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\mu_{n+1}(\psi), \ \mu_{n+1}(\psi')) < \dots < d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi), \ \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi'))$$

This in turn implies that

$$d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\psi,\phi) < d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\mu_{n+1}(\psi), \ \mu_{n+1}(\phi)) < \dots < d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi), \ \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi))$$

Suppose  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi) \equiv \frac{\psi+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$ , we would then have  $d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}\left(\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi), \ \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi)\right) = \frac{d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\psi,\phi)}{n}$ , which is a contradiction. By a similar argument,  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}\psi' \not\equiv \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$ .

2. For any co-root angle  $\phi'$  of the component V, the angle  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi')$  cannot be in  $\left[\frac{\psi'+m}{n+1}, \frac{\psi+m+1}{n+1}\right]$  for any  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$ , since this would imply that  $\phi' \notin (\psi, \psi')$ . Therefore each  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi')$  belongs to  $\left(\frac{\psi+m}{n+1}, \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1}\right)$  for some m that satisfies  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi) \neq \frac{\psi+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$  and  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi') \neq \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$ , by (1). There are (n-1) co-roots for V, and (n-1) values of m that satisfy the latter this property.

Suppose we have two co-root angles  $\phi', \phi''$  with  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi'), \mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\phi'') \in (\frac{\psi+m}{n+1}, \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1})$ , this again contradicts the chain of inequalities given in (1), thus for each  $m \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$  with  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi) \not\equiv \frac{\psi+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$  and  $\mu_{n+1}^{\circ(k-1)}(\psi') \not\equiv \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1} \pmod{1}$ , there exists exactly one co-root angle  $\phi' \in (\frac{\psi+m}{n+1}, \frac{\psi'+m}{n+1})$ .

#### **Proposition VII.8.** $\phi$ lands at a co-root of V.

*Proof.* Let  $\phi'$  be the angle from item (2) in the previous proposition.

The angles  $\phi$  and  $\phi'$  have the same itinerary with respect to  $\psi$ , and therefore, the dynamic rays at angles  $\phi$  and  $\phi'$  land at the same point  $z_0$  in the plane of  $f_{n+1,\tilde{c}}$ , where  $\tilde{c}$  is the center of V, making  $z_0$  a cut point in the Julia set of  $f_{n+1,\tilde{c}}$  unless  $\phi = \phi'$ . But the co-root angle  $\phi'$ cannot land at a cut-point, and this forces  $\phi \equiv \phi' \pmod{1}$ .



(a) Parameter rays corresponding to  $\{\theta_i\}_{i=1}^4$  in degree 2



(b) Parameter rays corresponding to  $\{\text{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta_i)\}_{i=1}^4$  in degree 3

Figure 7.2: Images under Jump<sub>2,1</sub> for the angles  $\theta_1 \equiv \frac{17}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$ ,  $\theta_2 \equiv \frac{19}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$ ,  $\theta_3 \equiv \frac{23}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$  and  $\theta_4 \equiv \frac{31}{2^4(2^4-1)} \pmod{1}$  which land at  $c \approx 0.36638 + 0.59152i \in \mathcal{P}_2$ .

The discussion in this section shows that for a periodic parameter  $\lambda$ , we may define  $\mathcal{E}_i(\lambda) = \lambda_{i,\theta}$  for any angle  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$ , for any choice of  $c \in M_n(\lambda)$ .

**Proposition VII.9.** Given a companion pair  $(\phi, \phi')$  with  $\phi, \phi' \in \left[\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(0) + \frac{1}{n}\right)$  landing at a hyperbolic root in  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}$  such that the orbit of  $\phi$  (or  $\phi'$ ) under  $\mu_{n+1}$  does not intersect the interior of  $T_{n+1,j}^{\text{stat}}(\phi)$ , there exists a companion pair  $(\alpha, \alpha')$  periodic under  $\mu_n$ , with  $\alpha, \alpha' \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  such that  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha) \pmod{1}$  and  $\phi' \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha') \pmod{1}$ .

Proof. By Proposition VII.2, there exists  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \cap \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  such that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha) \equiv \phi \pmod{1}$ . If  $\alpha$  lands at a co-root in  $\mathcal{M}_n$ , this would imply that  $\phi$  lands at a co-root in  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}$ , contradicting our assumption. Thus  $\alpha$  lands at a root, and has a companion  $\alpha'$ . By Proposition VII.5,  $\phi' \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha') \pmod{1}$ .

## VII.3: Definition for critically pre-periodic parameters

Supposing  $\lambda$  has a strictly pre-periodic critical point, let  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$ . As in the previous section,  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . Let us denote by  $c_{n,j,\theta}$  the landing point of the ray at angle  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \pmod{1}$  in  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}$ . Since  $\phi$  is strictly pre-periodic under  $\mu_{n+1}$ ,  $c_{n,j,\theta}$  is critically pre-periodic under  $z^{n+1} + c_{n,j,\theta}$ .

**Proposition VII.10.** For  $\theta' \in \Omega_n(c)$ , both  $\phi$  and  $\phi' \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta') \pmod{1}$  land at  $c_{n,j,\theta}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\gamma$  denote the Carathéodory loop of  $f_{n,c}$ . Then, given any  $\alpha \in \Omega_n(c)$  and  $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\gamma(t_1) = \gamma(t_2) \iff \Sigma_{n,\alpha}(t_1) = \Sigma_{n,\alpha}(t_2)$$

This gives us  $\Sigma_{n,\theta}(\theta') = \Sigma_{n,\theta}(\theta) = \Sigma_{n,\theta'}(\theta) = \Sigma_{n,\theta'}(\theta')$ . This common sequence is also the kneading sequence of both  $\theta$  and  $\theta'$ . Let us call it  $\nu$ . By Remark VI.15, the angles  $\phi$  and  $\phi'$  have the kneading sequence  $\nu^j$ , and by Proposition VI.5, it is clear that  $\Sigma_{n+1,\phi}(\phi) = \Sigma_{n+1,\phi}(\phi') = \Sigma_{n+1,\phi'}(\phi) = \nu^j$ . So in the dynamical plane of  $z^{n+1} + c_{n,j,\theta}$ ,  $c_{n,j,\theta} = \gamma_j(\phi) = \gamma_j(\phi')$ , where  $\gamma_j$  is the corresponding Carathéodory loop. Hence the parameter ray at  $\phi'$  to  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}$  also lands at  $c_{n,j,\theta}$ .

This proof shows that  $c_{n,j,\theta}$  is independent of  $\theta$ . Due to Proposition VII.4, we may define  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda) = \lambda_{j,\theta} = (n+1)c_{n,j,\theta}^n$  for any  $c \in M_n(\lambda)$  and any  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$ .

**Example VII.11.** Let n = 2. The parameter rays at the following angles land at  $c \approx 0.36638 + 0.59152i \in \mathcal{M}_2$ :

$$\theta_1 \equiv \frac{17}{2^4(2^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}, \ \theta_2 \equiv \frac{19}{2^4(2^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}$$
$$\theta_3 \equiv \frac{23}{2^4(2^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}, \ \theta_4 \equiv \frac{31}{2^4(2^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}$$

Correspondingly, in degree 3, the angles listed below land at  $c_{2,1,\theta} = c_{2,1,\theta'} \approx 0.62759 + 0.29869i \in \mathcal{M}_3$ :

$$\operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta_1) \equiv \frac{163}{3^4(3^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}, \ \operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta_2) \equiv \frac{169}{3^3(3^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}$$
$$\operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta_3) \equiv \frac{187}{3^4(3^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}, \ \operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta_4) \equiv \frac{241}{3^4(3^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}$$

See Figure 7.2 for an illustration.

This finishes the definition of  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda)$  for all  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$ .

# VII.4: Properties of $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}$

In the rest of the chapter, we show that  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}$  is a combinatorial embedding. As in previous sections, fix  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$ ,  $c \in M_n(\lambda)$  within the subwake  $\left(0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  in the parameter plane, and  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ . First suppose  $\lambda$  is a periodic parameter with critical value of period  $k \ge 2$ . Thus c is the center of some hyperbolic component  $U \subset \mathcal{M}_n$ .
**Proposition VII.12.** Suppose that  $\theta$  lands at the root of U and has companion  $\theta'$ . Let V be the hyperbolic component in  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}$  associated with the pair  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta'))$ . Then V is primitive if and only if U is primitive.

*Proof.* Clearly,  $\rho_{\nu} = \rho_{\nu j}$  (see Section II.4.1).

A hyperbolic component is a satellite if and only if the penultimate entry of its internal address divides the final entry. From this, the second statement follows.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition VII.13.** If  $(\theta, \theta')$  is a satellite of  $(\psi, \psi')$ , then  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta'))$  is a satellite of  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\psi), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\psi'))$ .

*Proof.* Let k be the period of  $\psi$ , and let  $\nu$  be the kneading sequence of  $(\theta, \theta')$ .  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta'))$  is a satellite of a ray pair  $(\alpha, \alpha')$  of period k (since its internal address is the same as that of  $(\theta, \theta')$ ), and it lies in the wake of  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\psi), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\psi'))$ . Now suppose that the internal address of  $(\theta, \theta')$  is given by

$$1 \mapsto s_1 \mapsto \cdots \mapsto s_{r-1} = k \mapsto s_r = k'$$

Then for every  $m \in \{1, 2, \dots, r\}$ , there exist ray pairs  $P_m, Q_m$  periodic under  $\mu_n, \mu_{n+1}$  respectively that correspond to the entry  $s_m$ , and moreover, we have

$$P_{r} = (\theta, \theta')$$

$$P_{r-1} = (\psi, \psi')$$

$$Q_{r} = (\text{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta), \text{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta'))$$

$$Q_{r-1} = (\alpha, \alpha')$$

For any pair  $P = (\alpha', \beta')$ , let  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,i}(P)$  denote the pair  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,i}(\alpha'), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,i}(\beta'))$ .

For each  $m \in \{1, 2, \dots, r\}$ ,  $Q_r$  is in the wake of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_m)$ . Additionally, by definition,

$$Q_1 = \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_1) \text{ and } Q_r = \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_r)$$

Let  $m' \in \{1, 2, \dots, r\}$  be the first index where  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_{m'}) \neq Q_{m'}$ . By Proposition VI.8,  $Q_r$  is in the wake of both  $Q_{m'}$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_{m'})$ . Therefore, one of the following is true: either  $Q_{m'}$  is in the wake of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_{m'})$  or  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_{m'})$  is in the wake of  $Q_{m'}$ . In either case, by Lemma II.42, there exists a ray pair P of period  $p < s_{m'}$  that separates  $Q_{m'}$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_{m'})$ .

But P lies in the wake of  $Q_{m'-1}$ , and  $Q_r$  lies in the wake of P. This suggests that  $\rho_{\nu}(s_{m'-1}) \leq p < s_{m'}$ , which is a contradiction to the fact that  $\rho_{\nu}(s_{m'-1}) = s_{m'}$ . There-

fore, for all indices m', we must have  $Q_{m'} = \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(P_{m'})$ . In particular,  $(\alpha, \alpha') = Q_{r-1} = (\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta'))$ .

#### More on co-roots

Let  $\theta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  be an angle that lands at a co-root of a hyperbolic component U, whose root angles are  $(\alpha, \alpha')$ . Let V be the component in  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}$  on which  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha)$  lands. Note that in base (n+1),

$$\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) = \overline{u_{n,j,\theta}(\theta_1)u_{n,j,\theta}(\theta_2)\cdots u_{n,j,\theta}(\theta_k)(j+1)}$$

where  $\theta_m \equiv \mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) \pmod{1}$ . We also define the angles  $\psi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \pmod{1}$ , and  $\psi' = \overline{u_{n,j,\theta}(\theta_1)u_{n,j,\theta}(\theta_2)\cdots u_{n,j,\theta}(\theta_k)j}$  in base (n+1).

We know that  $\psi$  lands at a co-root of V. Note that  $\psi'$  has itinerary  $\nu^j$  with respect to  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha)$ . Also note that  $\psi' \equiv \psi - \frac{1}{(n+1)^{k}-1} \pmod{1}$ . By Proposition VII.7, we can show that there exists an angle  $\psi''$  landing at a co-root of V whose itinerary with respect to  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha)$  coincides with that of  $\psi'$ . This forces  $\psi' \equiv \psi'' \pmod{1}$ , that is,  $\psi'$  lands at a co-root of V.

We will show that the image of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j} \left| \left( \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \cap \left[ 0, \frac{1}{n-1} \right) \right) \right|$ does not intersect  $(\psi, \psi')$ .

**Proposition VII.14.** Given a rational angle  $\beta \in (\psi', \psi)$ , the  $\mu_{n+1}$ -orbit of  $\beta$  intersects the interior of  $T_{n+1,j}^{stat}(\beta)$ .

Proof. We note that the angles  $\psi'_k \equiv (n+1)^{k-1}\psi' \pmod{1}$ ,  $\beta_k \equiv (n+1)^{k-1}\beta \pmod{1}$  and  $\psi_k \equiv (n+1)^{k-1}\psi \pmod{1}$  are in counterclockwise order. Let  $\varepsilon := d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\beta, \psi')$ . Then,

$$d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}(\beta_k, \psi'_k) = (n+1)^{k-1}\varepsilon$$
$$d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}\left(\frac{\beta+j}{n+1}, \frac{\psi'+j}{n+1}\right) = \frac{\varepsilon}{n+1}$$

Since  $\psi'_k$  is the angle  $\frac{\psi'+j}{n+1}$ , we note that  $\frac{\psi'+j}{n+1}$ ,  $\frac{\beta+j}{n+1}$  and  $\beta_k$  are also in counterclockwise order, and moreover,  $\varepsilon \in \left(0, \frac{1}{(n+1)^k-1}\right)$ ; from this it follows that

$$d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}\left(\beta_k, \frac{\beta+j}{n+1}\right) = d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}\left(\beta_k, \psi'_k\right) - d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}\left(\frac{\beta+j}{n+1}, \frac{\psi'+j}{n+1}\right)$$
$$= (n+1)^{k-1}\varepsilon - \frac{\varepsilon}{n+1}$$
$$< \frac{1}{n+1}$$

Arguing similarly,

$$d_{\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}}\left(\beta_k, \frac{\beta+j+1}{n+1}\right) < \frac{1}{n+1}$$

Since  $n \ge 2$ , this means that

$$\beta_k \in \left[\frac{\beta+j}{n+1}, \frac{\beta+j+1}{n+1}\right]$$

The angles  $\psi', \psi$  are consecutive among angles periodic of period k under  $\mu_{n+1}$ , hence  $\beta$  cannot be periodic of period k. Thus,

$$\beta_k \in \left(\frac{\beta+j}{n+1}, \frac{\beta+j+1}{n+1}\right)$$

For any  $\delta \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ , by Proposition VI.9, the  $\mu_{n+1}$ -orbit of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\delta)$  does not intersect  $T_{n+1,j}^{stat}(\delta)$ . By the above proposition, we see that the image of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$  does not intersect  $(\psi', \psi)$ .

#### Critically pre-periodic parameters

Now assume that  $\lambda$  has pre-period  $\ell \ge 1$  and period  $k \ge 1$ . Choose an angular coordinate  $\theta \in \Omega_n(c)$ , and let  $c_{n,j,\theta}$  be the landing point of  $\phi \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \pmod{1}$ .

**Proposition VII.15.**  $\Omega_{n+1}(c_{n,j,\theta}) = \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\Omega_n(c))$ ; in particular, c and  $c_{n,j,\theta}$  have the same number of angular coordinates.

Proof. By Proposition VII.10,  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\Omega_n(c)) \subset \Omega_{n+1}(c_{n,j,\theta})$ . Given  $\phi' \in \Omega_{n+1}(c_{n,j,\theta})$  with  $\phi' \neq \phi$ , the  $\mu_{n+1}$ -orbit of  $\phi'$  does not intersect  $T_{n+1,j}^{stat}(\phi')$ . By Proposition VII.2, there exists an angle  $\theta' \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  with  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta') \equiv \phi' \pmod{1}$ .

Let  $\nu$  be the kneading sequence of  $\theta$ . Note that the itinerary of  $\phi'$  with respect to  $\phi$  is  $\nu^j$ . By construction, we can show that the itinerary of  $\theta'$  with respect to  $\theta$  is  $\nu$ . This implies that in the dynamical plane of  $z^n + c$ , the ray at angle  $\theta'$  lands at c. Thus, the parameter ray  $R_n(\theta')$  lands at c in  $\mathcal{M}_n$ , implying  $\phi' \in \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\Omega_n(c))$ .

**Proof of Theorem I.7.** Given  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$ , choose  $c \in M_n(\lambda)$  within the subwake  $\left(0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$  in the parameter plane. By Proposition VI.13,  $\lambda$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda)$  have the same dynamics on their postsingular sets, which shows (1) in Definition VII.1. The property (3) is clear by Proposition VII.12.

We show that property (2) is true: given  $\lambda \triangleleft \mu$ , there exist angles  $\theta, \theta' \in \Theta_n(\lambda)$  that land at the same point in  $\mathcal{M}_n$ , and  $\alpha \in \Theta_n(\mu)$  such that  $\theta < \alpha < \theta'$ . Without loss of generality, we may



(a) A few PCF parameters in  $\mathcal{P}_2$ 



(b) An illustration of  $\mathcal{E}_{2,0}: \mathcal{P}_2 \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_3$ 



(c) An illustration of  $\mathcal{E}_{2,1}: \mathcal{P}_2 \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_3$ 

Figure 7.3: Images of a few parameters in  $\mathcal{P}_2$  under  $\mathcal{E}_{2,0}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{2,1}$ . Parameters in the top picture are mapped to those in the bottom row pictures with matching number labels

assume that the landing point in  $\mathcal{M}_n$  of the parameter rays at angles  $\theta, \theta'$  is within the subwake  $\left(0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ . By monotonicity of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}$ , we have  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha) < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta')$ . By definition of  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}$ , for all  $\hat{\lambda} \in \mathcal{P}_n$ ,  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\Theta_n(\hat{\lambda})) \subseteq \Theta_{n+1}(\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\hat{\lambda}))$ . This shows that  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda) \triangleleft \mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\mu)$ .

Lastly, we show  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}$  is injective. Suppose  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda) = \mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda') = \mu$  for  $\lambda \neq \lambda'$ . Pick monic representatives c, c' for  $\lambda, \lambda'$  respectively that are in the sub-wake  $\left(0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$ .

• If c is critically periodic, let  $\theta, \theta'$  be the companion pair in  $\Omega_n(c)$  and  $\alpha, \alpha'$  be the companion pair in  $\Omega_n(c')$ . Without loss of generality, assume

$$0 < \theta < \theta' < \alpha < \alpha' < \frac{1}{n-1}$$

which implies

$$0 < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta') < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha) < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha') < \frac{1}{n}$$

By Proposition VII.5,  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta'))$ , and  $(\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha), \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha'))$  are companion pairs. The above inequality implies that they land on different hyperbolic components, but since both components are in the sub-wake  $(0, \frac{1}{n})$ , the centers of these components cannot both be monic representatives for  $\mu$ . This presents a contradiction.

• If c (and therefore c') are critically pre-periodic, choose  $\theta, \theta' \in \Omega_n(c)$  and  $\alpha, \alpha' \in \Omega_n(c')$ . Again without loss of generality, we may assume

$$0 < \theta < \theta' < \alpha < \alpha' < \frac{1}{n-1}$$
$$0 < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta') < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha) < \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha') < \frac{1}{n}$$

Let x be the landing point of  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta)$ . Proposition VII.15,  $\Omega_{n+1}(x) = \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\Omega_n(c))$ , and so  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha)$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\alpha')$  land at  $y \neq x$ . Since x and y are both in the subwake  $(0, \frac{1}{n})$ , they are not both monic representatives of  $\mu$ , which is a contradiction.

Figure 7.3 illustrates  $\mathcal{E}_{2,0}, \mathcal{E}_{2,1}: \mathcal{P}_2 \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_3$  on a few input points.

Remark VII.16 (Distinctness of the  $\mathcal{E}'_{n,j}$ s). Given any degree n, let  $\theta$  be pre-periodic angle under  $\mu_n$  whose orbit intersects every static sector. For example, as in Remark VI.16, we can take  $\theta$  to be  $0\overline{x_1x_2\cdots x_{n-1}}$  in base n where  $x_i = i$  for  $i = 1, 2, \cdots n - 1$ . Then for distinct elements  $j, \hat{j}$  in  $\{0, 1, \cdots, n-1\}$ , we saw that  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta) \neq \operatorname{Jump}_{n,\hat{j}}(\theta)$ . Moreover, it is easy to see that the angles  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta)$  and  $\operatorname{Jump}_{n,\hat{j}}(\theta)$  do not share a degree n + 1 kneading sequence. Let  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$  be the unique element with  $\theta \in \Theta_n(\lambda)$ . By the above discussion, we have  $\mathcal{E}_{n,j}(\lambda) \neq \mathcal{E}_{n,\hat{j}}(\lambda)$ .

# CHAPTER VIII Dynamical Approximations for Postsingularly Finite Exponentials by Unicriticals

Our focus in this chapter is to prove Theorem I.5. With this end in view, throughout this chapter we fix  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $\underline{s} \in \Theta_{\infty}(\lambda)$ . Let  $\ell$  and k be the pre-period and period respectively of  $\underline{s}$  under left shift. First we define a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}} : (\mathbb{R}^2, A_{\underline{s}}) \bigcirc$  that converge topologically to  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$ .

Next we obtain a sequence of angles  $(\theta_n)$  such that  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta_n}$  are Thurston equivalent for every n. We prove that these angles  $\theta_n$  also satisfy the growth condition

$$(n-1)\theta_n \equiv \frac{(n-1)Q(n)}{n^\ell (n^k - 1)} \pmod{1}$$

for some polynomial Q with integer coefficients that satisfies deg  $Q \leq \ell + k - 2$ . Letting  $\lambda_n$  be the unique point in  $\mathcal{P}_n$  such that  $\theta_n \in \Theta_n(\lambda_n)$ , we then show that  $p_{n,\lambda_n} \to p_{\lambda}$  as required.

### VIII.1: Construction of the maps $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$

Let  $N(\underline{s}) = 1 + 2(\max_{m} |s_{m}| + 1).$ 

Recall the construction of the graphs  $S_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s})$  and  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  from Section II.4.2, and let  $e_1$  denote the singular value of the map  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}: S_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s}) \to S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$ .

Choose a real number R > 0 such that  $\mathbb{D}_R$  contains  $A_{\underline{s}}$  and  $\mathbb{D}(e_1, 1/R)$  does not contain any other points of  $A_{\underline{s}}$ . Let  $\hat{\beta}_R = \partial \mathbb{D}_R$  and consider the lift  $\beta = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}^{-1}(\hat{\beta}_R)$ . This is a simple, unbounded arc on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Let  $\gamma_1$  be the leg of  $S_{\infty}^{ext}(\underline{s})$  landing at  $e_1$ . Since  $\hat{\beta}_R$  intersects  $\gamma_1$ exactly once, the path  $\beta$  intersects each leg  $p_r$  exactly once, and divides  $\mathbb{R}^2$  into two connected components: one of them contains  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}^{-1}(A_{\underline{s}})$ , and the other one contains some right half plane.

Similarly, let  $\hat{\alpha}_R = \partial \mathbb{D}(e_1, 1/R)$ . Then  $\alpha_R = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}^{-1}(\hat{\alpha}_R)$  is a simple unbounded arc in  $\mathbb{C}$ , and divides  $\mathbb{C}$  into two connected components: one of them contains  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}^{-1}(A_{\underline{s}})$ , and the other one contains some left half plane.

Let  $N = N(\underline{s})$ . We note that  $|s_m| \leq \frac{N-3}{2}$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Given  $n \geq N$ , let  $r_n = -\lfloor n - 3/2 \rfloor$ .

Then  $A_{\underline{s}}$  is contained in the infinite closed strip bounded by  $p_{r_n}$  and  $p_{r_n+n-1}$ , and this strip intersects exactly n lines  $\{p_{r_n}, p_{r_n+1}, \cdots, p_{r_n+n-1}\}$ . Let  $(R_n)_{n \ge N}$  be a sequence of real numbers such that  $R_n \to \infty$ , the disk  $\mathbb{D}_{R_n}$  contains  $A_{\underline{s}}$ , and the disk  $\mathbb{D}(e_1, 1/R_n)$  does not contain any points of  $A_{\underline{s}}$  other than  $e_1$ . For  $n \ge N$ , let  $D_n$  be the compact region bounded by  $\alpha_{R_n}, \beta_{R_n}, p_{r_n}$ and  $p_{r_n+n-1}$ , and  $D'_n$  be the closure of the connected component of  $\mathbb{C} \setminus (\alpha_{2R_n} \cup p_r \cup p_{n+r-1})$ containing  $A_{\underline{s}}$ .

Let  $\hat{K}_n = S_{\infty}(\underline{s}) \cap D'_n$ . Define a new graph  $K_n$  from  $\hat{K}_n$  by contracting all points on  $\alpha_{2R_n} \cap \hat{K}_n$  to a single new vertex  $a_n$ , and attaching a new vertex at  $\infty$ . This can be done in such a way that  $K_n \cap D_n = S_{\infty}(\underline{s}) \cap D_n$ . By this construction, it is easy to see that  $(K_n, a_n)$  is a generalized spider.

**Proposition VIII.1.** For every  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ , the map  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}|D_n$  as above can be extended to a degree n Thurston map  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}: (\mathbb{R}^2, A_{\underline{s}}) \bigcirc$ . The sequence  $(\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}})$  converges toopologically to  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}} = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}|D_n$ .

Let P be the set  $\{p_{r_n}, p_{r_n+1}, \cdots, p_{r_n+n-1}\}$ . For every  $j \in \{r_n, r_n + 1, \cdots, r_n + n - 1\}$ , let  $\hat{q}_j$  be the unique edge of  $K_n$  that begins at  $a_n$  and coincides with  $p_j$  on  $D_n$ , and  $q_j \subset \hat{q}_j$  be the segment from  $a_n$  to the unique point  $b_n \in p_j \cap \alpha_{R_n}$ . Observe that the intersection  $\gamma_1 \cap \partial \mathbb{D}(e_1, 1/R_n)$  contains a single point, namely  $\mathcal{G}_s(b_n)$ .

We extend  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  to  $q_j$  (and hence,  $\hat{q}_j$ ) by mapping  $q_j$  homeomorphically to  $\gamma_1 \cap \overline{\mathbb{D}(e_1, 1/R_n)}$ in such a way that  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}(a_n) = e_1$ . Similarly, for each  $j \in \{r_n, r_n + 1, \dots, r_n + n - 2\}$ , let  $\Delta_j$  be the triangular region bounded by  $q_j, q_{j+1}$  and  $\alpha_{R_n}$ . Using the Alexander trick, we can define  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  on  $\operatorname{int}(\Delta_j)$  so that it maps homeomorphically to  $\mathbb{D}(e_1, \frac{1}{R_n}) \setminus \gamma_1$ .

Similarly, for every j as above, we extend  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  to the unbounded component of  $D'_n \setminus (p_j \cup p_{j+1} \cup \beta_{R_n})$  so that said component maps homeomorphically onto  $\mathbb{C} \setminus (\overline{\mathbb{D}_{R_n}} \cup \gamma_1)$ .

Lastly, let  $\Delta$  be the unique unbounded face of  $\mathbb{C}\setminus \widehat{K}_n$ . By the Alexander trick, we can extend  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  to  $\overline{\Delta}$  so that  $\operatorname{int}(\Delta)$  is mapped homeomorphically to  $\mathbb{C}\setminus\gamma_1$ .

By this construction, for every  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ ,  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  maps  $K_n$  onto  $S_{\infty}(\underline{s})$ , and its restriction to the plane is a degree n Thurston map with postsingular set  $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{s}}$ . Since  $(D_n)$  is an exhaustion of the plane and  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}|D_n = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$ , we see that the sequence  $(\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}})$  converges topologically to  $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}$ .

Remark VIII.2. For every  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ , we note that the legs of the generalized spider  $(K_n, a)$  coincide near  $\infty$  with the legs of  $S_{\infty}^{ext}(\theta)$  bounded between  $p_{r_n}$  and  $p_{r_n+n-1}$ .

### VIII.2: Construction of the angles $(\theta_n)$

**Definition VIII.3.** Given  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  and  $Q \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ , let  $\kappa_Q : \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  be the function  $n \mapsto \frac{(n-1)Q(n)}{n^{\ell}(n^{k}-1)} \pmod{1}$ .

**Proposition VIII.4.** For  $n \ge \max_m |s_m|$ , let  $\theta_n(\underline{s})$  be the angle with n-adic expansion  $.x_1(n)x_2(n)\cdots x_\ell(n)\overline{x_{\ell+1}(n)x_{\ell+2}(n)\cdots x_{\ell+k}(n)}$  given by

$$x_m(n) = \begin{cases} s_m & s_m \ge 0\\ n - |s_m| & s_m < 0 \end{cases}$$

for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Then there exists an integer  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, N(\underline{s}) - 1\}$  and a polynomial  $Q \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$  with  $\deg Q \leq \ell + k - 2$  such that

$$\theta_{n+1}(\underline{s}) \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta_n(\underline{s})) \pmod{1}$$
$$(n-1)\theta_n(\underline{s}) \equiv \kappa_q(n) \pmod{1}$$

for all  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ .

Remark VIII.5. We note that the expansions  $x_1(n)x_2(n)\cdots x_\ell(n)\overline{x_{\ell+1}(n)x_{\ell+2}(n)\cdots x_{\ell+k}(n)}$ of  $\theta_n(\underline{s})$  given above also "converge" to  $\underline{s} = s_1s_2\cdots$  in a combinatorial sense.

Before we prove the above proposition, we will need one more statement.

**Proposition VIII.6.** Given integers  $\ell \ge 0, k \ge 1$  and polynomials  $Q, \hat{Q} \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ , if there exists a polynomial  $H \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$  such that  $\hat{Q}(X) - Q(X) = H(X)X^{\ell}(X^k - 1 + X^{k-2} + \cdots + 1)$ , then the functions  $\kappa_Q$  and  $\kappa_{\hat{Q}}$  coincide.

*Proof.* We note that in  $\mathbb{Q}[X]$ ,

$$\frac{(X-1)Q(X)}{X^{\ell}(X^{k}-1)} - \frac{(X-1)\hat{Q}(X)}{X^{\ell}(X^{k}-1)} = \frac{(X-1)H(X)X^{\ell}(X^{k-1}+X^{k-1}+\dots+1)}{X^{\ell}(X^{k}-1)} = H(X)$$

Since  $H \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ , we have  $\kappa_Q(n) - \kappa_{\widehat{Q}}(n) = H(n) \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ .

Proof of Proposition VIII.4. Let  $N = N(\underline{s}) = 1 + 2(\max_{m \in \mathbb{N}} |s_{m}| + 1)$ . For all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , and



Figure 8.1: The standard spiders  $\widehat{S}_n(\theta_n(\underline{s}))$  for n = 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, when  $\underline{s}$  is set to  $000(-1)\overline{0010}$ . The dotted lines indicate the additional legs in  $S_n^{ext}(\theta_n(\underline{s}))$ . The leg labelled m corresponds to  $\mu_n^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta_n(\underline{s}))$ . Compare with Figure 2.5.

 $n \ge N$ ,

$$s_m \ge 0 \implies 0 \le x_m(n) \le \frac{N-3}{2}$$
  
 $s_m < 0 \implies \frac{N+3}{2} \le x_m(n) \le n-1$ 

Recall that  $s_1 = 0$ . The interval  $(\frac{N-3}{2}, \frac{N+3}{2})$  contains at least one integer j in  $\{1, 2, \dots, N-1\}$ , and for any such j, for all  $n \ge N$ , it is easy to see that

$$\theta_n \in \left[0, \frac{1}{n-1}\right)$$
$$\theta_{n+1}(\underline{s}) \equiv \operatorname{Jump}_{n,j}(\theta_n(\underline{s})) \pmod{1}$$

We can think of the coefficients  $x_m(n)$  as values taken by polynomials  $x_m \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ . More particularly, for each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , define

$$x_m(X) = \begin{cases} s_m & s_m \ge 0\\ X - |s_m| & s_m < 0 \end{cases}$$

Let  $\hat{Q} \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$  be the polynomial given by

$$\widehat{Q}(X) = \sum_{m=1}^{\ell} x_m (X) X^{\ell-m} (X^k - 1) + \sum_{m=1}^{k} x_{\ell+m} (X) X^{k-m}$$

Then,

$$\frac{\hat{Q}(n)}{n^{\ell}(n^{k}-1)} = \sum_{m=1}^{\ell} \frac{x_{m}(n)}{n^{m}} + \sum_{m=1}^{k} \frac{x_{\ell+m}(n)}{n^{m+\ell-k}(n^{k}-1)}$$
$$= \sum_{m=1}^{\ell} \frac{x_{m}(n)}{n^{m}} + \sum_{m=\ell+1}^{\ell+k} \frac{x_{m}(n)}{n^{m}\left(1-\frac{1}{n^{k}}\right)}$$
$$\equiv \theta_{n}(\underline{s}) \pmod{1}$$

Since  $x_1(X) = s_1 = 0$  and  $x_2(X)$  is either constant or linear in X, the degree of  $\hat{Q}$  is less than or equal to  $\ell + k - 1$ . If deg  $\hat{Q} \leq \ell + k - 2$ , set  $Q = \hat{Q}$ . Otherwise, note that  $\hat{Q}$  has degree  $\ell + k - 1$  if and only if  $x_2(X) = X - |s_2|$ . In this case, the leading coefficient of  $\hat{Q}$  is 1, and we set  $Q(X) = \hat{Q}(X) - X^{\ell}(X^{k-1} + X^{k-2} + ... + X + 1)$ .

The polynomial  $Q \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$  thus defined has degree  $\leq \ell + k - 2$ , and by Proposition VIII.6,

it satisfies

$$\kappa_Q(n) \equiv \kappa_{\widehat{Q}}(n) \equiv (n-1)\theta_n(\underline{s}) \pmod{1} \ \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$$

**Example VIII.7.** Given  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ , for  $\underline{s} = 0\overline{r}$ , we have two separate cases:

- If  $r \ge 0$ , then  $N(\underline{s}) = 2r + 3$ ,  $\theta_n(\underline{s}) = \frac{r}{n(n-1)} = 0\overline{r}$  in base n, for all  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ , and Q(X) = r.
- If r < 0, then  $N(\underline{s}) = 2|r| + 3$ ,  $\theta_n(\underline{s}) = \frac{n-|r|}{n(n-1)} = 0$  in base n, for all  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ , and Q(X) = -|r| = r.

**Example VIII.8.** Let  $\underline{s} = 000(-1)\overline{0010}$ . We have  $N(\underline{s}) = 5$ , and for all  $n \ge N$ ,

$$\theta_n(\underline{s}) = .000(n-1)\overline{0010} = \frac{n^5 - n^4 + 1}{n^4(n^4 - 1)}$$

We note that  $Q(X) = X^4 + X - 1$ .

In fact, letting  $\theta = \frac{17}{2^4(2^4-1)}$ , we have  $\theta_n(\underline{s}) = \operatorname{Jump}_{n-1,1} \circ \operatorname{Jump}_{n-2,1} \circ \cdots \circ \operatorname{Jump}_{2,1}(\theta)$  for all  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ . Compare this with Example VI.4.

Next we show that for all  $n \ge N(s)$ , with  $\theta_n(\underline{s})$  defined as in Proposition VIII.4, the map  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  from Section VIII.1 and the polynomial Thurston map  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta_n}$  from Definition II.4.1 are Thurston equivalent.

**Proposition VIII.9.** Let  $N := N(\underline{s})$ ,  $\theta := \theta_N(\underline{s})$  be as defined in Proposition VIII.4. Let  $r = \frac{3}{2} - \frac{N}{2}$ . The circular order of the legs of  $S_N^{ext}(\theta)$  at  $\infty$  coincides with the circular order of the set of addresses  $\mathcal{O}_{\infty}(\underline{s}) \cup \{r\underline{s}, (r+1)\underline{s}, \cdots, (r+n-1)\underline{s}\}.$ 

*Proof.* It suffices to prove the following claims:

Claim 1. The angles in  $\mathcal{O}_N(\theta)$  and the addresses in  $\mathcal{O}_{\infty}(\underline{s})$  have the same circular order. Claim 2. For every  $j \in \{r, r+1, \cdots, \frac{N-3}{2}\},\$ 

$$\text{if } j \ge 0, \text{ then } \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) \in T^{stat}_{\infty,j}(\underline{s}) \implies \mu^{\circ(m-1)}_{N}(\theta) \in T^{stat}_{N,j}(\theta) \\ \text{if } j < 0, \text{ then } \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) \in T^{stat}_{\infty,j}(\underline{s}) \implies \mu^{\circ(m-1)}_{N}(\theta) \in T^{stat}_{N,N+j}(\theta)$$

Proof of Claim 1. Suppose  $\mu_N^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) < \mu_N^{\circ(m'-1)}(\theta)$  for some integers  $m \neq m'$ , then

$$x_m(N)x_{m+1}(N)\cdots < x_{m'}(N)x_{m'+1}(N)\cdots$$

where the digits  $x_m(N)$  are as defined in Proposition VIII.4. Let  $r \ge 0$  be the least integer such that  $x_{m+r}(N) \ne x_{m'+r}(N)$ . Then for all r' < r, there are two possibilities:

- If  $0 \leq x_{m+r'}(N) \leq \frac{N-3}{2}$ , then  $s_{m+r'} = x_{m+r'}(N) = x_{m'+r'}(N) = s_{m+r'}$ .
- Else, we have  $\frac{N+3}{2} \leq x_{m+r'}(N) \leq N-1$ , and thus,  $s_{m+r'} = x_{m+r'}(N) N = x_{m'+r'}(N) N = s_{m'+r'}(N) N =$

This implies, for all r' < r, that  $s_{m+r'} = s_{m'+r'}$ .

At the index m + r we have  $x_{m+r}(N) < x_{m'+r}(N)$ . There are only three possibilities:

- If  $x_{m'+r}(N) \leq \frac{N-3}{2}$ , then  $s_{m+r} = x_{m+r}(N) < x_{m'+r}(N) = s_{m'+r}$ .
- If  $x_{m+r}(N) \ge \frac{N+3}{2}$ , then  $s_{m+r} = x_{m+r}(N) N < x_{m'+r}(N) N = s_{m'+r}$ .
- If  $x_{m+r}(N) \leq \frac{N-3}{2}$  and  $x_{m'+r}(N) \geq \frac{N+3}{2}$ , then  $s_{m+r} > 0$  and  $s_{m'+r} < 0$ .

In the first two cases, we directly get  $\mu^{\circ(n-1)}(\underline{s}) < \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s})$ . In the third case,  $\mu^{\circ(n-1)}(\underline{s}) > \overline{0}$  and  $\mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) < \overline{0}$ . Thus  $\mu^{\circ(n-1)}(\underline{s}) << \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s})$ .

Lastly, if  $\mu_N^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) = \frac{\theta+r}{N}$ , then  $x_m(N) = r$  and  $x_{m'}(N) = 0$  for all m' > m. The latter condition implies  $s_{m'} = 0$  for all m' > m.

- If  $0 \leq r \leq \frac{N-3}{2}$ , then  $\mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) = r\overline{0}$ .
- If  $\frac{N-3}{2} \leq r \leq N-1$ , then  $\mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) = -c\overline{0}$ .

Proof of Claim 2. First assume  $j \ge 0$ . If  $\mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) \in T^{stat}_{\infty,j}(\underline{s})$ , then there are two cases:

- If  $j\underline{s} < \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) < (j+1)\overline{0}$ , then we note that  $s_m = j$ . Thus  $x_m(N) = s_m = j$ . This assumption also implies that  $\underline{s} < \mu^{\circ m}(\underline{s}) < \overline{0}$ . By the proof in Claim one, we have  $\theta < \mu_N^{\circ m}(\theta)$  in [0,1), and thus,  $\frac{\theta+j}{N} < \mu_N^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) < \frac{j+1}{N}$ .
- Else, we must have  $(j+1)\overline{0} < \mu^{\circ(m-1)}(\underline{s}) < (j+1)\underline{s}$ . In this case,  $x_m(N) = s_m = j+1$ , and by an argument similar to the one above, we see that  $\frac{j+1}{N} < \mu_N^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) < \frac{\theta+j+1}{N}$  are in counterclockwise order.

This shows that  $\mu_N^{\circ(m-1)}(\theta) \in T_{N,j}^{stat}(\theta)$ .

The case j < 0 follows from a similar discussion, and using the fact that if  $s_m < 0$ , then  $x_m(N) = N + s_m$  by definition.



Figure 8.2: The star marks the position of  $\lambda \approx 1.16302 + 0.71056i$ , the landing point of the parameter ray at address  $000(-1)\overline{0010}$  in the exponential parameter plane, indicated in blue

**Proposition VIII.10.** Let  $N = N(\underline{s})$ . For all  $n \ge N(\underline{s})$ , the maps  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta_n}$  and  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  are Thurston equivalent.

Proof. Using the general argument followed in Proposition VIII.9, it is easy to see that for every  $n \in N(\underline{s})$ , the generalized spider  $K_n$  from Section VIII.1 is congruent to  $S_n^{ext}(\theta_n(\underline{s}))$  for all  $n \ge N$ . Therefore, by Proposition II.51, the maps  $\mathcal{F}_{n,\theta_n(\underline{s})}$  and  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}$  are Thurston equivalent for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

#### VIII.3: Proof of Theorem I.5

Let  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}} : (\mathbb{R}^2, A_{\underline{s}}) \mathfrak{O}, n \geq N := N(\underline{s})$  be the sequence of Thurston maps constructed in Proposition VIII.1. By Main Theorem I.4, the operators  $\sigma_n := \sigma_{\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}}$  defined on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A_{\underline{s}} \cup \{\infty\})$ converge locally uniformly to the operator  $\sigma := \sigma_{\mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}}$ . Let  $\tau \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A_{\underline{s}} \cup \{\infty\})$  be the fixed point of  $\sigma$ .

Fix  $n \ge N$ . Let  $\lambda_n \in \mathcal{P}_n$  be the unique point such that  $\theta_n(\underline{s}) \in \Theta_n(\lambda_n)$ . Since  $\mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}} \simeq_{\text{comb}} \mathcal{F}_{n,\theta_n(\underline{s})} \simeq_{\text{comb}} p_{n,\lambda_n}$ , there exists a unique fixed point  $\tau_n \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A_{\underline{s}} \cup \{\infty\})$  for the operator  $\sigma_n$ .

**Proposition VIII.11.** The sequence of polynomials  $(p_{n,\lambda_n})$  converges to  $p_{\lambda}$  locally uniformly.

*Proof.* It is possible to prove this using Theorem V.9; however, we give a different proof here.



Figure 8.3: Approximating parameters  $(\lambda_n)$  for  $\lambda \approx 1.16302 + 0.71056i$ , angular coordinates given by  $000(n-1)\overline{0010}$  in base n. Compare with Figure 8.2

Recall that  $e_2 = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}(e_1) = \mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}(e_1)$  and  $e_3 = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}}(e_2) = \mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}}(e_2)$  for all  $n \ge N$ . It suffices to show that  $\lambda_n \to \lambda$ .

By Corollary III.13, we know that  $d_{\mathrm{T}}(\tau_n, \tau) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Let  $\varphi \in \tau, \varphi_n \in \tau_n, n \ge N$  be representatives that satisfy

$$\varphi(\infty) = \varphi_n(\infty) = \infty$$
$$\varphi(e_1) = \varphi_n(e_1) = 0$$
$$\varphi(e_2) = \lambda$$
$$\varphi_n(e_2) = \lambda_n$$

for all  $n \ge N$ .

There exists  $\psi \in \tau$  that satisfies  $\psi(\infty) = \infty$ ,  $\psi(e_1) = 0$ , and  $\psi(e_2) = \lambda$ . We note that

 $\varphi \circ \mathcal{G}_{\underline{s}} \circ \psi^{-1} \equiv p_{\lambda}.$ 

Similarly, for every  $n \neq N$ , there exists  $\psi_n \in \tau_n$  that satisfies  $\psi_n(\infty) = \infty$ ,  $\psi_n(e_1) = 0$  and  $\psi_n(e_2) = \lambda_n$ . We note that  $\varphi_n \circ \mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}} \circ \psi_n^{-1} \equiv p_{n,\lambda_n}$ . Let  $\widetilde{\varphi}_n = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda_n} \varphi_n$ . Note that  $\widetilde{\varphi}_n \in \tau_n$ , and  $\widetilde{\varphi}_n \circ \mathcal{G}_{n,\underline{s}} \circ \psi_n^{-1} \equiv p_{n,\lambda}$ .

Since  $\tau_n \to \tau$ , there exists a quasiconformal map  $k : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  isotopic to  $\varphi$  rel.  $A_{\underline{s}} \cup \{\infty\}$ and for every  $n \ge N$ , a quasiconformal map  $k_n : \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  isotopic to  $\widetilde{\varphi}_n$  rel.  $A_{\underline{s}} \cup \{\infty\}$  such that  $K(k_n \circ k^{-1}) \to 1$ . Then the sequence of maps  $k_n \circ k^{-1}$  fix the three points  $\infty, \lambda$  and 0. By Propositions II.5 and V.8,  $h_n := k_n \circ k^{-1} | \mathbb{C} \to \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}}$  uniformly on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let  $c = \varphi(e_3) = k(e_3)$  and  $c_n = h_n(c)$ ; observe that

$$\widetilde{\varphi}_n(e_3) = k_n(e_3) = c_n \to c = \varphi(e_3)$$

We also note that  $c_n = p_{n,\lambda}(\lambda_n)$ , and  $c = p_{\lambda}(\lambda)$ . Letting  $r_n = |c_n/\lambda|$ ,  $r = |c/\lambda|$ ,  $w_n = \arg(c_n/\lambda)$ and  $w = \arg(c/\lambda)$ , (where  $\arg(c/\lambda)$ ,  $\arg(c_n/\lambda)$  are all chosen to be in  $[-\pi, \pi)$ ), we have

$$\lambda = \ln r + wi + 2\pi i (s_2 - s_1) = \ln r + wi + 2\pi i s_2$$
$$\lambda_n = n \left( r_n^{1/n} \exp\left(\frac{iw_n}{n}\right) \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i (x_2 - x_1)}{n}\right) - 1 \right)$$

where  $x_1x_2x_3...$  is the *n*-adic expansion of  $\theta_n(\underline{s})$  given in Proposition VIII.4. In particular, we have

$$x_1 = s_1 = 0,$$
  
$$x_2 = \begin{cases} s_2 & s_n \ge 0\\ n + s_2 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Hence, we have  $\exp(2\pi i (x_2 - x_1)/n) = \exp(2\pi i s_2/n)$ . So the equation for  $\lambda_n$  becomes

$$\lambda_n = n\left((r_n/r)^{1/n} \exp\left(\frac{iw_n + 2\pi is_2}{n}\right) - 1\right)$$

Let U be a bounded neighborhood of c that contains no other point in  $\tilde{\varphi}(A_{\underline{s}})$ , and Vbe the connected component of  $p_{\lambda}^{-1}(U)$  containing  $\lambda$ . Similarly, let  $V_n$  be the connected component of  $p_{n,\lambda}^{-1}(U)$  containing  $\lambda$ . Then, using an argument similar to the one in the proof of Proposition V.3, we see that for n sufficiently large, there exist local inverses  $q_n : U \longrightarrow V_n$ of  $p_{n,\lambda}|V_n$ , such that  $q_n \to q$  uniformly on U, where  $q: U \longrightarrow V$  is the local inverse of  $p_{\lambda}|V$ . We note that  $q_n$  and q have the following formulae: for all  $z \in U$ , we have

$$q(z) = \ln |z/\lambda| + i \arg(z/\lambda) + 2\pi i s_2$$
$$q_n(z) = n \left( |z/\lambda|^{1/n} \exp\left(\frac{i \arg(z/\lambda) + 2\pi i s_2}{n}\right) - 1 \right)$$

where  $\arg(z/\lambda)$  is chosen to be in  $[-\pi, \pi)$ . Comparing with the formula for  $\lambda_n$ , we see that for *n* sufficiently large so that  $c_n \in U$ , we have

$$\lambda_n = q_n(c_n) \to q(c) = \lambda$$

**Proof of Theorem I.5**. The theorem follows from Propositions VIII.4, VIII.9, and VIII.11.  $\Box$ 

**Example VIII.12.** Let  $\lambda = 2\pi i r$ , where  $r \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ . The orbit of 0 under  $p_{\lambda}$  is  $0 \longrightarrow 2\pi i r \mathfrak{S}$ , and  $\lambda$  has a unique external address,  $0\overline{r}$ . We have

$$\theta_n(\underline{s}) = \begin{cases} \frac{r}{n(n-1)} & r > 0\\ \frac{n-|r|}{n(n-1)} & r < 0 \end{cases}$$
$$Q(X) = r$$
$$\lambda_n = n \Big( \exp(2\pi i r/n) - 1 \Big)$$

**Example VIII.13.** Let  $\lambda$  be the landing point of the ray at address  $\underline{s} = 000(-1)\overline{0010}$  (its approximate value is 1.16302 + 0.71056i; see Figure 8.2). The orbit of 0 under  $p_{\lambda}$  has the form  $0 \longrightarrow \lambda \longrightarrow p_{\lambda}(\lambda) \longrightarrow p_{\lambda}^{\circ 2}(\lambda) \longrightarrow p_{\lambda}^{\circ 3}(\lambda) \longrightarrow p_{\lambda}^{\circ 4}(\lambda) \longrightarrow p_{\lambda}^{\circ 5}(\lambda) \mathfrak{S}$ .

In Example VIII.8, we computed  $\theta_n(\underline{s}) \equiv \frac{n^5 - n^4 + 1}{n^4(n^4 - 1)} \pmod{1}$ , with *n*-adic expansion  $000(n - 1)\overline{0010} =$ . In Fig 8.3 we have indicated the position of  $\lambda_n(\underline{s})$  for n = 10, 50, 100 and 200, along with approximate values.

# CHAPTER IX Future Scope

In this chapter, we pose some questions and start some discussions that are highly relevant to the results presented in this thesis, and connect these to well-known open problems in transcendental Thurston theory.

#### IX.1: Obstructed Thurston maps

By Theorem I.2 and Proposition IV.15, we know that for every transcendental Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ , there exists a sequence of polynomial Thurston maps  $f_n: (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  such that  $\sigma_{f_n} \to \sigma_f$  locally uniformly on  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ . We also showed in Corollary III.13 that if f is realized, then  $f_n$  is realized for all n sufficiently large. We are interested in the converse:

**Question IX.1.** If  $f_n$  is realized for all sufficiently large n, is f realized?

We give a simple sufficient condition for f to be realized: if there exists a compact set  $K \subset T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  such that a subsequence of fixed points  $\tau_{n_k}$  of  $\sigma_{f_{n_k}}$  are contained in K, then by completeness of the Teichmüller metric, some subsequence of  $(\tau_{n_k})$  converges to a point  $\tau \in T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ . It is easy to see that  $\tau$  is a fixed point of  $\sigma_f$ .

If no such set K exists, or equivalently, the sequence  $(\tau_n)$  of fixed points of  $\sigma_{f_n}$  contains no bounded subsequence, we then need to consider the *augmented Teichmüller space*  $\widehat{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  and classify all the limit points of the sequence  $(\tau_n)$  in this space. Note that  $\widehat{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  is the metric completion of  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  endowed with the Weil-Petersson metric (see [Hub16, Chapter 7.7]). A related problem is the boundary behavior of  $\sigma_f$ . Selinger showed in [Sel12] that for a classical Thurston map  $g : \mathbb{S}^2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2$ , the operator  $\sigma_g$  extends continuously to  $\widehat{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, P_f)$ , and has a fixed point in this space. This raises another question, which is especially curious since all the  $\sigma_{f_n}$ 's admit a continuous extension to  $\widehat{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ :

**Question IX.2.** Does  $\sigma_f$  extend to a continuous map on  $\widehat{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ ?

A fixed point in  $\widehat{T}(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$  for  $\sigma_f$  would also provide us with a topological obstruction for f in the form of a topological multicurve. If f is obstructed by a *Levy cycle*, however, we can show that the  $f_n$ 's are eventually obstructed as well.

**Definition IX.3.** Let  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a Thurston map. A *Levy cycle* for f is a multicurve  $G = \{\gamma_0 = \gamma_n, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \cdots, \gamma_{n-1}\}$  such that

- for every i ∈ {0, 1, · · · , n − 1}, the curve γ<sub>i</sub> is an essential simple closed curve contained in ℝ<sup>2</sup>\A;
- if  $i \neq j$ , then  $\gamma_i$  and  $\gamma_j$  are disjoint;
- for every  $i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ , there exists a connected component  $\eta$  of  $f^{-1}(\gamma_{i+1})$  such that  $\eta$  is homotopic to  $\gamma_{i-1}$  rel. A, and the map  $f|\eta : \eta \to \gamma_{i+1}$  has degree one.

By a theorem credited to Berstein, Lei, Levy and Rees ([Hub16, Theorem 10.3.8]), it is known that a polynomial Thurston map is obstructed if and only if it has a Levy cycle. This creterion was extended in [HSS09] for topological exponential Thurston maps. This proof from [HSS09] generalises to show that if a transcendental Thurston map has a Levy cycle, then it is obstructed. It is not known, however, that the converse is true.

**Proposition IX.4.** Let  $f_n : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$  be a sequence of Thurston maps that converge topologically to a Thurston map  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{S}$ . If  $G = \{\gamma_0 = \gamma_r, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, ..., \gamma_{r-1}\}$  is a Levy cycle for f, then for sufficiently large n, G is a Levy cycle for  $f_n$ .

Proof. Let  $j \in \{1, ..., r\}$ , and let  $\eta_j$  be the connected component of  $f^{-1}(\gamma_j)$  that is an essential closed curve that is isotopic to  $\gamma_{j-1}$  rel. A, and  $f|\eta_j : \eta_j \to \gamma_j$  is a homeomorphism. Let  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a compact set such that  $\eta_j \subset \operatorname{int}(D)$  for all j. Then there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $n \ge N$ ,  $f_n|D \equiv f|D$ . This implies that  $\eta_j$  is a connected component of  $f_n^{-1}(\gamma_j)$ , and  $f_n|\eta_j$  is a homeomorphism onto  $\gamma_j$ . Thus for all  $n \ge N$ , the multicurve G is a Levy cycle for  $f_n$ .  $\Box$ 

The above proposition constitutes a partial converse to Corollary III.13.

#### IX.2: Approximating tree lifting operators

Let  $f : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a postsingularly finite holomorphic polynomial. By a theorem of Douady and Hubbard, it is known that there exists a finite tree  $H_f \subset \mathbb{C}$  such that

1.  $P_f \subset V(H_f);$ 

2. every vertex of degree less than or equal to 2 is an element of  $P_f$ ;

3.  $f(H_f) = H_f$ .

This tree is unique, and can be defined as a union of *regulated arcs* in the filled Julia set of f (we refer to [Hub16, Section 10.4, Definition 10.4.7] for a much more detailed discussion).

Hubbard trees are a powerful combinatorial tool to study PCF polynomials. The question of which Hubbard trees are realized by polynomials, and whether the tree  $H_f$  and the dynamical system  $f : H_f \mathfrak{S}$  are sufficient to determine f were discussed by Poirier (see [Poi10]).

The preimage  $f^{-1}(H_f)$  contains  $H_f$ ; indeed,  $H_f$  is the convex hull of  $P_f$  in  $f^{-1}(H_f)$ . More generally, for any polynomial Thurston map  $f: (\mathbb{R}^2, P_f) \mathfrak{S}$  with  $P_f = A$ , for any finite tree  $T \subset \mathbb{C}$  that satisfies the first two conditions above, let  $\hat{T} \subset f^{-1}(T)$  be the convex hull of Ain  $f^{-1}(T)$ . Then it can be shown that  $\hat{T}$  also satisfies conditions (1) and (2). The authors of [BLMW22] used this property to construct an operator  $\lambda_f: \mathcal{T}_A \to \mathcal{T}_A$ , where  $\mathcal{T}_A$  is the set of finite trees in  $\mathbb{C}$  that satisfy conditions (1) and (2), modulo isotopy rel. A. This space  $\mathcal{T}_A$  is countable, and can be realized as a *spine* for  $T(\mathbb{S}^2, A \cup \{\infty\})$ . The results of [BLMW22] show that f is realized if and only if for every  $[T] \in \mathcal{T}_A$ , the  $\lambda_f$  orbit of f lands in a 2-neighborhood of  $[H_f]$  after finitely many steps.

In our context of approximations, if  $f_n : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{O}$  is a series of polynomial Thurston maps that converge combinatorially to a transcendental Thurston map  $f : (\mathbb{R}^2, A) \mathfrak{O}$ , we can pose several questions about the sequence of tree-lifting operators  $\lambda_{f_n} : \mathcal{T}_A \mathfrak{O}$ . For example, do they converge? Another question is whether it is possible to define the operator  $\lambda_f$  in this setting. Recent work in ([PRS23]) which defines a homotopy Hubbbard tree for PSF exponential maps and further examines lifting properties of finite trees, leaves the scope for this open.

# APPENDIX A Basic Topology

This chapter summarizes the notation used for various topological objects throughout this thesis.

#### A.1: Loops, paths and homeomorphisms

If X is a topological space, then a path  $\alpha$  in X is a continuous map  $\alpha \colon \mathbb{I} \to X$ . Points  $x = \alpha(0)$  and  $y = \alpha(1)$  are called *endpoints* of the path  $\alpha$  and we say that  $\alpha$  joins x with y. The interior of the path  $\alpha$  is the set  $\operatorname{int}(\alpha) := \alpha((0, 1))$ . The path  $\alpha$  is called a *loop* if  $\alpha(0) = \alpha(1)$ , otherwise we say that  $\alpha$  is a non-closed path. We say that the path  $\alpha$  starts at  $x \in X$  if  $\alpha(0) = x$ . When  $\alpha$  is a loop, we also say that  $\alpha$  is based at x.

A non-closed path  $\alpha$  is called *simple* if it has no self-intersections (i.e.,  $\alpha \colon \mathbb{I} \to X$  is injective). A loop  $\alpha$  is called a *simple* if it has no self-intersections except at endpoints (i.e.,  $\alpha|(0,1)$  is injective). A loop  $\alpha$  is called *constant* if the map  $\alpha \colon \mathbb{I} \to X$  is constant. We often conflate paths and their images. For instance, for a path  $\alpha$  as above and  $Y \subset X$ , we write  $\alpha \subset Y$  to indicate that  $\alpha(\mathbb{I}) \subset Y$ . We say that  $\gamma \subset X$  is a *simple closed curve* if  $\gamma = \alpha(\mathbb{I})$  for some simple loop  $\alpha$  in X.

If  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are two paths in X, then we denote by  $\alpha \cdot \beta$  their *concatenation*; in other words, the path that first traverses  $\alpha$  and then  $\beta$ . By  $\overline{\alpha}$  we denote the path in X such that  $\overline{\alpha}(t) = \alpha(1-t)$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{I}$ . For  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we define  $\alpha^n$  to be a constant loop based at  $\alpha(0)$  if n = 0, the concatenation of  $\alpha$  with itself n times, if n > 0, and the concatenation of  $\overline{\alpha}$  with itself |n| times if n < 0.

**Definition A.1.** Two paths  $\alpha \colon \mathbb{I} \to X$  and  $\beta \colon \mathbb{I} \to X$  are called *path-homotopic* (or simply *homotopic*) if there exists a continuous map  $H \colon \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \to X$  called a *homotopy* so that  $H(t,0) = \alpha(t), H(t,1) = \beta(t)$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{I}$ , and  $H(0,s) = \alpha(0) = \beta(0), H(1,s) = \alpha(1) = \beta(1)$  for all  $s \in \mathbb{I}$ .

Let A be a finite subset of X. We say that two paths  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are *path-homotopic relative* A (abbreviated as " $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are homotopic rel. A" and denoted  $\alpha \sim_A \beta$ ) if  $\alpha \subset X \setminus A$  and

 $\beta \subset X \setminus A$  are homotopic in  $X \setminus A$ , in other words,  $H(s,t) \in X \setminus A$  for all  $(s,t) \in \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I}$ , where H is the corresponding homotopy.

**Definition A.2.** Given a topological space X and paths  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  in X, we say they have the same closing behavior if either both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are closed loops, or if neither is a closed loop.

If X is a topological space and  $x \in X$ , then by  $\pi_1(X, x)$  we denote the fundamental group of X based at x, or in other words, the set of all homotopy equivalence classes of loops in X based at x endowed with the operation of path concatenation. If  $f: X \to Y$  is a continuous map between topological spaces X and Y such that f(x) = y, then the group homomorphism  $f_*: \pi_1(X, x) \to \pi_1(Y, y)$  is defined as  $f_*([\alpha]) = [f \circ \alpha]$  for any loop  $\alpha \subset X$ based at x, where  $[\cdot]$  denotes a homotopy equivalence class. Finally, we say that path  $\alpha \subset Y$ lifts under f to a path  $\beta \subset X$ , if  $\alpha = f \circ \beta$ , and  $\beta$  is called the f-lift (or lift under f) of  $\alpha$ .

**Definition A.3.** If  $f: X \to Y$  is a covering map and f(x) = y, then every path  $\alpha$  starting at y has a unique f-lift starting at x, which is denoted by  $\alpha \uparrow (f, x)$ .

By definition, the path  $\alpha \uparrow (f, x)$  is a loop if and only if  $[\alpha] \in f_* \pi_1(X, x)$ .

If (X, d) is a metric space,  $x \in X$  ad  $\alpha$  is a path in X, the distance  $d(x, \alpha) = \inf_{t \in \alpha} d(x, t)$ . For a path  $\alpha$ , and a real number  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $N_{\varepsilon}(\alpha) := \{x \in X | d(x, \alpha) < \varepsilon\}$ .

For a topological space X, we denote by  $\text{Homeo}^+(X)$  of all orientation-preserving selfhomeomorphisms of X. Commonly in the literature, the notation  $\text{Homeo}^+(X, A)$  is used for the set of maps in  $\text{Homeo}^+(X)$  that fix the set A, however, we will take  $\text{Homeo}^+(X, A)$  to mean the set of maps in  $\text{Homeo}^+(X)$  that fix A pointwise. We use the notation  $\text{Homeo}^+_0(X)$  for the subgroup of  $\text{Homeo}^+(X)$  consisting of homeomorphisms that are isotopic to  $\text{id}_X$ . Similarly,  $\text{Homeo}^+_0(X, A)$  for the subgroup of  $\text{Homeo}^+(X, A)$  consisting of all homeomorphisms isotopic rel. A to  $\text{id}_X$ .

**Definition A.4.** Suppose that X and Y are topological spaces. We say that homeomorphisms  $\varphi \colon X \to Y$  and  $\psi \colon X \to Y$  are *isotopic* if there exists a continuous map  $H \colon X \times \mathbb{I} \to Y$  called an *isotopy* such that  $H(x,0) = \varphi(x)$  and  $H(x,1) = \psi(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ , and  $H(\cdot,t) \colon X \to Y$  is a homeomorphism for every  $t \in \mathbb{I}$ . We say that  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  are *isotopic rel*. A for some  $A \subset X$ , if H(x,t) = x for all  $(x,t) \in A \times \mathbb{I}$ .

We now list a property of homeomorphisms of disks that we use several times in this thesis.

**Proposition A.5.** 1. Every orientation-preserving homeomorphism  $\varphi : \partial \mathbb{D} \to \partial \mathbb{D}$  extends to a homeomorphism from  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  to  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ .

#### 2. Any two such extensions are isotopic rel. $\partial \mathbb{D}$ .

*Proof.* There is a more general version of this proposition proved in [Hub16, Proposition C2.1], however we will restate it here. With  $\varphi$  as above, extend it to  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  by setting, for all  $t \in \mathbb{I}, z \in \partial \mathbb{D}$ ,  $\varphi(tz) = t\varphi(z)$ . This is called the radial extension of  $\varphi$ .

To show item (2), let  $\widetilde{\varphi}$  be another extension of  $\varphi$  to  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ . For every  $t \in \mathbb{I}$ , define a homeomorphism  $\varphi_t : \overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \overline{\mathbb{D}}$  as follows:

$$\varphi_t(z) = \begin{cases} \varphi(z) & |z| \ge t \\ t\widetilde{\varphi}(z/t) & 0 \le |z| \le t \end{cases}$$

Then  $\varphi$  is an isotopy rel.  $\partial \mathbb{D}$  between  $\varphi_0 = \varphi$  and  $\varphi_1 = \widetilde{\varphi}$ .

### A.2: Planar embedded graphs

A planar embedded graph is a pair G = (V, E), where

- 1. V is a discrete (in particular, countable) set of points in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , and
- 2. *E* is a set of simple paths and simple loops (viewed as subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) such that their endpoints belong to *V*, their interiors are pairwise disjoint and lie in  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus V$ , and every compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  intersects finitely many elements of *E*.

The sets V and E are called the *vertex set* and *edge set* of G, respectively. Our notion of a planar embedded graph allows *multi-edges* (i.e., distinct edges that connect the same pair of vertices), and *loop-edges* (i.e., edges that connect a vertex to itself).

A planar embedded graph G = (V, E) is said to be *finite* if V and E are finite sets. The *degree* of a vertex v in G, denoted by  $\deg_G(v)$ , is the number  $n_1 + 2n_2$ , where  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are the numbers of simple paths and simple loops in E incident to v, respectively (the second condition above ensures this is always finite). We say that G is k-regular if  $\deg_G(v) = k$  for every  $v \in V$ . A subgraph of G is a planar embedded graph G' = (V', E') such that  $V' \subset V$  and  $E' \subset E$ .

The subset  $\mathcal{G} := V \cup \bigcup_{e \in E} e$  of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is called the *realization* of G. A face of the graph G is a connected component of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \mathcal{G}$ . The set of all faces of G is denoted by F(G). By the definition of a planar embedded graph, the set  $\mathcal{G}$  is closed in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , and thus, every face F of G is open. If F is a face of G, then we denote by  $\partial F$  the subgraph of G forming the (topological) boundary of F in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . The graph G is called connected if its realization  $\mathcal{G}$  is connected (or equivalently, path-connected). It follows that G is connected if and only if each face of G is simply connected. We will often conflate a planar embedded graph with its realization.

**Definition A.6.** Let  $G_1 = (V_1, E_1)$  and  $G_2 = (V_2, E_2)$  be planar embedded graphs. The graph  $G_1$  is said to be *isomorphic* to  $G_2$  if there exists a homeomorphism  $\varphi \in \text{Homeo}^+(\mathbb{R}^2)$  that maps vertices and edges of  $G_1$  into vertices and edges of  $G_2$ , that is,  $\varphi(V_1) = V_2$  and  $\varphi(E_1) = E_2$ . In this case, we call  $\varphi$  an *isomorphism* between  $G_1$  and  $G_2$ .

If  $\varphi$  is isotopic rel. A to  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  for some set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , we say that  $G_1$  is *isotopic* rel. A to  $G_2$ .

Suppose that  $f: U \to W$  is a covering map, where U and W are open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . If G = (V, E) whose realization is a subset of U, then the preimage  $f^{-1}(G)$  has a natural graph structure, given by

$$V(f^{-1}(G)) = f^{-1}(V)$$
  
 
$$E(f^{-1}(G)) = \{ \alpha | \alpha \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \text{ is a simple path or a simple loop, and } f(\alpha) \in E \}$$

We define some common types of embedded graphs below.

**Definition A.7.** Let G = (V, E) be a planar embedded graph.

- G is said to be a *cycle* if it is finite, connected and 2-regular.
- If G is infinite, connected and 2-regular, it is called an *infinite chain*. Any finite, connected subgraph of an infinite chain is called a *finite chain*. Note that if a finite chain has more than one vertex, it has exactly two vertices of degree one, which we call its *endpoints*.
- G is called a *rose graph* if it satisfies the following conditions:
  - 1. it has a single vertex, called the *center*;
  - 2. for every edge  $e \in E(G)$ , the bounded connected component of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus G$  does not intersect G.

We say that G surrounds a finite set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  if every bounded face of  $\mathcal{R}$  contains a unique point of A, and every point of A is contained in some bounded face of  $\mathcal{R}$ .

**Definition A.8.** The graph G' = (V', E') is the result of subdivision of an edge  $e \in E(G)$ of the planar embedded graph G = (V, E) if G' is obtained from G by adding a new vertex in the interior of e. More precisely, there exists  $v \in int(e)$  such that  $V' = V \cup \{v\}$  and  $E' = (E \setminus \{e\}) \cup \{e_1, e_2\}$ , and  $e_1, e_2$  are the closures of the connected components of  $e \setminus \{v\}$ . In particular, subdividing an edge does not change the realization of the graph, and the resulting graph is uniquely defined up to an isotopy relative to the set V. Let G = (V, E) be a planar embedded graph and  $e \in E$  be one of its edges. We say that a continuous map  $\alpha \colon \mathbb{I} \to e$  is a *parametrization* of e if  $\alpha | (0, 1)$  is bijective onto  $\operatorname{int}(e)$ . Two parametrizations  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  of e are considered equivalent if the function  $\alpha_1^{-1} \circ \alpha_2$  is increasing on (0, 1). We note that every edge  $e \in E(G)$  admits two distinct equivalence classes of parametrizations. We call each of these equivalence classes a *direction* of the edge e.

**Definition A.9.** We say that a graph G is *directed* if each of its edges is endowed with a unique direction (called the *forward* direction). A choice of forward directions for all edges of a graph G is also called an *orientation* of G. Directions that are omitted from the orientation of G are called *backward*.

In a similar way, we introduce notions of forward and backward parametrizations of the edges of the directed graph G. If v is a vertex of G and e is an edge incident to v, then there is a natural way to call e incoming or outgoing at v unless e is a loop-edge.

Suppose that  $\Phi: G_1 \to G_2$  is a continuous map, where  $G_1$  is a planar embedded graph and  $G_2$  is a directed planar embedded graph, such that  $\Phi^{-1}(V(G_2)) = V(G_1)$  and  $\Phi|\operatorname{int}(e)$  is injective for each edge  $e \in E(G_1)$ . The map  $\Phi$  and the orientation of the graph  $G_2$  naturally induce an orientation of the graph  $G_1$ . Indeed, we choose a forward direction for  $e \in E(G_1)$ so that if  $\alpha$  is a parametrization of e, then  $\alpha$  is forward if and only if  $\Phi \circ \alpha$  is a forward parametrization of the edge  $\Phi(e) \in E(G_2)$ . Similarly, there is a natural way to define forward directions for a subgraph and graph obtained by a subdivision of an edge of a directed planar embedded graph.

**Definition A.10.** We say that a directed planar embedded graph G = (V, E) is unilaterally connected if for every pair of vertices  $u, v \in V$ , there exists a path  $\alpha$  with endpoints at u and v that is obtained by concatenation of forward parametrizations of edges of G.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Ahl35] Lars Ahlfors. Zur Theorie der Überlagerungsflächen. Acta Math., 65(1):157– 194, 1935.
- [Ahl06] Lars V. Ahlfors. Lectures on quasiconformal mappings, volume 38 of University Lecture Series. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, second edition, 2006. With supplemental chapters by C. J. Earle, I. Kra, M. Shishikura and J. H. Hubbard.
- [Bak63] Irvine Noel Baker. Multiply connected domains of normality in iteration theory. Math. Z., 81:206–214, 1963.
- [Bak76] I. N. Baker. An entire function which has wandering domains. J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A, 22(2):173–176, 1976.
- [Bak84] I. N. Baker. Wandering domains in the iteration of entire functions. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 49(3):563–576, 1984.
- [Bar01] Detlef Bargmann. Normal families of covering maps. J. Anal. Math., 85:291–306, 2001.
- [BCT14] Xavier Buff, Guizhen Cui, and Lei Tan. Teichmüller spaces and holomorphic dynamics. In *Handbook of Teichmüller theory. Vol. IV*, volume 19 of *IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys.*, pages 717–756. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2014.
- [BDH+00] Clara Bodelón, Robert L. Devaney, Michael Hayes, Gareth Roberts, Lisa R. Goldberg, and John H. Hubbard. Dynamical convergence of polynomials to the exponential. J. Differ. Equations Appl., 6(3):275–307, 2000.
  - [BF14] B. Branner and N. Fagella. Quasiconformal surgery in holomorphic dynamics, volume 141 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2014. With contributions by Xavier Buff, Shaun Bullett, Adam L. Epstein, Peter Haïssinsky, Christian Henriksen, Carsten L. Petersen, Kevin M. Pilgrim, Tan Lei and Michael Yampolsky.

- [BFH92] Ben Bielefeld, Yuval Fisher, and John Hubbard. The classification of critically preperiodic polynomials as dynamical systems. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 5(4):721–762, 1992.
- [BHK<sup>+</sup>93] Walter Bergweiler, Mako Haruta, Hartje Kriete, Hans-Günter Meier, and Norbert Terglane. On the limit functions of iterates in wandering domains. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Ser. A I Math., 18(2):369–375, 1993.
  - [BKL91] I. N. Baker, J. Kotus, and Yi Nian Lü. Iterates of meromorphic functions. III. Preperiodic domains. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 11(4):603–618, 1991.
- [BLMW22] James Belk, Justin Lanier, Dan Margalit, and Rebecca R. Winarski. Recognizing topological polynomials by lifting trees. Duke Math. J., 171(17):3401– 3480, 2022.
  - [BM17] Mario Bonk and Daniel Meyer. Expanding Thurston maps, volume 225 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2017.
  - [BS08] Henk Bruin and Dierk Schleicher. Admissibility of kneading sequences and structure of Hubbard trees for quadratic polynomials. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 78(2):502–522, 2008.
  - [Cha50] Claude Chabauty. Limite d'ensembles et géométrie des nombres. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 78:143–151, 1950.
  - [Cui21] Weiwei Cui. Entire functions arising from trees. *Sci. China Math.*, 64(10):2231–2248, 2021.
  - [DH82] Adrien Douady and John Hamal Hubbard. Itération des polynômes quadratiques complexes. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 294(3):123–126, 1982.
  - [DH84] A. Douady and J.H. Hubbard. Étude dynamique des polynômes complexes. Partie I, volume 84 of Publications Mathématiques d'Orsay [Mathematical Publications of Orsay]. Université de Paris-Sud, Département de Mathématiques, Orsay, 1984.
  - [EL89] A. É. Erëmenko and M. Yu. Lyubich. The dynamics of analytic transformations. Algebra i Analiz, 1(3):1–70, 1989.

- [EMS16] Dominik Eberlein, Sabyasachi Mukherjee, and Dierk Schleicher. Rational parameter rays of the multibrot sets. In *Dynamical systems, number theory* and applications, pages 49–84. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2016.
  - [Er9] A. É. Erëmenko. On the iteration of entire functions. In Dynamical systems and ergodic theory (Warsaw, 1986), volume 23 of Banach Center Publ., pages 339–345. PWN, Warsaw, 1989.
  - [Ere04] A. Eremenko. Geometric theory of meromorphic functions. In In the tradition of Ahlfors and Bers, III, volume 355 of Contemp. Math., pages 221–230. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004.
- [ERG15] Adam Epstein and Lasse Rempe-Gillen. On invariance of order and the area property for finite-type entire functions. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math., 40(2):573–599, 2015.
- [Fat26] P. Fatou. Sur l'itération des fonctions transcendantes Entières. Acta Math., 47(4):337–370, 1926.
- [FM12a] B. Farb and D. Margalit. A primer on mapping class groups. Princeton Math. Ser. 49. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 2012.
- [FM12b] Benson Farb and Dan Margalit. A primer on mapping class groups, volume 49 of Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2012.
  - [For91] Otto Forster. Lectures on Riemann surfaces, volume 81 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991. Translated from the 1977 German original by Bruce Gilligan, Reprint of the 1981 English translation.
- [FRS08] Markus Förster, Lasse Rempe, and Dierk Schleicher. Classification of escaping exponential maps. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 136(2):651–663, 2008.
  - [FS09] Markus Förster and Dierk Schleicher. Parameter rays in the space of exponential maps. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 29(2):515–544, 2009.
- [Gro07] Misha Gromov. Metric structures for Riemannian and non-Riemannian spaces. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, english edition, 2007. Based on the 1981 French original, With appendices by M. Katz, P. Pansu and S. Semmes, Translated from the French by Sean Michael Bates.

- [HS94] John H. Hubbard and Dierk Schleicher. The spider algorithm. In Complex dynamical systems (Cincinnati, OH, 1994), volume 49 of Proc. Sympos. Appl. Math., pages 155–180. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994.
- [HSS09] John Hubbard, Dierk Schleicher, and Mitsuhiro Shishikura. Exponential Thurston maps and limits of quadratic differentials. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 22(1):77–117, 2009.
- [Hub06] John Hamal Hubbard. Teichmüller theory and applications to geometry, topology, and dynamics. Vol. 1. Matrix Editions, Ithaca, NY, 2006. Teichmüller theory, With contributions by Adrien Douady, William Dunbar, Roland Roeder, Sylvain Bonnot, David Brown, Allen Hatcher, Chris Hruska and Sudeb Mitra, With forewords by William Thurston and Clifford Earle.
- [Hub16] J.H. Hubbard. Teichmüller theory and applications to geometry, topology, and dynamics, Volume 2: Surface homeomorphisms and rational functions. Matrix Editions, Ithaca, NY, 2016.
- [Kis95] Masashi Kisaka. Local uniform convergence and convergence of Julia sets. Nonlinearity, 8(2):273–281, 1995.
- [Lav86] Pierre Lavaurs. Une description combinatoire de l'involution définie par M sur les rationnels à dénominateur impair. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 303(4):143–146, 1986.
- [LP20] Rami Luisto and Pekka Pankka. Stoïlow's theorem revisited. *Expo. Math.*, 38(3):303–318, 2020.
- [LSV08] Bastian Laubner, Dierk Schleicher, and Vlad Vicol. A combinatorial classification of postsingularly finite complex exponential maps. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 22(3):663–682, 2008.
- [MB12] Helena Mihaljević-Brandt. Dynamical approximation and kernels of non-escaping hyperbolic components. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 32(4):1418–1434, 2012.
- [Mil06] John Milnor. Dynamics in one complex variable, volume 160 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, third edition, 2006.

- [MPR24] Malavika Mukundan, Nikolai Prochorov, and Bernhard Reinke. Dynamical approximations of postsingularly finite entire maps, 2024.
- [MSRIBDGH86] Calif.) Mathematical Sciences Research Institute (Berkeley, R.L. Devaney, L.R. Goldberg, and J.H. Hubbard. Dynamical Approximation to the Exponential Map by Polynomials. MSRI (Series). Mathematical Sciences Research Institute, 1986.
  - [Muk23] Malavika Mukundan. Dynamical approximation of postsingularly finite exponentials, 2023.
  - [Nev32] Rolf Nevanlinna. Uber Riemannsche Flächen mit endlich vielen Windungspunkten. Acta Math., 58(1):295–373, 1932.
  - [PeiwsS26] A BLOCH Paris and Umgebung einer isolierten wesentlich singulären Stelle. La conception actuelle de la théorie des fonctions entières et méromorphes par. L'enseignement mathématique, 25:83, 1926.
    - [Poi10] A. Poirier. Hubbard trees. Fundamenta Mathematicae, 208(3):193–248, 2010.
    - [PRS23] David Pfrang, Michael Rothgang, and Dierk Schleicher. Homotopy Hubbard trees for post-singularly finite exponential maps. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 43(1):253–298, 2023.
    - [Rem06] Lasse Rempe. Topological dynamics of exponential maps on their escaping sets. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 26(6):1939–1975, 2006.
    - [Rem10] Lasse Rempe. The escaping set of the exponential. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 30(2):595–599, 2010.
    - [Rob39] Raphael M. Robinson. A generalization of Picard's and related theorems. Duke Math. J., 5(1):118–132, 1939.
    - [Sch04] Dierk Schleicher. On fibers and local connectivity of Mandelbrot and Multibrot sets. In Fractal geometry and applications: a jubilee of Benoît Mandelbrot. Part 1, volume 72 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 477–517. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004.
    - [Sch10] Dierk Schleicher. Dynamics of entire functions. In Holomorphic dynamical systems, volume 1998 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 295–339. Springer, Berlin, 2010.

- [Sel12] Nikita Selinger. Thurston's pullback map on the augmented Teichmüller space and applications. *Invent. Math.*, 189(1):111–142, 2012.
- [Spe29] Andreas Speiser. Probleme aus dem Gebiet der ganzen transzendenten Funktionen. Comment. Math. Helv., 1(1):289–312, 1929.
- [Sto28] S. Stoïlow. Sur les transformations continues et la topologie des fonctions analytiques. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3), 45:347–382, 1928.
- [Sto56] S. Stoïlow. Leçons sur les principes topologiques de la théorie des fonctions analytiques. Deuxième édition, augmentée de notes sur les fonctions analytiques et leurs surfaces de Riemann. Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1956.
- [SZ03a] Dierk Schleicher and Johannes Zimmer. Escaping points of exponential maps. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 67(2):380–400, 2003.
- [SZ03b] Dierk Schleicher and Johannes Zimmer. Periodic points and dynamic rays of exponential maps. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math., 28(2):327–354, 2003.
- [Tei20a] Oswald Teichmüller. An application of quasiconformal mappings to the type problem. In *Handbook of Teichmüller theory. Vol. VII*, volume 30 of *IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys.*, pages 453–461. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, [2020] ©2020.
- [Tei20b] Oswald Teichmüller. Investigations on conformal and quasiconformal mappings. In Handbook of Teichmüller theory. Vol. VII, volume 30 of IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys., pages 463–529. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, [2020] ©2020.